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Tuesday, February 20, 2007


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Millar.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the Panel.  I think we're starting with Dr. Booth today.  I note there are a number of documents.  I'm wondering, Mr. Cass, Mr. Janigan, is it suitable to get rid of this paper now or are these controversial in any way?


MR. CASS:  Well, first, Mr. Millar, I believe there are some undertakings responses that I could speak to.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, there are.


MR. CASS:  Excuse me.  Mr. Chair, there are two of the undertaking responses from the EnergyLink panel that are available to be passed up to the Board, if they have not been already.  These are undertaking J10.7 and undertaking J10.9.


I believe, if I'm not mistaken, that Ms. Lakatos-Hayward had referred to these yesterday as ones that were on their way for filing.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Cass, there was also a ‑‑


MR. CASS:  Sorry.  There is one other document for filing, Mr. Chair.  It's another supplement to the settlement proposal.  It deals with a somewhat narrow issue that had remained outstanding, but has now been resolved.  


The issue related to something called -- a proposal by the company for something called the invoice vendor adjustment charge.  That issue has been settled on, I think, a fairly straightforward basis in accordance with the document that's been passed to the Board, and the exhibit number for it appears in the upper right corner.  


That was all I had for now, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. JANIGAN:  Responding to Mr. Millar's earlier point, I don't think -‑ sorry.


I don't think the introduction of the exhibits at this stage would be controversial.  Mr. Cass has the copies of the two single-page exhibits that I'll be introducing, and the other is the resume of Dr. Booth, which we will be putting in in the context of his testimony.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you like those marked now, Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  That would be useful.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Cass, I assume there are no objections to these?


MR. CASS:  No, there are not.


MR. MILLAR:  The first one is called a recalculation of beta estimates from examination-in‑chief of EGDI witness Dr. Carpenter, and we will call that K12.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K12.1:  RECALCULATION OF BETA ESTIMATES 


FROM EXAMINATION-IN‑CHIEF OF EGDI WITNESS DR. 


CARPENTER.

MR. MILLAR:  The second document is called the average actual beta estimates for the firms used in the examination-in-chief by EGDI witness Dr. Carpenter, and that will be K12.2.


EXHIBIT NO. K12.2:  AVERAGE ACTUAL BETA ESTIMATES FOR 


THE FIRMS USED IN THE EXAMINATION-IN‑CHIEF BY EGDI 


WITNESS DR. CARPENTER.

MR. MILLAR:  Finally, I believe the third document is Dr. Booth's CV, and that will be K12.3.


EXHIBIT NO. K12.3:  CV OF DR. BOOTH.

MR. MILLAR:  I think that is all of them, Mr. Janigan; is that right?


MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I wonder if Dr. Booth can be sworn.


VULNERABLE ENERGY CONSUMERS COALITION - PANEL 1

Dr. Laurence David Booth; Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. JANIGAN:

MR. JANIGAN:  Dr. Booth, you are a witness that's familiar to the Board.  I just want to briefly touch upon your qualifications.  You are chair of the finance department of the Rotman School of Management at the University of Toronto?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Booth, could you turn your microphone on.  It's the green ...


DR. BOOTH:  Area coordinator, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  You received your undergraduate degree at the London School of Economics, your Master of Economics, your Master of Business Administration, and your Doctor of Business Administration at Indiana University.


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And you have testified on cost of capital in return issues in the National Energy Board and the CRTC, in terms of federal boards?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And before provincial boards on the same issues, you have testified before the Ontario Energy Board, the British Columbia Utility Commission, the AUB, the Manitoba PUB, and the Quebec Régie?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  We filed today as Exhibit 12.3 your curriculum vitae, which sets out additional qualifications and your list of publications in the area of finance?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if there is any objections to Dr. Booth being qualified as an expert in finance.


MR. KAISER:  Any objection, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  No, sir.


MR. KAISER:  We accept that, Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Dr. Booth, your testimony in this proceeding, which is marked as Exhibit L27, was that prepared by you and under your direction?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And your supplementary evidence and interrogatory responses to both your main testimony and your supplementary evidence, was that prepared by you and under your direction?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  And are there any additions, corrections or amendments to that testimony?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  There are two corrections to my main testimony, the initial testimony.  On page 24, line 11, it reads:  

"In fact prior to RH2-94 they financed with 25 to 28 percent common equity."


That should have read:

"...financed with 28 to 30 percent common equity."


MR. CASS:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, we are not able to find that.


MR. JANIGAN:  On the same page.  This is at the end of a paragraph that commences with the question:   

"Is this performance normal for regulated firms?"  


And the answer to that, at the end of that ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  You must have the wrong page.


MR. CASS:  In our version, it appears to be a paragraph that starts on page 22, Mr. Chair, and carries over to page 23.


MR. JANIGAN:  Has everybody found the reference?  Are there any other corrections, Dr. Booth?


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Janigan, sorry, I may be the only guy behind here.  I do have a question, "Is this performance normal for regulated firms?"  Mine is two-and-a-half-plus pages.  So which ‑‑


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. VLAHOS:  It starts at page 22 to 25, actually.


MR. JANIGAN:  That paragraph, that first paragraph, Mr. Vlahos, if you go to the end of that first paragraph.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. JANIGAN:  It reads:

"Without any business risk, both these pipelines can finance large amounts of debt.  In fact prior to RH2‑94, they financed with ..."


And that line should read 28 to 30 percent common equity.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.


DR. BOOTH:  The second one is on page 28, line 11.  It reads:  "In the two years since the Alberta generic hearing", and it should be:  "In the three years since the Alberta generic hearing".  


MR. VLAHOS:  Pagination, it doesn't line-up with mine.  


MR. JANIGAN:  Has everyone found that reference?  It may appear on page 29 of...


MR. CASS:  In my version, if it helps, it does appear on page 28, I think but it is line 7 rather than line 11.  


MR. JANIGAN:  Are there any other corrections or amendments? 


DR. BOOTH:  No, that's all.  


MR. JANIGAN:  And subject to those corrections, is your testimony and supplementary evidence and answers to the interrogatories true to the best of your knowledge and belief?  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  


MR. JANIGAN:  Dr. Booth, I want to deal with two areas that came up in the testimony of the Enbridge witnesses on cost of capital on February the 5th and 6th.  


The first area deals with Dr. Carpenter's testimony in his examination-in-chief which is found on page 8 of volume 6 of the transcript.  


This testimony deals with his response to your evidence with respect to business risk.  And in response to the same, he has set out the betas of a number of US utilities to challenge your position.  


Can you take us through your response to Dr. Carpenter's assertions here.  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  Dr. Carpenter takes issue with my claim that regulated utilities in general in gas distribution companies like Enbridge have very little business risk.  And he counters that by producing estimates from American primarily pure-play gas distribution companies.  


The first thing I would like to say is that the betas measure the overall risk in the stock market.  So they measure not just the business risk, they also measure the financial risk.  They also measure the regulatory risk and investment risk, the way investors react to that.  So observing betas, you observe a lot more than just the business risk of the corporation.  The business risk may be very low but there may be other risks that affect betas.  


The second thing is he provided estimates from a number of American gas, primarily pure-play gas utilities, so I went out and got the original underlying data to estimate the betas directly and this exhibit shows Dr. Carpenter's beta estimates that he provided -- and I note that in the transcript the one for New Jersey Resources looks to be a typo, because it’s 0.0.  But regardless of that, they're all around about .8, .9 whereas the actual estimates, the latest ones for five-year period ending December 2006, are in the middle column and they're generally just over zero up to about .48.  They're significantly lower.  


And the reason why Dr. Carpenter's estimates from value line is so much higher is they follow the practice of taking the actual estimate multiplied by a third, then adding this to .67.  So you start out with .67, if the beta is equal to zero, then you get an adjusted beta of .67.  So this automatically increases the beta estimates.  


So in the final column I've actually taken the latest beta estimates and gone through the same adjustment process to show that the estimates that he provided are in fact adjusted betas, they're not the actual betas.  They're adjusted by weighting them with one-third and then with, then adding .67.  


What we actually observe are these unadjusted betas and the next exhibit shows how these unadjusted betas have changed over time.  


Now, this is an issue that constantly comes up when we're dealing with the fair return because we try to look at:  What is the stock-market risk of investing in utilities?  


And it is often alleged that you adjust these betas because the actual beta estimates are subject to statistical problems, they're subject to whatever happens in the stock market at a particular point in time.  So we adjust them, but we do not adjust regulated utilities betas with one, because as this chart demonstrates, there is no trend in these US gas utilities for the betas to revert to one.  In fact the long-run trend of these US gas utilities have been downwards, and the most recent beta estimates for the last ten years have been around .3 beings .4.  


So Dr. Carpenter indicated that there was significant risk attached to gas utilities, and I'm saying, first of all, this isn't business risk.  It is the sum total of business financial regulatory and investment risk; and secondly, if we look at the proper beta estimates, the risk is much, much lower than he produces in his, in -- with these estimates.  


MR. JANIGAN:  Dr. Booth, what does Exhibit K12.2 tell us about the trends associated with risk for US gas utilities?


DR. BOOTH:  Well, observing just the beta estimates, it seems that the risk attached to investing in US gas utilities is much lower now than it was ten years ago.  


MR. JANIGAN:  Now one final area I would like to draw your attention to and ask for your comment was the exchange between the Enbridge witness panel and the Board panel that appears in volume 7, page 87 of the transcript, in particular, the exchange between Chairman Kaiser and Mr. Boyle, concerning the trade-off between the lowering of the cost associated with interest and the increase associated with -- increased costs associated with the thickening in the equity.  Do you have that reference?  


DR. BOOTH:  I have that reference.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible for you to comment upon the issues that are in that, that are discussed in that exchange.  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  If we look at my primary testimony, and we look at my schedule 16, this shows the spreads on triple BA and double A rated companies over the equivalent term long Canada bond yields.  So these are Scotia Capital indices that are the basic reference point in the capital market.  And they give an indication of what the yields savings would be if you increase the quality, increase the bond rating of the company's debt.  


So my understanding of this exchange was that Mr. Boyle was implying that if you go from a 35 to a 38 percent common-equity ratio for Enbridge, then you could get a 25 to 50 basis-points reduction in the yield on Enbridge's debt.  


Now, there is two critical points there.  First of all, any yield savings, if there are any, would only apply on incremental debt going forward, and the whole issue or one of the major issues before the Board is the fact that Enbridge has a relatively high embedded cost of debt.  And that embedded cost of debt isn't going to change one whit regardless of what happens to the common-equity ratio.  So the vast bulk of Enbridge's interest costs are not going to change at all.  It will change going forward as that debt is rolled over, but as I indicated already, within -- based upon EGDI's information, within four to five years, its embedded costs will come down and some of the problems -- most of the problems faced by EGDI will disappear.  


But regardless of that, the substantive issue is:  What sort of change would it take to generate 25 to 50 basis-points reduction in Enbridge's debt in the capital market?  


If we look at these spreads, to get anywhere close to 25 to 50 basis points Enbridge would have to basically be a double A rated utility.  And I do not see a 3 percent change in the common-equity ratio leading to that sort of change in the capital market's perception of Enbridge.  I would regard three basis points' change in the common-equity ratio as basically being de minimus.  I would find it difficult to see in the capital market a significant change in the yield on Enbridge's debt, based upon such a change in the common-equity ratio.


I just don't see Enbridge jumping to a double A based upon a 3 percent change in the common-equity ratio.


MR. JANIGAN:  What does that say, in terms of the potential financial trade-off between thickening the equity and the potential financial gains associated with reduction of ‑‑


DR. BOOTH:  Well, there's a direct charge to the ratepayers of approximately $10 million, because equity costs to the ratepayers is considerably higher than debt costs.  So immediately there is a known $10 million increase in the cost to the ratepayers.  


There may be some future reductions as a result of the change in the yield on Enbridge's debt.  And going forward, as it refinances, that debt may cost slightly less than it would be without the 3 percent change in the common-equity ratio.


My assessment is that that reduction would not be anywhere close to the range of 25 to 50 basis points, and that I do not see how it can come close to covering the $10 million direct cost to the ratepayers at any point in time.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, those are all of my questions in-chief for Dr. Booth.  He is ready for cross‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Millar, what is the order?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, as far as I am aware, Mr. Cass is the only one who has cross‑examination.  I don't see anyone else raising their hand, so over to you, Mr. Cass.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you.


Professor Booth, we can agree, I take it, that there are a number of Canadian jurisdictions in which ROEs for regulated utilities are set on the basis of a formula; is that right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I would say the majority now.


MR. CASS:  I know this is at a very high level, but at a high level, generally, the effect of using such a formula is that in a period of lower interest rates, the ROE tends to get reset to a lower level as interest rates decline; is that fair?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And I think you've already alluded to this, but at the same time, as there is a period of lower interest rates, the rates on the utilities' embedded debt do not change because of the application of the ROE formula; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The embedded interest costs is simply a weighted average of all of the past financings, and all that is going to happen is new financing comes in and some old financing is refinanced when it comes due.  So the marginal impact is relatively low.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And you agree with me, then, I take it, that in a sustained period of lower interest rates, when formula‑based ROE is set on the basis of lower rates, firms with higher embedded debt costs are going to see their coverage ratio squeezed?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Just to be clear, I appreciate you're not a bond-rating analyst and you don't make predictions about debt ratings; is that right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  But you would agree with me that with a lower interest-coverage ratio, it does become possible that a utility could be downgraded?


DR. BOOTH:  It could be.  There's a number of factors that go into assessing the risk and the credit rating.  Interest-coverage ratios is one of them.  


I would note that Standard & Poor's has specifically stated that it's no longer using the interest coverage ratio in its bond ratings.


MR. CASS:  But you do agree with my proposition that that is something that can possibly happen with a lower interest-coverage ratio, leading to a downgrade?


DR. BOOTH:  It is a factor that is taken into account, correct.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you.  Do you agree with me that bond ratings are always a cause for concern and a bond downgrade is not something to be taken lightly?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  And your view, as well, I think, is that bond-rating agencies are -- tend to be conservative and sometimes overreact; is that right?


DR. BOOTH:  I think when there's a significant shock, such as the Enron-type situation in the United States and the problems with US, quote, utilities, then I think S&P have reacted in that case, and sometimes when there is a significant shock to the system like that, my perception is they do overreact.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  


I'm sorry, Mr. Chair, I launched right into this and I realize I neglected to mention that I had a brief of materials for the cross‑examination of Dr. Booth.  We are getting along so splendidly that perhaps I won't need to use it as much as I thought I would, but I should perhaps make sure that everybody has that.


MR. MILLAR:  We will mark that as Exhibit K12.4, Mr. Chair.



EXHIBIT NO. K12.4:  BRIEF OF MATERIALS PROVIDED BY 


MR. CASS.

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry for that interruption, Professor Booth.  That was my oversight, as I was so anxious to launch into some of my questions.


Now, we were talking about this potential squeeze of coverage ratios that could occur in a period of declining interest rates and formula‑based ROE.  Now, would you agree with me that a utility that has exposure to weather risk has less margin or flexibility to absorb a large swing in weather -- I should say to warmer-than-expected weather when it has this squeeze on its coverage ratio?


DR. BOOTH:  I would say that weather risk is going to affect its earnings more than a company without weather risk, and, as a result, the interest-coverage ratio is going to be more sensitive.  It is going to fluctuate more than, say, a TransCanada Pipelines or a Terasen Gas; correct.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  You would agree with me that weather, by affecting the rate of return, does affect the interest-coverage ratio that constrains gas LDCs and, as a result, affects their financial flexibility?


DR. BOOTH:  It does mean that in times such as Enbridge at the moment, it may not be able to access certain parts of the capital market.  So it puts more constraints on their financing than it would, say, a TransCanada Pipelines; correct.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.


Now, I think I should clarify here, and correct me if I'm wrong, but in this area that I am addressing, there is a distinction, I believe, to be drawn between the perspective of equity investors and matters of financing.


Your view, as I understand it, is that equity investors do not put a lot of weight on the variability of weather, because they are or should be looking at long-run cash flows that they can expect from the company; is that fair?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  Equity holders should diversify their portfolios, and, in particular, they diversify in two ways.  First of all, a company like Enbridge is part of a holding company, so there is some natural diversification of the cash flows in that respect.  


Secondly, Enbridge would be held within a diversified portfolio.  So there may be some climate change that affects the whole economy, but annual fluctuations in weather causing fluctuations in cash flow shouldn't have any significant impact for an equity investor.


MR. CASS:  Right.  So that is the equity-investor perspective.  But in terms of financing, as we've been addressing in the situation where, because of declining interest rates, a company is having its coverage ratio squeezed, a situation of several years of very warm weather could mean that that LDC has difficulty accessing the funded debt market; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  It happened to Enbridge now and it happened to former Consumers Gas many years ago.


MR. CASS:  Yes, I was going to come to the latter example, because I know you are aware of it.  Thank you.  I will come to that.


In fact, is it not your view that when looking at capital structures, the effect of weather is one of the most significant factors for gas LDCs?


DR. BOOTH:  It seems to be the only factor, I would say.  The underlying business risk of these utilities is very, very low in most criteria.  The only significant risk that bond-rating companies pay attention to is, in fact, the fluctuations caused by weather.


MR. CASS:  And if these firms have a significant deviation in their actual rate of return because of a warm winter, the interest-coverage restrictions in their bonds may kick in; right?


DR. BOOTH:  It may.  It may mean that certain types of financing are temporarily shut off for the utility.


MR. CASS:  Right.  As you have already alluded to, you are aware of an earlier situation where Consumers Gas, as it then was, had a time of significant problems in financing partly because weather effects lowered the rate of return it earned, and, as a result, the interest-coverage ratio made it very difficult for the company to access capital; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  It was some time in the early to mid '90s.


MR. CASS:  And in terms of capital structure, normalization does not do any good, because of the effect of weather may still impact the ability of the LDC to access capital markets; correct? 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  Well, not ‑‑ the -- my perception is that companies on full deferral accounts tend to over-earn less than companies that are not on full deferral accounts.  So when we look at footnotes, for example, this full cost of service, it exactly earns.  There is no over-earning.  


It seems to be firms with fewer deferral accounts tend to over-earn on a weather-normalized basis more than companies that have deferral accounts, such as Terasen Gas.  


So absent the fact that you sort of add, say, 1 percent to the actual rate of return because they don't have weather normalization, then you have the variability caused by the weather and the variability caused by the weather will cause problems.  The extra 1 percent caused because they don't have the normalization would tend to alleviate some of those problems but not all of them. 


MR. CASS:  All right.  Now you referred to full deferral accounts.  And I will be coming to this later, so I think I should be clear that I appreciate the terminology you're using. 


At first, I thought by "full deferral accounts" you were talking about deferral account treatment to take away the risk of weather.  


But that is not what you were referring to.  You were talking about deferral accounts that take away the risk of having rates set on a forward test year basis?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The Foothills and the Alberta-BC system part of TransCanada, I think, are currently the only utilities that are on full cost of service by which everything that goes into the cost of service is then just captured and passed through to ratepayers with a lag.  So effectively they exactly earn the exact rate of return.  So Foothills, in its surveillance reports to the National Energy Board, doesn't even separate out actual allowed.  It just has return.  So there is actually no variation whatsoever in its rate of return.  


So from my perception, that means if it earns exactly whatever the National Energy Board says it should earn, as far as I am concerned there is no business risk.  


Then we go to the full, what we might say, cost of service in terms of a forward test year utility where they have an annual rate hearing and they do a lot of forecasting.  But there are then a significant number of deferral accounts, such as TransCanada’s main line where almost the whole of the revenue requirement is subject to deferral accounts of one form or another.  And the only significant area in which they can fail to earn the allowed rates of return is basically the operations and management expenses, and sort of extraordinary items.  


So and then we get the gas utilities where the biggest risk is weather, and the Ontario utilities are exposed to that weather risk, whereas the B.C. Utilities Commission has a comprehensive weather deferral account that captures not just the cost of gas but also its impact on the demand for gas. 


MR. CASS:  All right.  That is useful.  I was going to come to this later.  So a company like Foothills, you would say, unlike Enbridge Gas Distribution, does not have the risk associated with rates being set on a forward test year; correct?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  A company like TransCanada Pipelines, you say, has less risk, at least in part because it has greater deferral account protection than a company like Enbridge Gas Distribution?  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  I place TransCanada slightly riskier than the full cost-of-service pipelines.  The National Energy Board disagreed with me and said it was de minimus, but they agreed it was less risky, the Foothills and NRG were less risky, but didn’t think it was significantly less risky enough to change the capital structure.  


MR. CASS:  Then a company like Terasen, unlike Enbridge Gas Distribution, has some protection by way of relief from weather risk?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  My testimony before the BCUC has consistently been that due to the greater Regulatory protection in deferral accounts, that Terasen Gas, formerly B.C. Gas, can finance on a 33 percent common-equity ratio, even though I believe it its underlying business risk is greater than Enbridge.  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Again, that's something I was going to come to, so -- 


DR. BOOTH:  I guessed that.  


MR. CASS:  -- so you are getting a little bit ahead of me, but that's fine. 


Would you agree with me, Professor Booth, it is normal for a Canadian utility such as those we have been talking about to have financial restrictions in their trust indentures? 


DR. BOOTH:  It seems to be an accident that the gas utilities have got this two-times-interest-coverage restriction in their unsecured MTN financing.  So that's -- Terasen has it, Union has it, Enbridge has it, it's never come up before the Alberta EUB, but I am pretty sure it would be somewhere for the Alberta gas utilities as well.  


MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  In fact, you are being even more specific than I meant to be, which is useful.  But aside from the particular type of covenant that these gas LDCs have, it is normal for Canadian utilities to have some sort of financial covenant in their trust indentures whether it is that one or something else.  


DR. BOOTH:  The covenant restrictions depend upon the type of debt that the institution issues.  


If you issue secured debt, then you generally, because you've got some claim on an underlying asset, then, there is less restrictions in terms of coverage ratios.  Generally, Hydro One, for example, TransCanada have got a 75 percent debt restriction in their debt issues.  


I like to characterize it as if you want to borrow money to buy a house and you're willing to pledge the house as a mortgage, you can borrow 75 percent on a regular mortgage without any trouble.  If you go to the bank and say:  I'm not willing to pledge the house as an asset but I want to have a signature line and borrow on my credit, then generally the bank will require more restrictions on your behaviour.  They will put in place other restrictions.  An unsecured financing such as Enbridge's MTN financing generally has more restrictions than secured debt financing. 


MR. CASS:  Certainly, yes.  That was a useful clarification.  I did not mean to be speaking of secured debt in this context and you have clarified that.  So certainly in the context of unsecured debt for these Canadian utilities, it would be virtual all of them that would have some form of financial covenant in their trust indentures. 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The extreme of unsecured debt is just commercial paper where in fact there is no restrictions. 


MR. CASS:  Are you able to tell us about a single Canadian utility, either now or in the last five years, that's been off side its trust indenture of financial covenants?  


DR. BOOTH:  No.  It's something that has never come up in any regulatory hearings that I've been a party with.  So I'm sure that if a utility had had problems with its indentures, it would have been a topic in a rate hearing. 


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Are you aware of any Canadian regulated utility, other than Enbridge Gas Distribution, that by reason of the restrictions in its financial covenants, in its trust indentures, is not able to access the market for new, long-term secured debt?  Sorry.  Unsecured debt.  Sorry.  


DR. BOOTH:  I'm not aware of anyone that has come before a rate hearing answer said, We can't do something.  


The only company I can think of that might have been subject to such a restriction is in fact B.C. Gas, Terasen Gas, where they did issue purchase money mortgages, I think, when they acquired Terasen Gas Vancouver Island.  But I don't think that ever came out in a hearing saying we can't issue MTNs.   But if you look at B.C. Gas's indenture provisions, it is below two times and has been many occasions in the last ten years, and from my recollection of when they bought Terasen Gas Vancouver Island, they used purchase money mortgages secured debt to finance the acquisition.  That's the only thing I can think of. 


MR. CASS:  Subject to that possible exception, you can't think of any other example?  


DR. BOOTH:  No.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now you have referred, I think, already to the BCUC case concerning the capital structure of Terasen Gas, that I think you were involved in.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  And I would just like to ask you about the factors that were taken into account by the BCUC in its determination of the appropriate equity ratio for Terasen.  


One factor, I believe, that was considered by the BCUC was the capital structure of other Canadian gas distribution utilities.  Do you agree with that?  


DR. BOOTH:  Um -- I would guess so.  I can't remember the exact references. 


MR. CASS:  The BCUC decision or at least excerpts from it -- I'm sorry, I haven't included the entirety of all of these documents in Exhibit K12.4 because many of them are quite lengthy.  But excerpts from the BCUC decision are at tab 6 of K12.4.  


At page 31 of tab 6, you will see the BCUC's discussion of capital structure begins here.  Are you with me? 


DR. BOOTH:  Yes. 


MR. CASS:  Lower down on that page, one of the factor that the BCUC looked at was capital structures of other Canadian distribution gas utilities; right? 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct. 


MR. CASS:  A bit later on, another factor that the BCUC looked at, I think this is page 33, was coverage ratios and credit ratings.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  And just by way of comment on that.  Over at page 35, last full paragraph on page 35, starting with your name, indicates that your view about credit rating agencies being conservative and sometimes overreacting, was in fact in front of the BCUC in this case?  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  And then the BCUC did, in fact specifically say that credit-rating downgrades are relevant; correct?  I think, to help you, maybe you could skip over to page 37, and the last sentence of the first paragraph addresses credit rating downgrades.  Do you see that?


DR. BOOTH:  On page 37?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


DR. BOOTH:  I see that.


MR. CASS:  So the BCUC concluded that credit-rating downgrades are relevant and support need for a change to capital structure; right?


DR. BOOTH:  I see that sentence, "Credit ratings downgrade by S&P and Moody's."  The S&P does rate the regulated utility based upon the credit rating of its parent, its utility holding corporation, because, as I mentioned, the shock in the United States was, when Enron went bankrupt, Enron basically raided its pipeline and took a lot of money out of its pipeline, and thereby converted the pipeline debt into non-investment-grade debt, as well.


So, as a result, S&P will only give a high rating for the regulated utility as a subsidiary in the utility holding company, if, in fact, that subsidiary ring-fence to prevent the parent corporation from raiding the regulated utility as a piggy bank.  


S&P, by and large, has downgraded Union Gas, as well as Terasen Gas, based upon the credit ratings of its parent, rather than the credit rating of the regulated utility; unlike DBRS, that doesn't believe Canadian parents would act like Enron in raiding their regulated subsidiaries.


That's implicitly the implication for DBRS.  But this sentence certainly says that they took those S&P and Moody's credit rating downgrades into effect.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Then just to wrap up on this, I believe that the other factor taken into account by the BCUC, in terms of capital structure, was access to capital markets and financing flexibility.  Does that ring a bell with you?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The BCUC, in this discussion, has the same ‑‑ looked at the same factors as the National Energy Board, in fact, the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board.  Both of those started out with the business risk, and then said, We also pay attention to these other factors, and these are the other factors that the BC Utilities Commission also looked at.


MR. CASS:  I think we have already touched on this, but you do agree that Enbridge Gas Distribution is more risky than the TransCanada Pipelines main line?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The risk is an overall assessment of short-run risks and long-run risks.


The short-run risks are simply the ability to earn the allowed rate of return, and TransCanada basically continues to earn its allowed rate of return and suffer no problems whatsoever in earning the NEB allowed rate of return.  


It suffers greater long-run risk, in the sense that the amount of natural gas in western Canada running forward may not be enough to basically allow ‑‑ well, is not enough to allow TransCanada to run full.  And there is some concern about the recovery of the assets, so the National Energy Board has increased its depreciation rate.  


Those longer-runs risks are not a factor in Enbridge Gas, simply because if the gas doesn't come from western Canada, it will come from somewhere else.  So the longer-run risks are not a factor for Enbridge Gas, but it does have more shorter-term risks because of the weather impact on the actual rate of return.


MR. CASS:  Right.  Your conclusion, taking all of that into account, is that Enbridge Gas Distribution is riskier than the TransCanada main line; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  When you discount these long-run risks back to the present, they're really not that important.  The National Energy Board did consider them to be important, but my testimony before the NEB was they're looking forward 20 to 25 years.  Any possibility of stranded assets couldn't add more than ‑‑ couldn't affect more than 5 percent of the market value of the main line, which I regard as not being significant.


MR. CASS:  In fact, in your evidence in this case, you have described what I would call a hierarchy of risk.  That's my term, the word "hierarchy".  But you started with describing what is the lowest risk in your view, and then moved up from that; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  In the lowest risk category, you put the electricity transmission utilities; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And what specific companies would you be including in this category?


DR. BOOTH:  The electricity transmission companies was originally -- this was before the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board, and that would be what is now called AltaLink, which used to be TransAlta's grade assets in Alberta, plus the Alberta EUB classifies TFOs - transmission facilities operators - and that also includes EPCOR Electric or EPCOR Transmission, and I believe ENMAX has a very small amount of transmission, as well.  So basically it's the Alberta transmission companies.  


Now, of course, Hydro One Transmission is also a separately regulated transmission company, and this Board will be looking at Hydro One Transmission very shortly.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.


DR. BOOTH:  Also, there is the Régie, because in order to wheel electricity into the United States, you have to have a separate tariff for electricity and they have to be certain that the rates that are being charged are non‑discriminatory.  So four or five years ago, before the Régie, my colleague Michael Berkowitz and I provided testimony on the Hydro Quebec's transmission assets.  


So those are the transmission assets I am thinking about.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  So those are the ones that you would put in that first category as the lowest risk?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The Alberta ones are definitely the lowest because of the way in which the rate design is implemented.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, moving up what I've called the hierarchy, what you say is in the next category, the next-lowest risk, are the gas transmission pipelines; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  Specifically, I placed Foothills and A&G.  Basically, as far as I am concerned, they're almost indistinguishable from the electricity transmission companies because of the full cost-of-service regulatory -- regulation that they're exposed to.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  That is the point we have already talked about, that they don't have the risk of forward ‑‑ of the rates being set on a forward test-year basis; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  So those two, I don't want to put words in your mouth, but they're in perhaps a slightly different category.  But the other gas-transmission pipelines you say are the next least risky category after the electricity transmitters?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  We're really talking there about NOVA, NGTL and Westcoast and the TransCanada main line.  And the Alberta Board always allowed NGTL 2 percent more than the main line, because the main line had 9, 10 percent preferred shares, and the rule of thumb was that preferred share ‑‑ traditional preferred shares were sort of 75 percent debt-25 percent equity.  


So since NGTL didn't have any preferred shares, the Alberta Board allowed a 2 percent extra on the common-equity ratio, so whatever -- basically whatever TransCanada got, the main line.


The Alberta Board, until recently, added 2 percent for NGTL.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  You may have said that and I apologize for causing you to repeat things, if you did.  I didn't catch all of your answer, but I believe in your evidence you do indicate that NGTL has slightly more risk than Foothills and TCPL's BC system.  And I think you say that factors that cause NGTL to be more risky include exposure to bypass, forward test-year recovery of revenues and greater variety of shippers.  Does that sound right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The major issue at the time before the Alberta EUB was putting natural-gas pipelines into the oil sands, where ATCO pipelines and NGTL were basically competing to put a pipeline in to Fort McMurray and the oil sands, generally.  There was the whole question of the bypass of the system and pipeline competition, and the Alberta EUB was going to address that.


So given the size of NGTL and its dominant position in Alberta, that made a small pipeline like ATCO pipe relatively risky without regulatory protection.


So that was sort of a risk that was up in the air at the time that I filed my testimony.


MR. CASS:  You consider exposure to bypass as a relevant consideration in this assessment of risk of ‑‑


DR. BOOTH:  Certainly.  In the long run, I think, if there is a change in technology that produces a bypass to the system that results in stranded costs, then the problem is:  How do you recover those stranded costs, or is the utility's shareholder at risk for those stranded costs?  


So that is a factor that may or may not be important, depending upon the ‑‑ how much bypass risk there is and how much stranded assets could potentially be at risk.  The classic example of that is Pacific Northern Gas, where it lost Methanex that was 60, 70 percent of its load, and suddenly had a huge amount of stranded costs that were basically assets that were directed towards putting gas into Methanex that were no longer used and useful.


MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  But you agree it's something to be considered in this assessment of risk?


DR. BOOTH:  Certainly.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  All right.  So I did get sidetracked a little bit there.  That was useful but I just want to be sure, then.   


DR. BOOTH:  Very good questions, Mr. Cass.  


MR. CASS:  Leaving aside Foothills and A&G, which you have, again, I'm using the words special category for, what are the companies that you say are in this second category, second least category of gas transmission gas pipelines?  We have Novagas Transmission Limited, the TCPL main line, I'm sorry, you did list some of them.  


DR. BOOTH:  I would regard the electricity transmission as being the lowest risk.  Then Foothills and A&G.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  Then I went on to the other gas transmission companies. 


DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  Within those three, at the moment I place NGTL, Westcoast and the TransCanada main line as basically the same risk.  


Now, that is based upon the fact that I haven't actually been involved in a Westcoast hearing for a significant period of time.  So I'm not quite sure of the load problems on Westcoast transmission.  


The -- what's emerged over the last three to four years since the Alberta generic, I would have to look at the load on TransCanada and actually the performance of the western Canadian sedimentary basin and how that affects the future load of TransCanada to say whether TransCanada was more or less riskier than NGTL.  But since NGTL is at the centre of the basin and it serves TransCanada, Alliance -everything basically runs through the NGTL system - my suspicion at the moment is I'll probably say that NGTL was marginally lower risk than the TransCanada main line. 


MR. CASS:  Okay.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's my suspicion without actually going through and looking at all of the data.  


MR. CASS:  I know my questions have been a little bit awkward.  I was just trying to make sure I did get the names of all of the companies in that category and I think I have that now.  


So then, continuing up what I've been calling this hierarchy of risk, then.  In your third category, that being moving up from what were the least risky companies your third category, you put gas and electricity LDCs.  Is that correct?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  What gas and electricity LDCs would you be thinking of in this category?  


DR. BOOTH:  The case in point before the Alberta Board, we were dealing with ATCO Gas, ATCO Electric, ENMAX,  EPCOR Distribution, AltaGas Distribution, and I'm pretty sure there was the ENMAX and EPCOR Electric Distribution as well but I have to go back and check.  Basically I was looking at that from the point of view of sort of the generic distribution company for natural gas or electricity in Alberta at the time. 


MR. CASS:  Maybe I could throw some other examples to you.  Terasen, would you put Terasen in this category?  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  Well if you're including all of the -- I mean I also looked at Terasen Gas and I looked at GMI, Gaz Metro, Union Gas, and Enbridge Consumers Gas.  


MR. CASS:  What about Nova Scotia Power?


DR. BOOTH:  No, I haven't ever been involved with Nova Scotia Power.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, just on this subject of risk.  For the Ontario gas LDCs, you would agree that there is risk that is related to the business environment?  


DR. BOOTH:  There is risk in the sense that there is a rhythm to the business cycle that means in a recession, certain sectors of the economy are basically going to be harder hit.  And that companies that are more exposed to that have greater forecasting risk.  


So in particular, generally we will look at Union Gas and say it is more exposed to pulp and paper and heavy industry than Enbridge.  As a result, it's got a little bit more forecasted risk and possibly a lot, in a longer term, some risk of stranded assets serving those industrial loads.  


So this Board traditionally has allowed Union a little bit more, 15 basis points, on the allowed ROE to reflect those exposure to those industrial loads.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  That's interesting.  I wasn't asking you to compare Union and Enbridge Gas Distribution, though, I was just suggesting to you that, generally, the gas LDCs do have exposure to risk related to the business environment.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  Mainly it is through the industrial side.  They're industrial load.  Residential consumers, even if they're laid off, generally don't cut off their electricity or their gas.  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I think we have, at least, almost touched on this already, but you do agree that the Ontario gas LDCs are subject to volume variances?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  And in fact, I believe that you contrast, and have already contrasted this with Terasen, which has a more comprehensive deferral-account treatment.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  And I believe that your view has been that this deferral account treatment of Terasen justified a 33 percent equity ratio for Terasen in contrast to Ontario LDCs that at the time had a 35 percent equity ratio; is that right? 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  My view is that on its own, Terasen Gas is riskier than Enbridge.  It’s suffered even more, in terms of weather fluctuations and its ROE which is why the BCUC put in place a more comprehensive deferral account. 


MR. CASS:  Right.  But with that deferral account, when the Ontario LDCs were at 35 percent equity, you felt that it was appropriate for Terasen to be at 33 percent equity.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I fully supported the BCUC's capital structure, regulated capital structure for Terasen. 


MR. CASS:  Right.  And the fact is that Terasen still has that more comprehensive deferral account treatment, but it is now at 35 percent equity; right?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, correct me if I'm wrong, Dr. Booth, but as I understand it, your view is that Canadian regulated utilities are prime candidates for using large amounts of debt?  


DR. BOOTH:  Absolutely.  Apart from the banks, they have more debt than just about any other sector of the Canadian economy.  


MR. CASS:  Well, what I would like to suggest to you, though, is that even at the equity ratios they have now, Canadian regulated gas utilities tends to be highly leveraged compared to their US counterparts.  Isn't that right?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  US counterparts have significantly more risk.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  And in that regard, I wonder if I could take you back to Exhibit K12.4, and in particular 

tab 8.  


This, I believe, is Standard & Poor's ratings, guidelines for US utility and power companies.  Are you familiar with this?  


DR. BOOTH:  I am familiar with Standard & Poor's rating methodology.  Not this particular document until I saw it.  


MR. CASS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay.  Other than having -- other than me having provided it to you, you're not familiar with it?  


DR. BOOTH:  Well, I read Standard & Poor's material, but I can't remember, off-hand, whether I ever saw this before.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  


DR. BOOTH:  I read lots.  The amount of material that comes across my desk every day is significant. 


MR. CASS:  I'm sure.  Are you uncomfortable if I ask you a question? 


DR. BOOTH:  No, no, that's fine. 


MR. CASS:  All right.  Could I take you to the third page of it, sir.  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  And there is a heading, table 1, that appears at the top of that page and then I am looking at a chart, if I can call it that, that has the heading over it:  “Total debt/total capital percent.”  Do you see where I am?  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  Now, down the left-hand side of that chart, there is a heading “Business profile,” and there are the numbers one to ten.  Do you know what that indicates?  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  S&P basically looks at utilities and classifies them according to their business risk on a rating of one to ten.  


So S&P is the same as other boards that have looked at business and financial risk and said basically we trade off business and financial risk.  The less business risk the company has, the more debt it can carry.  So before you assess any sort of measure of what's a reasonable debt ratio, you first assess its business risk.  And all S&P has done is basically take that qualitative assessment and put the particular companies into these ten blocks of increasing risk and then said, for each of those measures of business risk, this is the appropriate financial structure.  More business risk, less debt.  Less business risk, more debt.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  And just to be sure that I understand this chart correctly and that you and I are on the same page.  This is the reverse, so to speak, of what we have been talking about.  This is showing debt as a percentage of total capital as opposed to equity, am I -- 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  For these, you just subtract the numbers from 1 and you get the equity ratio. 


MR. CASS:  Right.  


DR. BOOTH:  Total equity.  Common plus preferred.  


MR. CASS:  So for example, to take a high BBB across row 1, that shows 60 percent debt, which would be equivalent to a 40 percent equity ratio.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's right.  Common and preferred or -- I'm not quite sure whether that would be include junior subordinated debt, but you are correct.


MR. CASS:  So what we can see from this chart, and correct me if I am wrong, but if you are to take everything above ‑‑ everything from a high BBB and above, so that would be high BBB and all of the As and double As, all of those would have an equity ratio of greater than -- 40 percent or greater; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  That's what S&P says, but these are US utilities given US regulation, and as S&P says very clearly, again, ratings analysis is not driven solely by these financial ratios, nor has it ever been.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And I appreciate they're US, but that's my point.  My point to you is that in terms of the way US utilities are rated by S&P, that anything from a high BBB up, you're looking at at least 40 percent of equity; right?


DR. BOOTH:  According to this chart, yes.


MR. CASS:  Right.  So while you believe, as I think we have confirmed, that Canadian regulated utilities can be loaded up with debt, I would suggest to you that relative to American utilities, they already have been; isn't that right?


DR. BOOTH:  They do have more debt, because they're lower risk than American utilities, and I will take you to the appendix, where the S&P lists all of its -- these utilities, and it's got, let's see, one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine pages of bond ratings.  


And to go to the back, you've actually got several US utilities that are D, default.  Going out from D, default, you've got a whole bunch of US utilities that are single B, which is deep, deep, deep junk bonds.


You've got B negatives.  You've got B plus.  You've got BBs.  You've got triple B negatives.  You've got a significant number of US utilities in the different groups that -- even in the regulated transmission and distribution, electric gas and water, the first group, group one.


You have a series of utilities that are non‑investment grade.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Professor Booth, that is interesting, but my questions to you, when we were looking at page 3, were very clearly premised on utilities with a rating of high BBB and up.  I wasn't asking you about the ratings of these other utilities.


What I am suggesting to you is, even in this category of high BBB and up, the American utilities do not carry anything like the leverage that the Canadian utilities carry, do they?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct, but I am just saying to you, first of all, there's two things.  First of all, these are US utilities, and Standard & Poor's specifically refers to them as US utility and power companies.  And, secondly, it says that it doesn't look at any of this in a mechanical way.  


When you look at all of the ratings for the US regulated sector with so many of them junk bonds, so many of them triple B, this is not -- this is not a sample of Canadian companies and it is nowhere close to the highly protected sort of almost annual rate hearings that we get in Canada, which is why the regulatory protection is so much higher in Canada, why they can't can afford more debt.  


You're taking something out of the United States appropriate to the US regulatory environment and the US financial system and saying, Well, look at this.  Let's ignore all of the substantive issues and let's just look at some numbers.  


I'm saying even S&P says don't look at the numbers.  We look at other things.


MR. CASS:  Professor Booth, I think you are making it much more complicated than I was.  I was simply addressing your proposition that these Canadian utilities can be loaded up with debt and suggesting to you that, compared to American utilities, they are.  Is that not the case?


DR. BOOTH:  Well, that's correct.  I mean, they're also -- you can say compared to banks they're not.  You have to make the correct comparison.  


I don't think it is very meaningful to compare them with US utilities, a large number of which have not even got investment-grade bond ratings, because the US regulatory system is substantially different from what we have in Canada.


MR. CASS:  Well, you do agree, I take it, with the general proposition that increasing the amount of a business's debt financing magnifies risk, and as firms finance with more debt, they magnify business risk; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  As long as there is business risk there, then financing with debt will magnify that risk.  And, as I have said, if there is no business risk, you can't magnify something that doesn't exist.


MR. CASS:  Right.  But to the extent that business risk exists, increasing debt financing magnifies that business risk?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


DR. BOOTH:  But if we look at the electric transmission companies in Foothills and A&G, there is nothing there to magnify in the first place.  Even when we look at the forward test-year pipelines, there may be some risk in the sense they don't earn their allowed return, but that is because they consistently over-earn their allowed return.  Over-earning allowed return is not, by anybody's definition, a measure of risk.


MR. CASS:  I wasn't saying that to you, Professor Booth.


Let's talk about some equity thickness recommendations, if you don't mind.


First, starting with the TransCanada main line, in the RH2‑94 case, if I am not wrong, I believe that you recommended the 28 percent equity ratio for the TransCanada main line; is that correct?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  At the time, I think it was on 30 percent.  It had just been increased from 28 percent.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, in RH2‑94, I believe that you recommended 28 percent and NEB approved 30 percent.  Is that not correct?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Then a few or several years after that, in RH4‑2001, you recommended 30 percent for the TransCanada main line, which was what the NEB had previously approved; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And then in that case, the NEB approved 33 percent; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Then in RH2‑2004, you recommended 33 percent for the TransCanada main line, which was what had been approved by the NEB in the second of the cases I have referred to, and the NEB approved 36 percent; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  In the recent Terasen case that you have referred to and I have referred to, you recommended 33 percent for Terasen, which was what had previously been approved by the BCUC; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  The BCUC approved 35 percent for Terasen; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  In each case, I recommended that the Board-approved common-equity ratio I regarded as fair and reasonable, and I could see nothing in the documentation provided or the ability of the firm to meet its -- to earn its allowed rate of return that would indicate an increase in business risk.


Subsequent to the TransCanada hearings, TransCanada continues to earn its allowed rate of return.  So there is no demonstrable increase in the short-term risk of TransCanada since the National Energy Board increased its common-equity ratio.


MR. CASS:  Sorry, just a little bit of a digression.  You said that in each of these cases that you had felt that the previously approved equity ratio was fair and reasonable.  Am I not right in thinking it was your view that those were generous, in fact?


DR. BOOTH:  I think that it depends.  If you look at the common-equity ratios before the 1994 National Energy Board decision, the Trans Quebec and Maritimes had a 25 percent common-equity ratio and A&G had 28 percent.


So I recommended that Trans Quebec and Maritimes increase its common-equity ratio.  I think the -- my recommendations have more recently been generous, in terms of the common-equity ratio.  I recommended before the Alberta Board that the NGTL have a 33 percent common-equity ratio, when it was then allowed 32 percent, even though I felt that it could continue to finance its operations and maintain an A bond rating with a 30 percent common-equity ratio.  


So it is generous in the sense that I was willing to accept a higher common-equity ratio than the direct analysis of the business risk would indicate.


MR. CASS:  All right.  You recommended 33 percent for NGTL, which you believed was generous, and the AEUB approved 35 percent, didn't it?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  As I indicated, the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board traditionally adds 2 percent because of the absence of a preferred share component for NGTL.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And this case that you just referred to involving NGTL, that was the AEUB's generic case addressing capital structure for a number of companies, am right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  In that case, you recommended 35 percent for ATCO Gas; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  The AEUB approved 38 percent?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  That's an interesting case.  The Alberta EUB gave 38 percent on the assumption there were no preferred shares, and said it would look at the preferred share component, which is 6.9 percent.  And the preferred shares have the same effect as common shares, same type of effect in supporting the coverage ratio and supporting bond ratings.  


In the generic hearing the Alberta EUB said our 38 percent is assuming it doesn't have any preferred shares.  And in the BCUC when they went to 35 percent for Terasen Gas, they specifically said because there was no longer any preferred shares outstanding as well.  Because BCUC – B.C. Gas, Terasen Gas had repurchased was what was a significant preferred share component.  So there is a little bit of a grey area there, in terms of what that 38 percent means, whether it is in isolation without preferred shares or whether it is with preferred shares.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  That's useful.  We will come to that in just a little more detail.  


But addressing more specifically what you've said, Professor Booth, the AEUB, in fact, concluded, on what I might call a general basis, that an appropriate common-equity ratio for a gas-distribution company is 38 percent.  Right?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  And it concluded that ATCO Gas does not have material differences in risk from the typical gas-distribution company.  Right?  


DR. BOOTH:  I would assume that.  I can't remember the exact words, but that sounds familiar.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And then on the subject of preferred shares that you've referred to, maybe I could take you to page 53 of tab 5 of Exhibit K12.4.  


I am looking at I believe it is the section bearing the number 5.3.5.  So I will give you a minute to look at that. 


DR. BOOTH:  It's okay.  I have it.  


MR. CASS:  So as I read the second paragraph of 5.3.5, the AEUB did note that ATCO Gas has preferred shares in its capital structure.  But in arriving at the appropriate common-equity ratio of 38 percent, the Board said that it has evaluated the equity ratio as if the company has no support from its preferred shares.  Right?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  


DR. BOOTH:  It said -- my interpretation of that is that, that 38 percent is assuming that ATCO refunds its 6.9 percent preferred-share component.  So it would be 38 percent equity and 62 percent straight debt, which is still not the case.  It still has those preferred shares outstanding. 


MR. CASS:  Well, I think we will have to leave that for argument, then, Professor Booth, because I am not reading those words on the page, there.  Perhaps we will just leave that. 


DR. BOOTH:  "The Board has evaluated the appropriate common equity as if the company had no support from its preferred shares," which means there is no support from its preferred shares.  It has no preferred shares.  So my reading of that is, it's assuming that the appropriate capital structure is 38 percent common and 62 percent debt and there are no preferred shares.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now in the same case, the AEUB considered the appropriate equity ratio for AltaGas; right? 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct. 


MR. CASS:  You recommended 35 percent. 


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  I recommended 35 percent for generic   gas-distribution company.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  And the AEUB decided that the appropriate equity ratio for AltaGas is 41 percent; right?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Professor Booth. 


DR. BOOTH:  In fact, I'm not aware my testimony even mentioned AltaGas; I think I just recommended 35 percent for generic gas-distribution company.  I can go back and look at my testimony on that. 


MR. CASS:  Maybe you could help me, then, if you could turn, if you don't mind to the decision at tab 5, page 54.  I'm sorry.  Page 35.  I apologize.  Page 35 of tab 5, there is a table 8 there, indicating recommended equity ratios versus last Board-approved.  


In the far right column there is a heading:  “Recommended by Calgary/CAPP.”  Does that column reflect your recommendations, Professor Booth? 


DR. BOOTH:  Calgary and CAPP had different recommendations to some of these companies. 


MR. CASS:  Does it or does it not reflect your recommendations? 


DR. BOOTH:  My recommendation was 35 percent common equity for a generic distribution company.  As I said, I can't remember dealing with AltaGas directly in my testimony.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, the indication here for AltaGas is 35 percent, right, in this table, as the Calgary CAPP recommendation. 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  But neither Calgary nor CAPP has any interest in AltaGas. 


MR. CASS:  Was one of them your client, Calgary or CAPP? 


DR. BOOTH:  Indirectly they were both of my clients, but the -- they came out with different recommendations for some companies.  So they put in, from my recollection, they put in separate policy evidence because CAPP's interest was primarily NGTL, because it's primarily interested in the rates for natural-gas transmission.  


Calgary's primary interests were in natural gas electricity distribution, obviously in the Calgary area.  And they both put in different recommendations, I seem to remember particularly for ATCO Pipelines.  And all I'm saying is, I don’t remember whether we addressed AltaGas because that was not in the interests of either of the parties sponsoring my rate-of-return testimony.  


And I simply can't remember whether I even mentioned AltaGas in my testimony.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.  Can I just digress for a moment, Professor Booth.  


This is a complete change of subject.  I had looked at your CV on the Internet and we now have it at K12.3.  I notice, from this, that you have been a Professor at the Rotman School or presumably its predecessor since 1987.  


DR. BOOTH:  Actually since 1978.  I have been a full professor since 1987.  


MR. CASS:  I see.  All right.  I wondered.  I just wanted to fill in a little bit before 1987.  So you have been at the Rotman School or its predecessor since 1978?  


DR. BOOTH:  July 1st, 1978.  


MR. CASS:  And did you -- 


DR. BOOTH:  That's when I started to get -- 


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.  Thank you.  Did you hold other teaching posts prior to that?  


DR. BOOTH:  I was an associate instructor whilst I was a graduate student at Indiana University. 


MR. CASS:  So you went from being a graduate student and and instructor at Indiana University to the business school or School of Management at University of Toronto and you have been there since?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct. 


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  


DR. BOOTH:  No, I did work prior to being a graduate.  I have obviously been working since I was a graduate student, but before being a graduate student I worked in a non-university setting. 


MR. CASS:  What country was that?  


DR. BOOTH:  In England.  I'm English; you might have picked up the accent. 


MR. CASS:  I did.  Thank you.  That didn't go past me; many other things have, but that didn't. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass would this be a convenient time to take the morning break?  


MR. CASS:  Yes, sir.  


--- Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.


‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 11:18 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  Professor Booth, I hesitate to come back to this subject of betas for US pure-gas distribution utilities, because it's taken on a life that was not intended, or at least I didn't intend.


Anyway, I think you've read Dr. Carpenter's testimony-in-chief on this subject.  You would agree with me, I take it, that what -- fundamentally what Dr. Carpenter was addressing was whether companies such as these can be seen as riskless or virtually riskless?


DR. BOOTH:  I was ‑‑ can you take me to a specific reference?


MR. CASS:  Certainly.  I believe it was volume 6 of the transcript.  And if, for example, you look at page 8 to see what the original question was from me, I will just give you a chance to find that.  It had to do with whether, absent ‑- weather-related risk to gas-distribution companies have little or no business risk associated with them.


DR. BOOTH:  Okay, I see that.


MR. CASS:  So you appreciate that that is fundamentally what was being addressed?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  But all I said in answer is that you can't look at betas and directly say anything about their business risk, because long Canada bonds, for example, had absolutely no business risk, and yet there were significant investment risks attached to investing in long Canada bonds, to the extent that when the Government of Canada had significant financial troubles, their betas were about the same as that of low-risk regulated utilities, about 0.5.  


So there you have a situation where there was actually no business risk whatsoever, and yet investment risk gave them betas of about 0.5.  All I'm saying here is you cannot go directly from business risk, and then say, Well, look, I've observed the beta.  That disagrees with the proposition about business risk.  That is just not possible.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Let's cut right to the chase, then, Dr. Booth.  I am trying to bring this back to what I think the point was all about.  You're not trying to tell us, are you, that these companies are riskless or virtually riskless?


DR. BOOTH:  What, these US ones?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


DR. BOOTH:  No, it's quite the opposite.  I think the US gas market -- the US regulatory system suffers significant regulatory lag.  They don't have rate hearings on an annual basis.  Some of them haven't had rate hearings for years, and the regulators impose significantly more risk on them than regulators do in Canada.  


So, generally, I don't draw conclusions from the US markets.  I don't think they're that relevant.  At times, I have looked at US evidence primarily to draw those sorts of contrasts, but I don't think that looking at these betas for these US companies directly says anything about the business risk of Enbridge Gas, which is what we're concerned with in this hearing.


MR. CASS:  In this context, Professor Booth, you have referred a number of times to investment risk, as well as business risk and financial risk.  You're not suggesting that investment risk is anything other than a combination of financial risk and business risk, are you?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes, I am.  It is something totally different.  As I indicated, there are things the regulator can control and there are things the regulator can't control.


The regulator can control the underlying business risk through deferral accounts, through adjusting the financial risk, through changing the common-equity ratio, and that in my testimony I referred to as low-income risk.  So you can basically generate something such that through the use of deferral accounts, full cost of service, you have almost no income risk.


Then you've got how the stock market reacts to that particular security.  An example I just gave you of government Canada bonds is a good example of that, because they have no business risk whatsoever.  


They're guaranteed by, obviously, the federal government.  The federal government can always just print more dollar bills to pay off on those obligations, so we refer to them as default free.  And yet they're not riskless, because they vary with the level of interest rates.  They vary with the amount of inflation in the economy.  


And there were periods when I testified before this Board ten years ago when the risk of investing in Government of Canada bonds was about the same as the risk of investing in regulated utilities.  Their betas were about 0.4, 0.5.  So in that case, you could look at the Government of Canada bonds and say, Well, there is no business risk, but they have betas of 0.5.  What's going on?  What is going on is the investment risk, how the stock market reacts to those cash flows.


 MR. CASS:  All right, sir.  In Exhibit K12.1, you have given certain data.  I wonder if you could simply provide us with the calculations that you went through to derive this data.  I don't mean right here and now, but if you could do that?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  I will calculate the -- I will provide all of the underlying data, if that is what you want, and the betas are calculated in the normal way, five years of a regression of the holding period return of the stock and the holding period of return on the market.


MR. CASS:  If you could provide the data, that would be useful.


DR. BOOTH:  Sure.


MR. MILLAR:  That is undertaking J12.1.  Mr. Cass, it is to provide the data behind Exhibit 12.1; is that right?


MR. CASS:  K12.1, yes, that's correct.


UNDERTAKING NO. J12.1:  PROVIDE THE DATA BEHIND 


EXHIBIT K12.1.

MR. CASS:  Professor Booth, in your evidence, something that you referred to is a possibility of issuance of something called first-mortgage bonds.  I'm sorry, you will have to help me with this.  I have never heard of first-mortgage bonds actually in the context of Canadian utilities.  


Have you ever worked with a Canadian utility on the issuance of first mortgage bonds?


DR. BOOTH:  I have never worked with the issue of any securities on the part of utilities.


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, I don't know if you can help me with this or not.  I'm just trying to understand the mechanics of how one would do this.


Is this a debt instrument that the utility would, I guess, have to register in every land titles and registry office in the province where it has physical asset?  Is that ‑‑


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  It's a mortgage.  The mortgage has to be registered in exactly the same way as the mortgage is registered on your house.  So that I'm not a lawyer here, but my understanding is when you take out a mortgage, you actually don't own your house.  


I can stand corrected on that, but when you register the mortgage, basically the lender owns the underlying asset.


So we have first mortgage bonds.  We have secured debt financing, and with a first-mortgage bond you have to register the title everywhere where those assets are.


So that inconvenience is one reason why firms have switched to other forms of debt financing.


MR. CASS:  That's useful.  I wondered about that.  So everywhere, in the case of Enbridge Gas Distribution, it has a piece of pipe in the ground, this would get registered on title, so to speak?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I think every jurisdiction where that property is would have to ‑‑ you would have to have the title registered in that jurisdiction.


MR. CASS:  And you would agree with me that Enbridge Gas Distribution has in the order of $2 billion of unsecured debt that is medium-term and long-term?


DR. BOOTH:  I will accept that, subject to check, yes.


MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  So what this first-mortgage-bond concept would be doing would be introducing into this capital structure secured debt held by certain debt holders in the context of $2 billion of debt that is already there that is unsecured?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. CASS:  All right.


DR. BOOTH:  If Enbridge was to issue secured debt financing, that's correct.


MR. CASS:  What Canadian energy utilities have issued these first mortgage bonds in the last five years?


DR. BOOTH:  My understanding is that most utilities have switched to unsecured financing, and that's primarily because of the evolution of securities regulation.  With short-form prospectuses, reporting issuers like Enbridge Gas can access the capital markets very, very quickly with things like MTNs.


MR. CASS:  Greater flexibility, in other words?


DR. BOOTH:  Much more flexibility, correct.  The MTN market is basically a long-term commercial paper market.  It's essentially sold off by the investment dealers and it is very easy to access funds.  So it gives the issuer a lot of flexibility in timing issues, and, as I mentioned, saving on the registering of the properties, what happened with the first-mortgage bond.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you, sir.  So at tab 10 of Exhibit K12.4, we provided some data regarding pure issuance of debt by Canadian utilities.


I know you have had this for a little while, Professor Booth.  Do you have any reason to question any of the data in this table?


DR. BOOTH:  Well, the only one I was wondering about when I looked at this is just Terasen Gas, because I know they issued -- purchased many mortgages when they bought Terasen Gas Vancouver Island.  I was just trying to remember whether that was before or after 2001, but other than that, the ‑‑ I have no reason to dispute this data.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, if there is a correction that does need to be made in relation to Terasen, can you let us know?


DR. BOOTH:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you want an undertaking?


MR. CASS:  Certainly. 


MR. MILLAR:  That's J12.2.


UNDERTAKING NO. J12.2:  to advise Whether the chart 


at tab 10 of Exhibit K12.4 requires any correction in 


relation to Terasen Gas


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, could you just repeat the undertaking, Mr. Cass.  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Whether the chart at tab 10 of Exhibit K12.4 requires any correction in relation to Terasen Gas.  


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 


MR. CASS:  So consistent with what we were just discussing, Professor Booth, about the flexibility and advantages of unsecured financing, what we would see, from this Tab 10, is that secured financing is certainly not a preferred route for these utilities to follow at this point in time?  Right?  


DR. BOOTH:  I think what it indicates is that the Canadian utilities have got sufficiently good bond ratings that they don't have to go out and secure their assets in order to access the capital markets.  


The financial flexibility is inversely related, obviously, to the financial health of the corporation.  The greatest financial flexibility is those firms that access the commercial paper market because they can basically just go in on a daily basis and issue 50, 100, 150 million dollars, basically, just on an unsecured promissory note for 30 days and to do that you have to have incredible financial strength.  Most of us can't do that.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  What you said was this shows that they don't have to go out and access secured debt.  It follows from that, sir, that they would only do this, they would only go to first mortgage bonds if they had to take that route; right?  


DR. BOOTH:  Well, a lot of these institutional inertia.  I don't know why AltaLink, for example, went out and issued secured debt financing when it bought the assets for, from TransAlta.  So I can't go back and sort of say, What was in the minds of AltaLink when it decided to go with secured debt financing?  


But they did go to secured-debt financing when they bought the assets of TransAlta.  Now the whole question when you look into security is:  What on earth are you going to do if AltaLink gets into trouble and the secured-debt lenders have to seize the transmission wires in Alberta?  You start wondering what's the point of having security when the security is such a unique asset that has no alternative use.  


So to some extent for some of these utilities on fundamental financial grounds, issuing secured debt doesn't make a lot of sense.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Again, I wasn't asking you to comment on particular companies in the -- in the table at tab 10.  At the beginning of an answer a couple of questions ago, you had said what this shows is that by and large, companies don't have to go out and get secured debt.  All I was saying to you is, it follows from that answer, that companies would only do it if they had to, generally speaking.  Right?  


DR. BOOTH:  I don't know why AltaLink issued secured-debt financing.  I don't know.  All I can say is that the Canadian utilities generally have good enough credit ratings that they haven't had to secure their debt.  The only one, as I mentioned, that has recently done that is AltaLink.  A lot of the other companies, it was -- is sort of inertia.  You issue secured financing and you have to trust indenture that allows to do that so you just keep issuing that secured debt financing. 


Then to change from secured debt financing to unsecured, you basically have to wait for that secured-debt financing to run off.  So it's a process that frequently takes a long period of time.  


MR. CASS:  But for those companies who don't have secured debt now, currently, they wouldn't go to it unless they had to.  I believe that follows from your previous answer.  Right?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I think given the creditworthiness of these Canadian companies, most of them have no need to go to secured debt financing.  


When I look at them –- the Westcoast, TransCanada Pipelines, TransQuebec Maritimes, I don't know about Express Pipeline, Maritime and North Eastern.  Pipelines, as I mentioned, generally don't have the interest coverage restriction on issuing debt that Enbridge does.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, another option mentioned in your evidence is preferred shares.  I was going to ask you if you ever worked in the issuance of preferred shares with a Canadian utility but I think you already indicated that you haven't worked in that fashion in the issuance of any form of securities.  Is that right?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I'm an expert on financial markets.  


MR. CASS:  But you were asked in an interrogatory on the subject of issuances of preferred shares by utilities, that was interrogatory number 19 from Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Do you remember that?   I think that would be Exhibit I, tab 28, schedule 19.  


DR. BOOTH:  Okay, I have it. 


MR. CASS:  You were asked about the issuance of preferred shares.  And your response was that preferred shares generally have been running at three to four billion dollars a year; right? 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct. 


MR. CASS:  Those are not issuances by utilities, are they? 


DR. BOOTH:  No, that's just indicating there is a preferred-share market out there and that's the total market monitored by the Investment Dealers Association. 


MR. CASS:  But you knew when you were asked this question it was whether any utility in Canada had issued new shares in the last five years; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct, but as I said in my answer, I don't track specific issues.  However I just noted in my evidence that preferred shares issue generally have been running at three to four billion a year.  


MR. CASS:  Right. 


DR. BOOTH:  There’s no implication in that sentence that I am referring specifically to utilities.  In fact, I specifically say “generally.”  


MR. CASS:  Well, the question was specifically about utilities, sir.  You agree with that?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  And the answer says:  “Dr. Booth does not track specific issues.”  And then I go on to say:  “He is aware that they're generally running at three to four billion dollars a year.” 


MR. CASS:  So what is the answer to the question that was asked?  Do you know what Canadian utilities have issued preferred shares in the last five years?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I mean, I do not know if they have issued preferred shares because as I said I don't track specific issues.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  


DR. BOOTH:  But I am aware, as I indicate, that several of them have been redeeming their preferred shares. 


MR. CASS:  Certainly.  Could you turn up, please, 

tab 9 of Exhibit K12.4.  


This is some data we provided to you with respect to preferred-share issuances and redemptions by Canadian utilities.  Do you have any reason to question any of the data in the chart at tab 9 of Exhibit K12.4?  


DR. BOOTH:  The TransCanada Pipelines, I'm not aware whether that is the main line.  My understanding is the main line has no preferred shares in its capital structure at the moment.  


They were redeemed for junior subordinated debentures.  So TransCanada calls them preferred securities but they're junior subordinated debentures.  


So I don't know how Scotia Capital is classifying them.  It seems to be classified them as preferred shares and they're not.  


MR. CASS:  Sorry.  You've lost me there.  You were talking about TransCanada Pipelines. 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct. 


MR. CASS:  And I'm seeing, as far as -- I see, it is in relation to the outstanding preferreds of a billion and 60 million dollars that you are referring to. 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  My understanding is that TransCanada doesn't have any preferred shares outstanding at the moment.  That it redeemed its preferred shares in 1999 for junior subordinated the debentures. 


MR. CASS:  All right. 


DR. BOOTH:  And there were US dollar debentures, so this doesn't include US dollar issues.  But my understanding is TransCanada doesn't have any preferred shares.  They have junior subordinated debentures and in fact at the moment, Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers is negotiating with TransCanada for the removal of those junior subordinated debentures. 


MR. CASS:  So to correct this table, opposite TransCanada Pipelines under the column headed “Total preferreds outstanding,” we would put zero?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's my understanding, yes.  So in fact the total industry would be half these numbers. 


MR. CASS:  Right.  Then the redemption -- well, it wouldn't affect the redemptions 2001 to date because you say this happened in 1999?  


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  I think my understanding is it was 1999 because it was an issue at the 2001 TransCanada hearing when they looked at its capital structure.  Part of my recommendation for an increase in the common-equity ratio is based upon the removal of those preferred shares. 


MR. CASS:  Right.  So in terms of the redemptions since 2001 of almost $2.5 billion, you don't have any reason to question that number or the various constituents of the number shown on this table?  


DR. BOOTH:  No.  Preferred shares generally don't make any sense for corporations.  They're just an expensive form of debt.  And when the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants changed their reporting policy and required that debt-like preferred shares be treated as debt for financial-reporting purposes, the whole point of having these preferred shares pretty much disappeared, because the advantage for corporations was that they could be treated as equity in terms of some of the, in the financial reporting purposes.  Yet they look like debt.  


So when that accounting treatment was changed, the -- a lot of them redeemed them.  


Also, the change in tax rules, the removal of the Public Utility Income Tax Transfer Act basically removed some of the incentive, particularly for the Alberta utilities, to use preferred share financing.  


So preferred shares are an expensive form of debt.  Generally they're not recommended 


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  I just have one final area to move on to.  I just wanted to talk to you about some recent increases in equity thickness that have occurred. 


I did previously speak to you about your recommendations as opposed to what the regulators had approved, so just for clarity here, I am talking about something slightly different, which is the increases that have occurred with other Canadian regulated entities.


Perhaps we could start with the TransCanada main line.  I think we have already touched on this.  Its equity ratio went from 28 percent to 30 percent in 1994, and then to 33 percent in 2002, or thereabouts.  Does that sound right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  That's the 2001 rate hearing.  I would guess it came into effect for 2002.


MR. CASS:  Then the TransCanada main line equity ratio went from 33 percent to 36 percent in 2005?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct, primarily because of the fears of the long-run stranded asset risk attached to the main line because of the productivity of natural gas out of Alberta, primarily.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I don't want to repeat ourselves.  We discussed this earlier today.


DR. BOOTH:  But it's important to get the reason for these changes on the record.


MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  ATCO Gas went from 37 percent to 38 percent in 2004; right?


DR. BOOTH:  Thirty-seven to 38?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


DR. BOOTH:  I will accept that, yes.  The thing about ATCO Gas was it used to be Canadian Western Natural Gas and Northwestern Utilities, and then ATCO reorganized the whole operations into ATCO Gas, ATCO Pipelines, and it was difficult tracking exactly what happened in these new entities that they created.  


So it is difficult sort of following it back exactly.


MR. CASS:  Nova Gas Transmission went from 32 percent to 35 percent at that time; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I'm surprised Nova hasn't come in and asked for 38, because, as I indicated, the Alberta Board generally gives them 2 percent more than TransCanada.


MR. CASS:  All right.  So you think that based on the precedents, NGTL could actually support a case for 38 percent?


DR. BOOTH:  Given what's happened, the way in which the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board have treated NGTL in the past, I'm surprised that TransCanada hasn't put something forward.  I mean, perhaps it has.  I don't know, but I'm surprised it hasn't put forward an argument to increase NGTL's common-equity ratio.


MR. CASS:  All right.  I was looking for an example from another part of the country, so I picked Nova Scotia Power.  Based on our previous discussion, I am not sure if you are familiar, but would you take it subject to check that in 2005 Nova Scotia Power went from 35 percent to 37.5 percent equity ratio?


DR. BOOTH:  Well, subject to check, yes.  I have got no knowledge of the regulated utilities in the Maritimes except for the -- what were the local telephone, local exchanges for telephone.


MR. CASS:  All right.  The TransCanada BC system, formerly A&G went from 33 percent to 36 percent in 2005; right?


DR. BOOTH:  That's why I wasn't sure about that one.  That was a negotiated settlement and I was told recently by CAPP that they were negotiating, but I wasn't aware that had actually been settled.


MR. CASS:  Can you take that one subject to check.


DR. BOOTH:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  TransCanada Pipelines Foothills system went from 30 percent to 36 percent in 2005; right?


DR. BOOTH:  Again, that was a settlement.


MR. CASS:  Terasen, we have already talked about, went from 33 percent to 35 percent in 2006; correct?


DR. BOOTH:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Then the last one, I think we all know about, is Union Gas went from 35 percent to 36 percent in 2006?


DR. BOOTH:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Right.


DR. BOOTH:  The thing about the negotiated settlements, as you know, you don't know what goes on in terms of the swapping of -- I know at the moment that TransCanada was in negotiations with CAPP, because redeeming these junior subordinated debentures at the current point of time, given the appreciation of the value of the Canadian dollar, gives a huge premium.  


It basically gives a windfall of a significant amount of money, something in the order of $150 million.  And the shippers want that $150 million, and my understanding is TransCanada is saying, Well, if we redeem these and there is a benefit, let's trade off something else.  


So I have no idea what goes on in these negotiations, but the end result is that there is a negotiated settlement that is a trade-off of other things.


So negotiated settlements have always got a question mark, in terms of what's going on.


What is true is that the TransCanada main line had an increase in its common-equity ratio because of very definite testimony on the productivity of the western Canadian sedimentary basin and the possibility of stranded assets.  And the BC Utilities Commission had a full hearing and increased the Terasen Gas's common-equity ratio.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Professor Booth.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Millar, do you have anything?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, just very briefly, Mr. Chair.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Dr. Booth, earlier in the day, at the beginning of his cross‑examination, Mr. Cass was asking you about some weather questions and normalizing weather.


I understand that certain jurisdictions normalize weather; is that right?


DR. BOOTH:  Sorry, what's the question?  In certain jurisdictions ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  They normalize weather; is that correct?  That's the term that I heard being used this morning.


DR. BOOTH:  I'm not sure what the question is.  Certain jurisdictions --


MR. MILLAR:  Are there certain jurisdictions that normalize weather?


DR. BOOTH:  My understanding is the B.C. Utilities Commission holds Terasen Gas ‑‑ doesn't hold Terasen Gas responsible for any variations caused by weather; whereas in this jurisdiction, based upon the normalized ‑‑ basically, forecast the revenue requirement based upon gas demand based upon normalized weather, and then the utilities is held responsible for fluctuations in weather that cause a change in the demand for gas.  But the change in the price of gas they're not held responsible for.  


So this jurisdiction looks at risk with the revenue requirement based upon normalized weather.


MR. MILLAR:  So as best you understand it, can you explain a little bit more the difference between how it works in BC and how it works here?


DR. BOOTH:  BC, my understanding is they forecast the revenue requirement based upon normalized weather in exactly the same way, and then if the total amount of gas used exceeds that in the revenue requirement because of a colder winter, that's just put into a deferral account so that the utility doesn't over-earn. 


Then, equivalently, if it is warmer weather so, as a result, the total amount of gas used is not what was anticipated, then equivalently that is deducted from the deferral account.  


So the result is that the utility isn't held responsible for any fluctuations in gas used based upon the demand for gas, the volume of gas used, in the same way as it's not responsible in Ontario for the price of gas used.


MR. MILLAR:  So they do the forecasting -- I mean, they may have a different methodology, but they do forecasting.  But the difference is they track either in a deferral or a variance account the financial impact of getting that forecast wrong, is that ‑‑


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I mean, this is unique to utilities, that you can actually sort of charge a customer something and then go back and charge them next year for mistakes ‑‑ not mistakes, but just events that have occurred in a particular year.


MR. MILLAR:  It goes both ways, though, doesn't it?


DR. BOOTH:  Oh, sure.  I mean, this is why I have consistently argued for 20 years that deferral accounts basically are to ensure that all of the costs are passed on to the ratepayers, and they lower the risk of the utility, allowing them to use more cheap debt financing to lower the overall revenue requirement.  


The only problem with that is that the -- there is incentive structures, whether you need to incent the managers to do their job.  And in the case of weather, I can't see how holding Consumers Gas ‑‑ sorry, Enbridge Gas responsible for weather fluctuations changes the incentive structure faced by the management.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.


Now, Mr. Cass asked you a question and I wasn't sure I got it right.  He said something along the lines of:  Normalization won't help the company, or something like that.  And I think you agreed with that proposition.  


Do you recall what I am talking about?


DR. BOOTH:  True.  When we look at ‑- if I am to look at the profitability of Enbridge Gas, then I really want to look at normalized rates of return, because given the fluctuation in weather, the actual rates of return is just a function of this random weather variation.  


So that doesn't indicate anything about their underlying operations.  It is just a random event.  What I like to look at is normalized, which is where I looked at the ability of Enbridge to earn its allowed rate of return on a normalized basis.


Suppose every year the weather was exactly as we anticipated.  What happens to Enbridge's rates of return?  The evidence is that apart from 2005, it consistently over-earns by about 1 or 1-1/4 percent.  So somehow in its operations it is able to consistently earn more than its regulator-allowed rate of return.  


But that doesn't help the issues at hand here, which is that the weather fluctuation can cause it to have problems accessing the MTN market.


MR. MILLAR:  I think I understand.  I just misunderstood originally.  Dr. Booth, I think you have already answered these questions, but let me put them to you one more time.


You would agree that all else being equal, if you normalize weather the way BC does, as in you track through deferral or variance accounts the difference, that would tend to reduce the -- or that should tend to reduce the ROE because it reduces risk?


DR. BOOTH:  No, I don't think it reduces risk.  This is sort of source of confusion.  The stockholders when they make an investment are interested in the uncertainty of those cash flows.  If they can diversify risk so that risk doesn't affect their portfolio, they're not interested in it.  So weather is the ultimate diversifiable risk and Dr. Carpenter said that; I said that; just about everyone says it.  It shouldn't affect the ROE.  So it shouldn't affect the allowed rate of return because it is a completely diversifiable risk. 


On the other hand, you can have a situation where a series of -- just like flipping a coin, you can come down three or four heads in a row and it is conceivable you can have three or four really warm winters and, as a result, Enbridge is constrained in accessing certain segments of the capital market.  We have just had this in 2005 and now we thought we've been having it in 2006.  Unfortunately or fortunately, depending on which way you look at it, we have had three weeks of cold weather.  I regard it as unfortunate, but regardless, it may mean that Enbridge in 2006 ends up being subject to a normal year rather than a warmer year.  But there is this risk of a series of warm weather meaning it can't access the capital market. 


For that reason, I have always recommended 35 percent for gas utilities, generic gas utility, that is subject to weather risk.  Now, in the case of Terasen Gas when you remove that risk, I think it can finance on 33 percent because then you’ve then got almost guaranteed rate of return.



If you look at Terasen Gas allowed rate of return versus its actual rate of return on an absolute basis, not weather-normalized, because it doesn't matter for Terasen, it consistently over-earns its allowed rate of return, just like TransCanada Pipelines and Foothills and the other utilities who are almost on a full cost-of-service basis.  So if you remove that risk, I wouldn't change the allowed rate of return for Enbridge, but Enbridge could operate on a 33 percent common-equity ratio exactly the same as what used to be Terasen Gas and what used to be the Foothills and A&G, and is still TransQuebec and Maritimes, those utilities that are -– have removed the major elements of fluctuation in the rate of return. 


MR. MILLAR:  Just to be clear.  That was a long and thorough answer.  Thank you for that.  But just to make sure I understand you correctly.  


If we take or if one were to take weather away as a risk, remove weather as a risk factor, in your recommendation, you wouldn't change the ROE because of that, but you would probably change the equity thickness?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  If you took away the weather risk for Enbridge, it would look a lot like TransCanada, except instead of over-earning by 20 basis points, it over-earns by 1 percent a year, so it would be a more profitable TransCanada. 


So on that basis, it would be more profitable than AltaLink or any other regulated utility that is on an almost full cost-of-service basis. 


So on that basis, I would say that it could finance with the same capital structures as AltaLink or traditionally the gas transmissions. 


The BC panel or the BC Utility Commission specifically asked me, which some of the transcript is on here, why haven't the Ontario utilities asked for a deferral account for weather, and I seem to remember I answered:  Because they're over-earning without one.  And probably if they wanted one, they would have asked for one.  


My understanding is, and the answer from Enbridge Gas is they still haven't asked for a weather deferral account.  If it is such a big risk and causing so many problems, I would expect them to come before the Board and ask for one.  But the fact is they're able to earn over-earn without one.  


MR. MILLAR:  You have to do some specific analysis related to Enbridge, would you not, to determine exactly what the proper equity thickness would be if weather was removed as a risk?  


DR. BOOTH:  Correct.  But the -- when we look at how to determine capital structures we look at these basic factors:  business risk, bond ratings, the yield spreads, interest coverage ratios, all of these things.  And there is absolutely no question; without weather risk, the bond raters would change their evaluation of Enbridge because that's the most significant risk they mention.  They don't mention hardly any of the other risks.  They consistently say weather risk is the most important thing.  So when you remove that, you wonder what else is left.  


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But you would still have to conduct -- I know you are giving you us kind of a ballpark idea of how that would work, but some more analysis would certainly have to be done; is that not fair to say?


DR. BOOTH:  True.  But not a lot more analysis.  You remove the major components of risk and Enbridge looks a lot like companies operating on 33 percent common-equity ratios.  


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, Dr. Booth.  Those are my questions.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Dr. Booth, just to follow up on your exchange with Mr. Millar.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess you have agreed with the question that weather normalization does not alleviate the pressures of interest-coverage ratios.  Am I correct in that?  


DR. BOOTH:  At the current point in time, without normalization, Enbridge is subject to weather fluctuations that causes it to have interest-coverage ratios that periodically cause problems in access in the capital market. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  My hypothesis is, with weather normalization, did I get your answer correct that even with weather normalization, you are not addressing or one cannot address the pressures on interest-coverage ratios?  


DR. BOOTH:  Perhaps I misread the question, but with weather normalization, you remove the effect of weather and then you would get the interest-coverage ratio that results from normalized weather.  


I believe there was an answer to an undertaking that we put to Mr. Boyle to provide the interest coverage ratios for Enbridge on the basis of weather-normalized rates of return.  And this indicates significantly higher interest-coverage ratios than ...


MR. JANIGAN:  Undertaking 6.1.  


DR. BOOTH:  It's lost.  Oh, this was a question that arose out of the company's testimony where they produced a table based upon actual allowed ROEs and didn't take into account they consistently earned more than their allowed ROE on a weather-normalized basis.  So if, this is a hypothetical, but if Enbridge Gas had been on weather normalization all of the way through, and if it had continued to earn the premium over its allowed rate of return that it did earn during those periods, then these would have been interest coverage ratios at that point in time.  


So for example, in 2005, this interest coverage ratio would have been 2.18, and 2003, it would have been 2.19.  Very close to what the company is targeting in terms of 2.2. 


So if it had had weather normalized and hadn't been subject to fluctuation in weather, the problem in accessing the capital markets with MTNs would have been significantly reduced. Now, the counter to that is I would expect that or I would have hoped that the Board would have intervened in the face of such persistent over-earning of its allowed rate of return.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Doctor.  The reason I am asking is because I believe the record has been unclear as to what your answer was to Mr. Cass's question, but I will leave that to the transcript.  


On the same issue, though, isn’t timing a consideration here?  As I understand it, the calculation of those covenant restrictions relate to a certain time period prior to the issuance of the proposed debt.  Correct? 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I think it’s some months, 13 months, something in the last 24 months I've forgot exactly what the period was.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I think it is 23 months. 


MR. CASS:  I think it is any consecutive 12 months of the last 23, if I recall correctly, Mr. Vlahos.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  I was pretty close.  


So if we do have a weather normalization regulation based on the weather normalization, you still have to forecast normal weather, you do that.  So you go through that, based on a future test year, okay.  So we do that with set rates.  


But then the weather turns on you, it turns on the company.  Therefore, the earnings are not going to be there in order to support a high interest coverage ratio.  Correct?  Unless the company can make up for that difference in a timely fashion.  Are you with me?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I mean, the lack of earnings, I mean you use a deferral account.  And then that would be recovered in future periods.  But you're right, the cash earnings won't be there.  The company will still suffer -- in a warm winter, it still won't sell as much gas and the cash will change.  Sorry, the cash won't change on an annual basis.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So I guess what I am getting from it is that you could have a situation where deferral accounts would be capturing those differences, but the timing is pretty critical in terms of whether they do any favours to the interest coverage ratios.  


The timing is important in terms of when the adverse weather from the company's perspective, it happens, and when the deferral account was disposed of.  Am I right on this?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  It also depends ‑‑ I mean, all we're talking about is the interest-coverage ratio in the bond indenture, not the interest-coverage ratio that is reported in the financial statements.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm talking about the trust indebenture.


DR. BOOTH:  The trust indenture, correct.  It all depends how that trust indenture interest-coverage ratio is calculated.  And, generally, if it is based upon regulated earnings, then the regulated earnings will be based upon normalized weather.


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, you think it may be based on ‑‑


DR. BOOTH:  It depends what's in the trust indenture.


MR. VLAHOS:  I thought it would be the actuals, unless I am ‑‑ I stand to be corrected, but I thought it was the actuals.  The indentures would not be speaking about normalized actuals.


DR. BOOTH:  Well, I would have to look at the trust indenture myself.  The normalized weather does remove the exposure of the company to the cash losses, but, as you mentioned, it is all a question of how quickly those cash losses are recovered through deferral accounts.


The -- generally in the accounting for public utilities, they follow the regulatory practices set by the Board.  They accept regulatory accounting, but it depends on -- I would have to look at the trust indenture to see if they specifically state how that interest coverage ratio is calculated.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, that's fair, sir.  Finally, you talked about various kinds of risk, and I guess one has to make a distinction between whether you talk about a shareholder risk versus a debt holder risk.  I was a bit mixed up on this, so maybe you could help me with it.  


If I were to sort of have three columns - one is the type of risk, the second column would be the shareholder risk, the other one would be the debt holder risk - on a business risk, I guess both shareholder and debt holder risk is affected; right?  Business risk would affect both of those, the debt holder and the shareholder?


DR. BOOTH:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Financial risk would be the same thing?


DR. BOOTH:  Yes.  Financial risk is the risk that is exposed to the stockholders, but that's correct, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  But not to the debt holder?


DR. BOOTH:  Well, the debt holders are the financial risk, so the equity holders are behind the bond holders or the debt holders.


MR. VLAHOS:  The market risk?


DR. BOOTH:  The market risk is the way in which the stock market or the bond market reacts to a series of cash flows.  So that's just changing interest rates, changing market expectations that may cause share prices to move and, as a result, reflects their stock market risk.


But it is not under the control of the board.  You can't control how investors react to the financial, the regulatory and the business risks.


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, does market risk affect the debt holder?


DR. BOOTH:  Oh, the market risk affects the debt holders, as well, because you can pass on the embedded debt cost, but from the point of view of a bond holder they have a stream of interest payments from Enbridge Gas.  And if they're a mutual fund investing in bonds and interest rates go up, then the value of that debt will go down.  


So they've got fluctuations in the market price caused by fluctuation in interest rates.  They have also got cyclical effects.  We do see these spreads that I show in my testimony.  They vary with the business cycle.  Investors do get concerned during recessions and spreads tends to widen, as people tend to hold Government of Canada bonds.


In that case, holding a portfolio of default risky debt, such as A-rated debt or AA-rated debt or BBB-rated debt, you will suffer capital losses as an investor during recession when credit concerns are high.


So there is risk from the point of view of debt holders and equity holders, investment risk, just general economic conditions in the capital market unrelated to how you regulate and protect the regulated utility through financial risk and through regulatory risk.


MR. VLAHOS:  But that risk is not really raising new capital.  It's the opportunity costs, as I read your answer.  It is the opportunity costs.  I have lost ‑‑ it is capital losses -- it's capital gains, capital losses, not being able to raise capital, is it?


DR. BOOTH:  No, being able to raise capital is solely, Can the utility raise capital in reasonable terms at a particular point in time?


At this particular point in time, Mr. Boyle's answer was that the yields on Enbridge Gas's debt is fair and reasonable.  Looking at the data, it's lower than it is for comparable companies, so there is no question that Enbridge Gas Distribution -- its yield indicates that investors are very happy with buying Enbridge Gas's debt.  


The only problem is simply that due to the warm weather, they can't issue MTNs at the moment, because of the interest-rate calculation.


My solution to that is that a short-term problem deserves a short-term answer, which is some form of preferred shares or some form of swap commercial paper until this problem goes away.  And according to the company's evidence, it goes away in three to four years.


MR. VLAHOS:  Where would I put a default risk?  It would be in the business risk or financial risk, or is it a category of its own?


DR. BOOTH:  No.  Default risk is part of the -- it's a part of the business and the financial risk from the point of view of the bond holders, and it would certainly come into play for the equity holders.


Now, in the case of utilities, I don't think it's a material risk, certainly in Canada, because that means that the utility would have to default on its interest payments, and that would mean that the bond ratings would have to be the way they are in the United States for some utilities, down to single Bs and D, default.


So I don't think there's significant default risk attached to most Canadian utilities at the moment.  It's very, very low.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Finally, on the regulatory risk -- and we do term this as a risk, but from what I gather from you today, it probably is the regulatory credit in this country. 


DR. BOOTH:  Well, I'm sure the company would say that, I don't see any risks attached to the actions of regulatory tribunals, but to be absolutely honest, I have never seen an action, a significant action, by a regulator to put a regulated utility at risk in Canada.


In the United States, there has been precedence, nuclear-power plants and things, where the regulator said, Not used and useful, we're not going to allow them in the rate base.  So there have been situations of risk in the United States.


But I've been in many, many hearings where the company witness has said there is all of these risks, and I've sat before the OEB now for 15 years and previously Dr. Sherwin would come in and say there's all of these risks, and yet when you look at the regulatory record, the utility still earns its allowed rate of return.  


So sooner or later, you would expect some of these risks to actually materialize.  And what actually happens is if any of these risks materialize, it tends to be there is a hearing and there is some disposition of this risk, and it ends up that the ratepayers pay the cost of whatever this risk is.


The example of that I referred to in my testimony is the recent Supreme Court of Canada decision on late payment fees, and Enbridge just says, Well, whatever the settlement is, we are going to apply to the OEB to recover this in rates.  


It seems to be that a lot of these risks that witnesses purport to be risks that are borne by the shareholders don't actually get borne by the shareholders in Canada.  It tends to be the regulatory dynamic sees those risks either shared or borne by the ratepayers.


MR. VLAHOS:  That would apply to, I guess, historical-year regulation or cost of service, whether you actually get the return that you have been authorized to get by the regulator.  But in terms of future-year mode of regulation with existence of many deferral accounts, then it would have the same effect, would it?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  But if we now introduce this sort of a weather -- if we take weather away from the shareholder, then you're not really reducing the regulatory risk.  You're actually adding a regulatory credit, aren't you?


DR. BOOTH:  Well, that's correct.  I think the history of regulation in Canada over the last 20 years has been regulatory credits.  I mean, we can go from the historic test year, which -- when utilities ran historic test years during the inflationary period in the '70s, there was considerable risk, because you would go forward and say, What's changed?  You would add these changes, and it exposed them to significant regulatory lag, and the evidence is that the -- during the '70s, market-to-book ratios indicated that the regulatory system was under considerable pressure.


What happened was regulators came in with forward test years.


Now, we know they have significant inflationary pressures.  My personal thing would be that regulators should seriously look at going back to historic test years because the reason for future test years is evaporating, but that is just one example of the regulatory dynamic.  


Others include removing commodity charges, and putting them into purchased-gas variance accounts.  Basically removing items in the rate base that are subject to competition, such as electric and gas water heaters and things.  So that it is paring down the utility to its core monopoly services, which is the lowest-risk elements of their operations.  So it is difficult to see, over the last 20 years, where regulators in Canada have increased the risks of the companies that they oversee.  In fact most -- and I'm sure some things I’ve missed, but most of the general trends have been towards lowering the risk of the utilities.  Not increasing them.



MR. VLAHOS:  Well, Dr. Booth, with the future test year as practiced throughout the continent and the proliferation of deferral and variance accounts, why haven't jurisdictions gone back to historical-year regulation?  


DR. BOOTH:  I think there is a significant amount of inertia that people respond to problems, and generally the problems are put forward by the companies and, as the evidence shows, the forward test years utilities tend to over-earn.  So if the utilities tend to over-earn, it is not going to be in the best interest of the utility to come before the Board and say, Well, look, we over-earned; we would look to go back to historic test year.  They're not going to propose a change that reduces their tendency to over-earn.  


MR. VLAHOS:  If one were to take the weather risk away from the utilities, would that sort of be less of an incentive not to move to a historical test year?  


DR. BOOTH:  I think the use of deferral accounts removes a lot of the ability of the utility to over-earn, because it is difficult to work out exactly where they earn over their allowed return.  But it tends to be they forecast costs that they then don't expend.  They forecast a certain amount of O&M, then they underspend their budget.  Then they come in the next year and they use the past budget and they forecast and the result is that they pick up a few million dollars here and there because they don't spend what is being forecast.  


Now if you put all of that into a deferral account, then they don't over-earn.  And the evidence is quite clear, I think, that the full cost-of-service pipelines exactly earn a rate of return because by definition all -- they can't under spend all of their costs are just passed on to the ratepayers.  And the utilities that tend to over-earn the most are the ones like the Ontario utilities where they have this weather risk, so it sort of –- I wouldn't camouflages, but I would say it is quite clear that the more deferral accounts, the less the ability of the utility to over-earn.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So if we go to historical test-year regulation, the issues are not -- it is only prudence, it's not going whether you are going to spend at all because you are looking at history.  So that removes half of the variables in the equation. 


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  I mean, it's a long time -- the last time I was in a hearing with a historical test year was Centra Gas Manitoba, and that is probably 12 or 13 years.  I think they were the last utility in Canada to move to a forward test year.  


But, so -- but the historic test year, you basically look at exactly what the utility spent and they look at what's changed.  And the utility would be forced to come forward and say, Well, we anticipate spending this extra money.  Then that would be subject to testing.  


So as I said, during periods of significant inflation where everything is basically going up with inflation, this did expose utilities to significant regulatory lag, but we haven't had really significant inflation now in Canada for ten years.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So it was the regulatory lag or it was the lack of incentive, in your view, that moved us into a future test year?  


DR. BOOTH:  Well, I'm going back a significant period of time, ten or 15 years ago.  But I think the historic test year with inflation and with the regulatory lag particularly in passing on commodity costs, particularly in the 1970s when natural-gas prices and oil and gas were quite volatile, exposed the utilities to significant risk.  


So -- and the response to that was these purchased-gas variance accounts and forward test years which did in my opinion lower the risk of the utilities.  


Looking back, it's -- my short-term memory is pretty good but my long-term memory going back ten or 15 years is not that good.  I would have to go back and look at the historical record on that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Just to balance things off, whether we're talking about historical year or future test year when we're talking about regulatory risk, it is a prudence review, isn’t it?  I mean, it is not inconceivable that the regulator may disallow certain expenditures whether being O&M or being capital.  So there is still that side of the regulatory risk.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The Board's responsibility is to approve rates that are fair and reasonable and everything is subject to a prudent review.  Capital -- I mean capital expenditures or deferral accounts.  There was a case in Centra Gas Manitoba, again, where I wasn't involved in that hearing, but I understand that there was a forecasting risk involved in forecasting natural gas and the management didn't use standard derivative contracts to manage that risk.  And as a result, the regulator imposed some costs on the utility.  So it is the responsibility of the Board to pass on fair and reasonable costs to ratepayers and that may mean that there is a prudency review of some the costs that go into a deferral account.  So it doesn't remove it completely.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Doctor.  


One last question.  It hasn't been discussed at all today and that is the cyclicality phenomena, you know, your answers to questions from Mr. Cass.  There was a trend there, you could see that this tribunal has provided the higher, thicker capital – thicker equity base.  And then sort of go around the country and you can see the same thing.  


And I guess to what extent those things are cyclical in nature and how does this -- what is the break, what is the break-up?  


DR. BOOTH:  I think we're seeing a lot of common-equity reviews, business risk cases because boards close down the rate of return entry.  So I mean when you look at it from the point of view of the equity owners, they're looking at the net income which is composed of the rate of return on common equity.  So by moving all of the companies to ROE formulas, and then reviewing those formulas and finding them to be satisfactory, you close one of the two routes to get more net income out of a regulated utility.  The only one that is left is the common-equity ratio.  So I don't think this is an accident that, as allowed ROE mechanisms got tied to long Canadas and that route was closed down in annual rate reviews to getting a higher net income, that regulated utilities moved to the common-equity ratio.  


And the unfortunate feature of that is that one of the things regulators do is look at what other regulators do and we see the sorts of things that Mr. Cass referred to, that this regulator did this, this regulator did this.  And there is an element of fairness that regulated utilities should be treated similarly across the country.  


But I think the cycle we're seeing, all of these business risk capital structure increases is simply because regulators close down the ROE.  It's a route to get more money out of regulated subsidiaries.  


MR. VLAHOS:  This may not be a fair question but from the shareholders' points of view, would you prefer to see a higher return of common equity or a higher thickness in common equity?  Or should it be indifferent?  


DR. BOOTH:  From the shareholders' point of view it really doesn't matter.  Now, I did see one case where I was actually asked to -- if I was interested in intervening on behalf of a company that wanted to reduce its common-equity ratio, and what they wanted was a higher rate of return in order to be able to reallocate their equity elsewhere and they were quite happy to have a smaller common-equity ratio as long as they got a higher rate of return.  


So from the shareholder, it depends on the reallocation of that capital elsewhere.  From the ratepayers' perspective, you cannot go to situations in the United States where you allow them much more latitude on common equity and then fix a fair rate of return on the common equity.  I mean, it is not allowed in the United States but in an extreme case you could go to 100 percent equity and say, Well, look, there is no financial risk, we're going to lower the rate of return to say 6-1/2, 7 percent.  That may be a fair rate of return on 100 percent equity, but it's missing the fact that that is costing a huge amount to ratepayers because of the income-tax component.  So that may be fair to the common shareholders, but for the ratepayers there has to be a balance in terms of the capital structure, because equity is an after-tax cost.


Those taxes are passed on to the ratepayers.  So there is an optimum capital structure that reduces the overall cost of capital and balances the interests of the equity holders and the ratepayers.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Doctor.


MR. KAISER:  Dr. Booth, I have some questions on this weather adjustment mechanism.  I am going to show you the decision of the ‑‑ one of the decisions, anyway, of the BC Board that you referred to.  I will distribute copies, if Mr. Millar has them.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have a copy, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  I have a copy. 


[Mr. Millar distributes copies to intervenors]


MR. KAISER:  I'm sorry, Mr. Millar.  I have a copy, but the other Panel members don't.


MR. MILLAR:  There may be some spares.  Mr. Chair, we will give that an exhibit number?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  That is K12.4, the BCUC decision dated August 4th, 1994.


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, I think it would be K12.5.  I believe the brief of cross‑examination materials was K12.4.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  You're right, it is K12.5.


EXHIBIT NO. K12.5:  DECISION OF BCUC DATED 


AUGUST 4, 1994.

MR. KAISER:  Dr. Booth, you said that this utility has no business risk; that what it has is weather risk.  Is that right?


DR. BOOTH:  I said that the most ‑‑ I can't remember my precise words, but weather risk dominates all of the other business risks.


MR. KAISER:  I don't know whether you were involved in this case, but just to get a better understanding of what was going on in BC, if you turn to page 1, this is under background.  It is indicated that prior to April 15th of 1994, B.C. Gas had applied for approval of the weather stabilization adjustment mechanism which was intended to mitigate the impact of abnormal weather on utility revenues.


B.C. Gas subsequently asked to withdraw the WSAM and the Commission approved that.


Then if we go over to page 2, under section 2.2, the Commission says, "The current B.C. Gas RSAM".  I guess they changed the name, for some reason:

"... follows the utility's WSAM proposal and the Commission's directive in the phase B decision that B.C. Gas implement some form of WSAM by January 1st, 1994.  B.C. Gas filed its RSAM proposal with its revenue file application."


Then the next paragraph:

"B.C. Gas proposed RSAM which stabilized the company's revenues by placing in a deferral account any variance in winter revenues from residential and commercial customers that were above or below forecast by more than 5 percent."  


Then they go on to say:

"Debate centred around the desirability of this 5 percent debt band."


Then if we go over to page 5, the second last paragraph:

"B.C. Gas expressed concern that RSAM with a zero debt band would lead to greater year-to-year variability in rates, because revenue surpluses or shortfalls in any given year would be much higher than with a 5 percent debt band."


 Then the Commission ruled, and this is in the bottom paragraph on that page, page 5:

"The commission accepts the BC RSAM proposal effective January 1st, 1994 but with the following modifications:  The RSAM will not have a debt band; in other words, it will have a zero debt band.  A deferral account balance will accumulate the annual RSAM debits and credits and one‑third of the net balance will be allocated to recovery in the applicable rates in the following year so as to minimize the year-to-year variability in rates."


Now, is that the adjustment mechanism that you were referring to in the case of Terasen, which I guess is the new name for B.C. Gas?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  So a couple of questions.  We have in this case, as you will probably know, a great deal of evidence about changing the forecasting methodology, and there's been evidence that over the period '93 to '06, the utility has come out on the bad side of the scale to the tune of about $100 million, and they took a $57 million hit in '06 alone.


I presume if we had a weather adjustment mechanism like they do in BC, we don't have to worry so much about this forecasting methodology.  It will get corrected, in any event, through this deferral-account mechanism?


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  Obviously, it would still be best to precisely forecast the weather so you can fix rates and fix the revenue requirement as accurately as you can.


But you're correct that if you persistently underestimate the ‑‑ how cold the winter is, then what's going to happen is the company will over-earn and that will go into a deferral account, and then you will average it over some subsequent period.  So it will all net out.


MR. KAISER:  There's also been some evidence by the company that weather variability and weather risk is increasing, and this has to do with climate changes and different changing patterns and so on.  Is that a sense that you have that weather risk in gas companies is becoming a bigger factor as opposed to a lesser factor?


DR. BOOTH:  Statistically that is almost impossible to work out, because if I was to pull a loonie out of my pocket and toss it, you could come down heads, heads, heads, and then you might say, Well, three heads in succession, it's obviously a biased coin, but there obviously is a probability of that happening.


In terms of weather, the same sort of thing is going to happen, that you can have a series of cold winters or a series of warm winters and it doesn't mean to say that the underlying weather risk has increased.  It just means to say you just pulled three heads in succession.


So I am not an expert on weather forecasting, but I do know that statistically it's going to be incredibly difficult to work out whether that forecasting -- the existing forecasting methodology is biased high or low simply because of 13 events.  


There is so much ‑‑ my guess is -- as I say, I am not an expert on weather forecasting, but my guess is there is so much variability in the weather that you could have this sequence of warm weather and cold winter just purely -- just due to random weather around a constant weather forecast, but I will leave that to experts on weather forecasting to assess that.


MR. KAISER:  Now, this application by the company to increase its equity thickness and the attendant costs which you have identified - I think it is something like 10 million, with some possible offsetting benefits, but in your evidence not at all clear that there will be any - is driven, as I understand the evidence, by a concern about interest coverage.


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Interest coverage, as I follow the evidence, is certainly influenced by the negative income implications of the weather hits in recent years.


Is there any reason why we wouldn't introduce a weather adjustment mechanism like BC?  Is there anything negative?


DR. BOOTH:  Generally, I'm in favour of deferral accounts.  I'm on the record that -- I mean, I proposed -- for example, that when Enbridge was forecasting short-term interest rates in the money market for commercial paper, I said, They can't forecast where interest rates are going.  Just put it all into a deferral account.  


I generally believe that utilities should not be held responsible for purely random events that do not affect managerial incentives.


I think that anything that affects managerial incentives possibly shouldn't be in a deferral account, but Enbridge can't control the weather.  They can't control short-term interest rates.  So I'm quite happy with those risks being put in a deferral account, and as long as you are estimating the weather correctly -- and, as I said, I'm not an expert on that, but as long as the weather is estimated correctly, all that is going to happen is you're going to get random gains and losses, and those random gains and losses are spread much, much easier amongst ratepayers, given the size of the revenue requirement, than they are amongst the equity holders.


So that risk I tend to believe is more easily borne by ratepayers, particularly with a smoothing, as the RSAM, over a three-year period than by the equity holders.  So I tend to believe, I can see nothing wrong with a RSAM. 


MR. KAISER:  Would it also be the case -- I think this is in your evidence, that weather is a risk.  It’s a risk that the financial market understands.  


Number 2, we can remove this weather risk.  This Board could remove this weather risk.  And if we did, would that not lower their cost of capital?  


DR. BOOTH:  No.  I think that would remove the weather risk and I would see that immediately DBRS would say the Ontario Energy Board has a favourable regulatory protection.  They have taken measures to ensure that the risk of the bonds is not exposed to weather risks and that would certainly be mentioned the bond-rating report.  


If I look at the equity analysts' reports -- well, they don't rate Enbridge Gas, but if they looked at Enbridge Inc., they might mention that as a footnote, that one of its -- one of Enbridge Inc.'s subsidiaries, Enbridge Gas has a weather deferral account.  But I don't think it would change the buy or the sell recommendation on the stock.  It would be essentially non-a significant factor for the equity analysts, but I think you would see it mentioned in the bond reports.  


And what we have here is a bond-market problem.  This is not an equity-market problem.  No one said that the rate of return to the equity holders is unfair or unreasonable.  It is just purely a bond market problem.  And my recommendation would be, so you solve bond-market problems in the bonds market and you solve equity-market problems in the equity market; and you solve long-term problems with long-term solutions and short-term problems with short-term solutions.  My recollection is that if this is simply a weather-forecasting problem, and partly with the decline in the embedded interest cost, that this problem will disappear over a reasonable period.  So making a long-term solution such as changing the common-equity ratio in response to a short-term problem in the bond market doesn't make a lot of sense. 


MR. KAISER:  Would it also be fair to say that there is two possible solutions to the problem?  One is the Enbridge solution, which is to crack up the equity, and that will give them an extra $10 million and help them out, or to put in a weather-adjustment mechanism.  Are those options?  Are they -- 


DR. BOOTH:  Absolutely.  When I look at utilities, my first choice is always deferral accounts where the utility -- where it doesn't affect the utility's incentive.  


And weather is certainly something that doesn't affect the utility's incentive mechanism.  Removing the weather risk isn't going to cause Enbridge's management to change any decisions as far as I can see.  


So my first solution would be always to use deferral accounts to manage unmanageable risks.  And then look at financial -- then adjust financial risk accordingly.  


And lastly, to look at rates of return, allowed rates of return.  I don't think this particular risk should affect the allowed rate of return.  But my first recommendation is always deferral accounts.  


MR. KAISER:  If we had a weather adjustment mechanism, let's say it is exactly as the BC Commission, what would be your recommended equity thickness for this utility be?  


DR. BOOTH:  I think it is clearly downwards.  The BC Utility Commission said the RSAM was worth zero to 3 percent.  I have consistently recommended 33 percent for Terasen Gas versus 35 percent for a gas utility not on an RSAM, so implicitly I recommended 2 percent.  


I tend to believe that Enbridge is the premier gas utility in Canada - I mean it's expanding, it is adding customers.  It's got the wealthiest, most concentrated density in Canada.  I would say implicitly, innately, it is the lowest-risk gas-distribution utility.  And if you applied an RSAM to remove that weather risk, I would probably recommend 33 percent common equity.  


MR. KAISER:  Did I hear that Terasen is at 35 with a RSAM, but the difference is difference in risk between the utilities, in your view?  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  The B.C. Utilities Commission said that the RSAM was worth zero to 2 percent.  So they placed it at 35 to 38 percent and then gave Terasen 35 percent.  


So I think, if my recollection is correct, that they said it was zero, the RSAM was worth zero to 3 percent.  And I basically recommended that it is worth 2 percent. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar put to you that there would be some further things that the Board should have to look at before recommending a RSAM.  What is that?  What are we missing in this record that would prevent us -- let me put it differently.  It just seems to me this weather risk is just a crap shoot that's been thrown in the forecast that benefits nobody other than the people in this room who gain hourly wages by debating it.  But is there any reason why any intelligent regulator wouldn't put it in?  


DR. BOOTH:  I completely agree with you.  I mean, I've been recommending deferral accounts for these sorts of risks for a long period of time.  


So as long as the risk doesn't affect the managerial incentives, and weather doesn't, as far as I can see, I can't see any downside to a RSAM.  


MR. KAISER:  Is there an upside?  


DR. BOOTH:  The upside is that it allows the utility to forget about weather fluctuation, so that it exactly earns its allowed rate of return from the -- as I mentioned, the downside for the utility may be that you then take corrective actions in terms of why is it that it is earning consistently more than its allowed rate of return.  You can then take corrective measures in terms of over-earning, knowing that it is no longer subject to weather fluctuations.  


So there is an upside from the point of view of ratepayers, but the converse is there's a downside for the company.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Dr. Booth, sorry, you can ascertain that now how much of the variation in earnings is due to the weather variation versus other factors.  You can do it now.  


DR. BOOTH:  That's correct.  But if you took away the 1 percent, then it just moves -- which is the average over-earning of the order of 1 percent, then it moves the actual earnings of Enbridge down and it makes that fluctuation caused by weather that much more severe.  


I mean, for example, if the company was subject to weather and it was consistently earning say 6 percent more, then that weather fluctuation could have no impact because weather couldn't cause a 6 percent change, or I don't think it could cause a 6 percent change, in its ROE.  So at the moment you have these two offsetting things going on.  You have consistent over-earning, then you have weather risk.  To some extent, that consistent over-earning mitigates some of the risk attached to having the utility subject to weather risk.  If you remove that weather risk then you can say, Ah, now we can crack down a little bit and see why it is they're over-earning and remove that, knowing that the downside for the utility of a warm winter and poor earnings has disappeared.  


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, anything?  


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Cass may have some re-examination.  Oh, I'm sorry, Mr. Janigan.  I'm so used to Mr. Cass.  


MR. JANIGAN:  I have no redirect, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  


All right.  I think that completes this witness.  We will break for lunch.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Dr. Booth.  


DR. BOOTH:  Thank you.



[Witness withdraws]


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:36 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:48 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Cass, where were we?


MR. CASS:  I think I was part‑way through my cross‑examination of this panel, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


HVAC COALITION - PANEL 1; RESUMED


Roger Grochmal; Previously Sworn


Michael Latreille; Previously Sworn


Glen Leis; Previously Sworn


Martin Luymes; Previously Sworn


Nancy McKeraghan; Previously Sworn

CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS (continued):

MR. CASS:  Panel, could I take you back, please, to the survey that we were speaking of yesterday, and, in particular, page 8 of Exhibit L26.


MR. LUYMES:  I have it.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  We were speaking yesterday about section 2, which is dealing with awareness of customer-referral programs.  That section of the survey indicates that 91 percent of respondents had heard of the EnergyLink program; is that right?


MR. LUYMES:  Correct.  Yes.


MR. CASS:  As I understand it, that 91 percent ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  Sorry.


MR. CASS:  That 91 percent was all but eight of 93 respondents; correct?


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.


MR. CASS:  Could I then, please, take you to item 3 of the survey, which is asking the people who are aware of the program how they first learned of it.  


Now, you will see there there is a category for "never heard of it", and there are two respondents in that category.


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  So as far as question 3 is concerned, only two out of 93 respondents had not heard of EnergyLink?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  It would appear that way, yes.


MR. CASS:  Can you help me with how that could be so, how eight people in question area 1 could say that they are not aware, and then two people in question area 3 could say that they're not aware?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm afraid I can't help you with how it would be that contractors would answer differently on two separate questions.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, if we were to go by question 3, by my calculation, if there were two out of 93 who were not aware of EnergyLink, that would mean that almost 98 percent of your members were aware of EnergyLink as of the first half of November when this survey was done.


MR. LUYMES:  That's probably right.  I would only add the caveat that there is the other 16 and we don't know what the reasons are.  That's the "other".  We discussed that earlier.  We don't know what their responses were.  We are going to undertake to find what those were.


MR. CASS:  Yes, exactly.  That was the element of the survey that we hadn't seen.  Yes, thank you.  


But subject to what may be seen in that document, if it's two out of 93 who haven't heard of EnergyLink as of the first half of November, then it's almost 98 percent that were aware of it?


MR. LUYMES:  Probably, yes.


MR. CASS:  And, in fairness, I think you have said in your evidence that you believe that Enbridge Gas Distribution has effectively communicated both the existence and the scope of EnergyLink; right?


MR. LUYMES:  I think we said that we believe Enbridge did a good job of communicating about the program.  I think we also said that we felt there was some confusion about the features and benefits of the program, which comes through in the evidence in the survey results.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, I thought I was just trying to repeat what was said at the top of page 4 of the evidence.  It is clear that Enbridge has effectively communicated both the existence and scope of --


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  Now, if we could then look at question 5 of the survey, that would be on page 9 of Exhibit L26.  This question is asking about enrolment status in the EnergyLink program.  You're with me on that?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  As I understand this, 89 people responded 

-- or 89 contractors responded to this question, and of the 89, 49 said that they had signed up?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  All right.  But then if one were to go to question 6, question area 6, on the same page, which is the top three reasons for choosing to participate, 65 people responded.  


Can you help me as to how you can have 49 people signed up under question area 5, and then have 65 people?


MR. LUYMES:  I expect that some of those might be companies who plan to sign or maybe are still deciding.  Again, we didn't jump them past that question, so I can't tell you why a contractor would say one thing in question 

-- the question immediately preceding, and then state the reasons for choosing it.


It could be that they're saying these are the reasons we might consider participating, but I can't speak to the individual contractors' thought processes in that area.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, perhaps I could help.  On pages 15 and 16, the actual detailed answers to that are found.  You will see that there are -- some of them say things like "not participating yet" or "still undecided".  


So it is clear that there's the matches because different people answer surveys in different way.


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  I should note that there is a preamble here to some of these questions saying, Well, if you are participating, please respond.  But, I mean, maybe people don't read the preamble very carefully.  


So we had the same in reverse when we asked contractors for the reasons for not participating.  A number of them responded to that question even though they should have skipped it.


MR. CASS:  Right.  We're going to come to that, yes.  In terms of the number of participants, do you know which is the better number as of today, the 65 who gave reasons for participating in area 6 or the 49 in area 5?


MR. LUYMES:  I don't know.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  As you've alluded to, under question area 8 at page 10, this question started out, "if you have not signed on to the EnergyLink program".  So that was to be responded to by people who have not signed on; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  You had 80 respondents to that question?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  That's right.


MR. CASS:  Right?  But if one were to go back to question area 5, in all of the categories of non‑participation, including those still deciding, it only adds up to 40 non‑participants; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  I think that if I recall correctly -- I could check on this, but I think there was a problem in the survey where companies who are participating couldn't get past this question without providing some response.  


I don't know if that was a flaw in the way it was structured.  It is an online survey, as I said.  It may be that the setting wasn't set up properly, but it seems, if we read the responses to that question, there are a number of people who say, Well, I have to respond here.  You need a response from me to get to the next question.  


I think there was a problem in the design there, that we didn't allow them to skip over that question.  I think that is why the number is inflated.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  Now, I understand that you say that 84 percent of contractors saw financing on the Enbridge bill as a benefit; is that right?


MR. LUYMES:  I think we said that 84 percent of respondents said that a reason for participating was ability to offer financing through the gas bill, yes.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  So they saw that as a benefit?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  And you would agree with me, then, that this notion of on‑bill financing - and by on‑bill, I mean on the Enbridge bill - is an attractive feature for a wide majority of contractors?


MR. LUYMES:  Sorry, could you repeat the question?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  This notion of financing on the Enbridge bill is an attractive feature for a wide majority of contractors?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  Certainly for the majority of the respondents to the survey, yes.


MR. CASS:  But you do say that contractors have made an incorrect assumption that EnergyLink participation is a requirement for bill access; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  In that regard, can I ask you to turn to question area 13 on page 11.


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, got it.


MR. CASS:  This question starts out by saying:  

"Here is a list of possible benefits of participating in the EnergyLink program."  


Are you with me there?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Then that's on page 11, and I think if you look over, you will see "ability to offer financing through customer utility bill" is one of the items in the list?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  So this survey is telling respondents that that is a possible benefit of participating in the EnergyLink program, isn't it?


MR. LUYMES:  This is a list of ‑‑ my understanding of the way the consultants set these questions up was a list of what we considered to be or what were reported to be some of the benefits that were communicated to contractors.  We simply asked them, you know:  Is this something that you're aware of that's a benefit that will be on the bill; yes or no?


So that response would show that 84 percent of them understood that ability to offer financing was a feature of the program.


MR. CASS:  Yes, but it was presented to them as a possible benefit of participating in the EnergyLink program; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, who did actually draft the questions?  Was it someone from your organization?  Or was it the company that did the survey?


MR. LUYMES:  It was a consultant.  Synergy Marketing.


MR. CASS:  Well, did you look at these questions to be sure that they were accurately conveying information to the respondents?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  And then another of the items in the list of possible benefits of participating in the EnergyLink program is access to demand side management programs; right?  


MR. LUYMES:  Right. 


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Now, nowhere does the survey ask respondents to the basic question as to whether, on balance, they think EnergyLink is good or bad.  Right?  


MR. LUYMES:  No, that's right.  


MR. CASS:  And nowhere does it is respondents whether they want the HVAC Coalition to oppose EnergyLink?  


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct.  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Luymes, have you ever been asked by any of your membership why these sorts of questions weren't asked in the survey?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  I recall being asked that question, once.  


MR. CASS:  When did that happen?  


MR. LUYMES:  At a meeting of the Toronto chapter when we -- when I did a presentation on the plans and the some of the survey results that -- we were having a discussion about EnergyLink.  The question was posed from one of our members in the audience, why we didn't simply put a question on the survey to say:  Do you or do you not support our position on EnergyLink?  So I recall being asked that question, yes.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  What was your response?  


MR. LUYMES:  My response was that we didn't ask that question and that the surest form of showing support for the position of the HVAC Coalition was to provide financial support.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to move on to an area where I hope that we are aligned, if I can say that.  I want to talk to you a little bit about fuel switching.  It's for anybody on the panel.  I take it you would agree with me that on an operating basis, a natural-gas water heater is more effective than an electric water heater?  More cost-effective.  


MR. LEIS:  Well, at the moment, I haven't read the latest study, a water heater is getting to the margins, but at the moment, yes, a natural-gas water heater is better. 


MR. CASS:  On an operating basis. 


MR. LEIS:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  But there is a more significant upfront capital cost for a gas water heater than an electric water heater, both in terms of the cost of the unit and installation.


MR. LEIS:  Very much so.  


MR. CASS:  Is there any disagreement on the -- among the members of the panel with the proposition that promoting fuel switching to reduce electricity load is a good thing for our province?  


MR. LEIS:  Yes, yes.  


MR. CASS:  So we're in agreement on that?  


MR. LEIS:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  


MR. LUYMES:  I have to say though, this is not something that we polled the HVAC Coalition board on so I think that would have to be a matter of, you know, personal opinions among the companies represented here.  


MR. LEIS:  I would also like to add, this came up yesterday, that under a smart meter regime, that all changes.  


MR. CASS:  That's fine, Mr. Leis, I just wanted to be sure that at least as far as the members of this panel is concerned, that we are aligned in our views of the benefits of fuel switching. 


MR. LEIS:  Yes, but that change is imminent; right?  


MR. CASS:  Well, I'm not here to speak about smart meters.  


MR. LUYMES:  I think it is fair to say, Mr. Cass, that the majority of the -- certainly the majority of our members, in the industry, have a gas bias.  It is what they do.  They employ gas technicians.  If we look -- we have members across the province who do various types of fuel, but the vast majority of them, I would say at least 90 to 95 percent do predominantly natural-gas work.  So I think it is fair to say it's in their best interest as companies to promote conversion.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  So it's not so much then the interests of the province in fuel switching, it is the business interests. 


MR. LUYMES:  It happens in this case the interests are presumably aligned with the utility and also with the province.  


MR. GROCHMAL:  There is one other factor.  Fuel switching requires, if you're going to go to electric heater as a source, you need to have electricians and the majority of HVAC contractors, my present partner here excepted, do not have electricians on staff.  So if you want to convert from a gas furnace to electric furnace to go the reverse direction, you need electricians.  So all of the guys, I mean your question is:  Do gas people favour gas?  The answer is yes.  


MR. CASS:  Let me just take an example of these electric fireplaces that seem to be everywhere now.  I don't know if any of you wander into a Canadian Tire store.  Have any of you been in an Canadian Tire store and see how prominent these electric fireplaces are now? 


MR. GROCHMAL:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  In fact, there are many different places selling them now. 


MR. LEIS:  You can pick them up almost anywhere. 


MR. CASS:  They're very inexpensive. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Some of them are, some of them are not.  Perhaps I could answer, Mike, I don't know how much you do.  


I would say that our fireplace business has grown tremendously.  We put a lot of time and effort.  We have a showroom.  We do display one electric fireplace, because there are customers who, for a variety of reasons, are unable to have a gas appliance, but we do carry it.  


It is far superior in so many ways than the knock-offs, if you would, that you would find that are just simply cash and carry you plug them into any outlet.  


I believe that in the last year and a half, we have sold one electric fireplace and it was only on application.  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  As you say, the knock-offs, they're very prevalent and can be very expensive and the customer just takes them home and plugs them in; right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Correct. 


MR. LATREILLE:  A lot of the big use we're seeing as well, Mr. Cass, and I can speak from first-hand experience, a lot of them are using them in cottages and guesthouses and things like that.  They do provide a minimal amount of heat.  Aesthetically, they can be nice, but are they as nice as a natural-gas fireplace?  Absolutely not.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Can we move on then to talk about the market distinction program, please.  


As I understand it, the market distinction program promotes its members as contractors of distinction.  Is that correct?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  But when this is done, it's not intended in any way to mean that other contractors not part of the program are not contractors of distinction?   


MR. LUYMES:  No.  In fact we explicitly say, wherever you know it makes sense to say this on the website and elsewhere, that this is -- we do not provide any sort of guarantee of quality.  In fact, as I mentioned yesterday, the real, I guess, central thrust of the website and the marketing program in general, is to try to educate consumers about making choices and discerning choices in the marketplace.  


And our contractor locator is meant to be an assist in that.  So you know, we don't tell people that non-members are not qualified.  We just say, these members, these companies who are members, we know that they're qualified.  


But the important message is, ask these questions before you choose a contractor.  


MR. CASS:  And Ms. McKeraghan, you have referred in your evidence to the fact that these members are, seen to be qualified contractors.  Right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Could you point me to a page here?  


MR. CASS:  Would you turn up page -- 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Section 9?  


MR. CASS:  -- 28 of Exhibit L26, please.   


MS. McKERAGHAN:  What tab?  


MR. LUYMES:  15.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Okay, I'm sorry, could you repeat the question.  


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I think you indicated this in your oral testimony as well, I didn't realize it would be contentious.  


You have indicated that the market distinction program asserts that the contractors are qualified contractors.  Right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.  In other words, they have the applicable licences, the registrations through each provincial body that they must carry to conduct business in whatever province they are, plus applicable insurances.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  But there is no implication in that that somebody who is not part of the market distinction program is not qualified.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Correct.  But, however, I perhaps could clarify and there seems to be some contention here, and that is that, all of our members are part of the MDP program.  All of them are.  So in other words, if you looked to HRAC, you know automatically that their credentials have been ascertained, provided, verified, that they do that.  So it's not as if someone else could come and be a member of the MDP program.  They may be qualified but they're not a member of that per se because they're not a member of our association.  It's an association referral program, if you would.  


MR. CASS:  Oh, okay.  Sorry, so they could be just as qualified or even better qualified, but they can't belong if they're not a member of your association. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  That's correct.  And just, if I could -- Enbridge, in the past, has actually verified that.  Here is an ad that they put in the Toronto Star a while ago about carbon monoxide, and here they put:  

"For a qualified heating contract, call your home heating service provider.  Check your phone book or visit www.hrac.ca."


They have been very clear to indicate, when they have endorsed this program, that there are other options, and yet on their materials that they have provided under the EnergyLink program, they have not made that same distinction.


MR. CASS:  Union Energy Limited Partnership provided an exhibit that included some pages from the HRAC website.  It is Exhibit K9.8.


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure if we have that.


MR. CASS:  Do you have that?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure that we have it.  Maybe if we could see it on the screen?


MR. CASS:  Unfortunately, there are not page numbers in Exhibit K9.8.  The pages from the HRAC website are, I think, the third item in the document.  They're separated in the hard copy by blue pages.  


I am looking at the first page of the third item.


MR. GROCHMAL:  The computer doesn't have a...


MR. KAISER:  We have it.


MR. LUYMES:  Got it.


MR. CASS:  So looking at the first page of these -- can you just confirm for me, actually, Mr. Luymes?  I only have these by reason of Union Energy having provided it.  Are these in fact pages from the website?


MR. LUYMES:  That looks correct, yes.  I would have to check the ‑‑


MS. McKERAGHAN:  That's off the HRAI website, not the HRAC website.


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, that's right.  Yes, this one ‑‑


MR. GROCHMAL:  Both.


MR. LUYMES:  We have both here, yes.  The first page we are looking at here is from the HRAI website.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  So on that first page, it says that:

"The Market Distinction Program promotes members in the marketplace as contractors of distinction."


We've talked about that, and then it says "through traditional media."  What sort of promotion occurs through traditional media?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, primarily we -- because of our very modest budget, we have an arrangement through News Canada.  We develop advertorial, for lack of a better term, advertorial content.  We put it out through this service, News Canada, and we hope for uptake on the part of mostly community newspapers across the country.


So we've had some pretty good success with that.  We do that because that is kind of advice we got from a marketing consultant some years ago that you get a lot of bang for your buck using a tool like that.  


We do find that because it has the association name on it, that there is some pretty significant uptake among community newspapers across the country, and it allows us to have a much wider reach than we would have if we placed advertisements in those same periodicals.


Some of our chapters have supplemented that by taking out local advertisements, promoting their -- the members in their own area, and sometimes they do that to coincide with an article that is being placed in the local periodical.


Other than that, we do not do radio ads, television, or anything like that.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, the next paragraph refers to some other things, advertising templates, logos free of charge, truck decals, consumer pamphlets.  Are those all things that the Marketplace Distinction Program does?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  Basically, the message there is we give contractors some tools that they can use to help distinguish themselves by using the association with the ‑‑ thank you, Nancy.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I have a couple of samples of ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  One of the things, for example, we provide, this is an old one, but ‑‑


MS. McKERAGHAN:  No.  This is the commercial contractor one.


MR. LUYMES:  This is the old one, though; right?  It is a residential focus.  It is just a brochure that we encourage our members to carry with them.  As Ms. McKeraghan pointed out, on occasion, if you're making -- on a sales call, you might say to the customer, Look, you know, we know you're going to consider multiple quotes on this job.  One thing to ask is, Do they have the appropriate qualifications?


This pamphlet really goes through all of the sorts of things that a home owner should ask of a company.  And among them, at the end, we say -- well, the very tail end message is -- we already ask our members a lot of these questions, so by asking them if they're an HRAC member, you can check off these items.  You already know that they're qualified, that they meet certain regulatory requirements, but we also suggest that they check for insurance, ask for references, talk about the contract.  


In other words, we try to educate the homeowner on how they should be interacting with the contractor.


And some contractors, such as Canco Climate Care, use this to good effect, basically saying, I don't mind competing with others provided that they can meet these same standards. 


So we encourage our members to use these.  They purchase these pamphlets.  We actually provide them at a -- simply on a cost-recovery basis; same with the truck decals and other materials that they use to identify themselves.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if it would be useful if that was filed as an exhibit.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.


MR. LUYMES:  We can undertake to provide -- there is a more recent version of this.  It's been updated just in the last year.  We have one here, so how do we do that?


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K12.6.



EXHIBIT NO. K12.6:  BROCHURE.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Still looking at Exhibit K9.8, Could I ask you to go, I think it is, seven pages in at the part of this document we have been looking at?


MR. LUYMES:  What would the heading be?


MR. CASS:  Right at the very top of mine it says, "HRAC contractor excellence in action", page 1 of 2.


MR. LUYMES:  Okay.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Now, in the lower ‑‑ sorry?


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  In the lower left corner of this page, there is a drop-down menu.  Do you see that?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  If one were to click on this drop-down menu, there's a number of categories to choose from; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Correct, yes.


MR. CASS:  Some of those are non‑energy items, such as duct cleaning and plumbing; right?


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct, yes.


MR. CASS:  There are other energy items that are not gas‑related, such as electric heating, oil heating and propane heating; right?


MR. LUYMES:  That are non-gas-related, yes, that's right.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  And then there are gas-related areas, as well?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  That's correct, yes.


MR. CASS:  Among the gas categories are products like water heaters, ranges and dryers; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Subject to check.  I don't know that we put ranges and dryers in there.  In fact, I'm not sure that we do.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I think we had added ‑‑ sorry, I think we had added to our categories - that was basically following one of our meetings with Enbridge - to include gas piping.  A lot of our members do do that, but we hadn't included a specific category for gas piping.


MR. LUYMES:  Let's just say this is an evolving ‑‑ I can't say today whether we have that, but it's an evolving thing.  Until a few years ago, we didn't have indoor air quality.  We didn't have duct cleaning.


There's a number of other services that our members came to us and said, Well, we do this.  Could you identify it on the website and have us so identified?  


So we have made changes.  I can't tell you right now that non-heating-related gas appliances are listed, so they may or may not be.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Does the MDP have a system to track the hits or leads that arise in each of these categories, the non-energy related, the non-gas related and the gas related?


MR. LUYMES:  I think we do.  Can I -- subject to checking.  Can I say we'll look into that?  I know that we track the number of times a company appears.  I know that we track the number of times the visitor goes to a particular website.  I'm sure like any website, if we dug deep, we could find the individual request types.  


So I think we do, but I don't know whether we actually compile and tabulate statistics on that.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Given that you're not terribly sure of the ground here, I would take it this isn't something that you regularly monitor?


MR. LUYMES:  No.


MR. CASS:  All right.


MR. LUYMES:  No.  The main thing we monitor is the amount of ‑‑ actually, we don't do a lot of monitoring as an association.  We encourage our members to monitor their own activity on the site, the number of times their company is seen or visited -- our website is visited.  That's our preference.  We don't have someone who tracks this on a regular basis.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I had printed off my list this morning before I came, so this is what I would get as a contractor, that:  Here's the month, the dates.  Here's the number of impressions; in other words, the number of times my company name came up on that random file that a customer might choose.  These are the number of click-throughs that they have actually gone to my website.


As a contractor, my responsibility is to ask the question when a customer calls me, How did you get my company name?  Where did you find us?  


So I don't have -- when they call or when they come through I have no indication, in terms of what service that they have actually asked about or are calling me about until they request it themselves. 


MR. CASS:  Do you have thousands of click-throughs like Mr. Latreille?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I don't have thousands of click-throughs.  Part of that is because our website was not very good.  It's been improved.  But since the program started we've had 542, and since the -- our website has been vastly improved, we notice we're getting more click-throughs.  


MR. CASS:  You said since the program started.  When would that have been?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  The program started in -- 


MR. LUYMES:  No.  That is not accurate.  That is when we started tracking the numbers.  Four years ago.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  So this particular track starts in February of 2003.  


MR. CASS:  That has 500-and-some on it, did you say?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  542.  


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  At an association level, then, given what you have said, Mr. Luymes, about tracking, I take it that you are not able to track how many hits on the MDP resulted in added gas load and how many resulted in DSM opportunities?  


MR. LUYMES:  No, that's not part of the mandate of our program, so we have not done that.  I should say, though, we did have some discussion about that with Enbridge, about whether or not that was a technical possibility, and I think there are some ways that we could explore that.  So that's something we did explore.  


At the time we established this website, the guidance we got from our board was they really didn't have any interest in us digging too deeply into this stuff.  They just saw it as a nice kind of ancillary benefit as I mentioned yesterday, to them being a member.  


So what we currently do is one thing and what we might do is another thing. 


MR. CASS:  All right.  Let's move on from that, then.  What are the criteria used to pre-screen contractors for the MDP?  


MR. LUYMES:  We, when a company applies for membership, they fill in a form that indicates -- it is quite a long form, about a page long, and they check off a whole bunch of different boxes indicating the types of services they provide.  We categorize by installation, new installation service, and replacement.  


We break it down by commercial-industrial, small commercial-residential, and then we talk about natural-gas heating, air-conditioning, refrigeration, duct cleaning, all of the things we mentioned before.  It is quite a long list of services.  Every time they check off a box, we have a compendium of regulations that apply province by province for contractors.  And we apply that to what the contractor tells us about their business.  If they say they do residential air-conditioning in the province of Ontario, we ask them to show the refrigeration mechanics' licences.   If they say they do new-home construction in the province of Ontario, forced-air heating, we ask them to show their sheet metal mechanics' licences.  If they say they do gas heating, we ask for TSSA certification, and for gas technician certification for their employees.  If they say they do oil heating, we ask for oil-burner mechanics' licences, so on and so on. 


In addition to that, we ask them for proof of liability insurance.  We ask them for WSIB coverage unless they're exempt as a sole proprietor, and - am I missing anything - we ask them to agree to our code of ethics.  


MR. CASS:  And if, through the website, customers -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I hate to interrupt.  I keep doing it, but I am not sure it was clear whether Mr. Luymes was answering the question:  What are the qualifications for MDP or what are the qualifications to be a member of HRAC.  


MR. LUYMES:  They are the same.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's an ambiguity there. 


MR. LUYMES:  To make it clear the point that Ms. McKeraghan made earlier, they're the same thing.  Once they are a member of HRAC, they're on the MDP program.  Whether they're aware of it or not.  


MR. CASS:  That was my understanding, yes.  


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  


MR. CASS:  If through the website customers are going to be referred to particular contractors, it's important to your own organization to know that the contractors meet certain standards; right?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  And that's got nothing to do with wanting to control the contractors, it is just setting appropriate standards for members of your organization.  Right?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  Yes.  To clarify too, though, that the -- from the standpoint of policy, the reason we require our members to meet those criteria are not because we have a program called the MDP.  


Our board of directors felt it is important for any legitimate contractor -- not in the province of Ontario, but anywhere in Canada, to meet those minimal requirements.  So that is the standard of membership for the association and it happens that a benefit of that is that we can, with some confidence, refer them to consumers in the marketplace.  


MR. CASS:  Right.  


MR. LUYMES:  It's not driven by our desire to, you know, match consumers up to contractors.  


MR. CASS:  No, I didn't mean to suggest it was driven by that.  But if you did not have these standards in place for your membership -- 


MR. LUYMES:  We wouldn’t have a MDP program, right.  


MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you just at this point, how long have you had this quality control program in force?  Has it always been part of the association?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  It was introduced to us through some pain and suffering about a little less than 10 years ago.  And I can say that because I have been with the association for just under 12 years, I guess it is.  And when it was introduced, we had a lot of contractors who resisted it.  Not resisted the idea or they just -- they resented that HRAI would say to them, Now, you have to show us that you have the trade qualifications, the licences, and so we allowed a period of three years for contractors to first of all get comfortable with the idea that we could or should ask them for those -- for that documentation.  And then to get it.  


One of the results of that was, we terminated -- ended up having to terminate the membership of probably somewhere between 50 and 70 contractors who, for whatever reason, just chose not to provide that data.  So, yes...


MR. KAISER:  Did you add any additional fees or it just came with the membership fees?  


MR. LUYMES:  It just came with the membership fees. 


MR. KAISER:  And your rationale for doing this, ten or 12 years ago, whenever it was, was there was a quality-control problem that you saw?  


MR. LUYMES:  Well, there is a couple of things, in that, you know, without going to the history of the politics of it, but there was some politics at the time in the province of Ontario, specifically where two-thirds of our members reside, where HRAI wasn't taken as seriously as we would like.  We had a particular agenda at that time to convince the Ministry of Training Colleges and Universities to adapt the trade requirements for the residential contracting business to better suit the needs of contractors who do residential air-conditioning, many of whom are unlicensed.  


We wanted to create a subset of that trade, the current refrigeration mechanics trade, to create a subset specifically for residential, which we felt the training obligations for a technician working in the residential field only should be less.  


We also knew that the Ministry of Labour, at that time, was not enforcing the trade at all.  When we made that argument to the MTCU, they said, Well, you're just making the arguments on behalf of all of these unlicensed contractors.  We said, No, that's not the case.  But we didn't have any way of proving it.  So we thought the time is right, as an association, to make sure, just to make sure that our members, at the very least, are not illegal contractors.  


So all of the requirements we impose with the exception of the insurance requirement and code of ethics, they're all legal requirements for any contractor to be in business in the jurisdiction in which they operate. 


MR. KAISER:  Have you always had this code of ethics?  


MR. LUYMES:  The code of ethics was also adopted at that time. 


MR. KAISER:  At the same time?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes. 


MR. KAISER:  Who is the MTCU?  


MR. LUYMES:  Ontario Ministry of Training Colleges and Universities, which regulates the construction trades.  


MR. KAISER:  Do you continue to have a dialogue 

with -- 


MR. LUYMES:  Well, as a result of the change in our policy, we succeeded in developing a residential trade for the refrigeration and air-conditioning -- for air-conditioning contractors, because after that time, we could say we legitimately represent a substantial number of residential contractors who comply with the law.  


So that bought us a seat at the table, if I could put it that way, and eventually they agreed to our proposal.  So that was really kind of the single impetus behind it.  It became, then, I guess within our board, we had the conversation and they said, Well, why would we not do this? There is no reason why we shouldn't.  Even though they understood there would be some pain and suffering among some of our existing members that didn't like the idea that:  I was a member in good standing last year and now you're telling me I need to show you all of this documentation.  Some of them did it quite readily and had no issue, others a little bit less so.  Some of those members, I should add, left and eventually came back.  


MR. KAISER:  How many members do you have now?  


MR. LUYMES:  A little over 800 across the country. 


MR. KAISER:  How expensive is it to join? 


MR. LUYMES:  The dues for membership range from $305 at the low end for a company with fewer than ten employees, and it ranges all the way up to I think maybe four or five thousand dollars for a large company on the size of Direct Energy, let's say for example, being at the larger end.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Do you annually confirm that the contractors have their licences and insurance up to date?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, we do.


MR. CASS:  And when contractors participate in the MDP, market distinction program, you don't have a problem with customers getting confused between what HRAC is and who the contractor is, do you?


MR. LUYMES:  I don't think there is any such confusion.


MR. CASS:  No.  There is no such confusion.


MR. LUYMES:  No, there is no such confusion.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  I assume that HRAC takes steps to protect itself from liability with respect to claims that may arise from the work of these contractors?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, we do.


MR. CASS:  So what does HRAC do?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, there's a couple of things.  One is the contractors have to disclaim -- I don't know what the exact legal expression is, but disclaim our responsibility.


When a visitor to the website is looking for a contractor, you can see at the very bottom left-hand corner of that same page they have to click a box that says "I have read and agree with the licence agreement."  If they haven't read it, they click on that, actually.  It doesn't show it is an underlying thing.  


They have to click on it and read through, just like you do when you are purchasing software or other such things online, read all the -- not a lot of fine print, but about a page of text.  If they agree to that, basically it says, We're not holding HRAI or HRAC responsible for the work done by the contractors that we choose.


MR. CASS:  And the contractors are required to have $2 million of liability-insurance coverage?


MR. LUYMES:  Correct, yes.


MR. CASS:  You think that is sufficient insurance ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  That is a matter that our board reviews periodically, along with all of the rest of our requirements.  In fact, that is also a discussion point that we have had as a result of our conversations with Enbridge around EnergyLink, was whether or not ‑‑ in fact, our insurance provider that we deal with regularly -- we have a group program for our members that we refer them to if they don't have insurance.


If they apply for membership, for example, and they don't have coverage, we advise them that they need to have it and we hook them up with a broker, if they're interested.  They have been advising us for a number of years that we should probably up our level to $5 million.


MR. CASS:  I see.  So you have given consideration to raising it to 5 million?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, we have.


MR. CASS:  But that hasn't been done yet?


MR. LUYMES:  It has not.


MR. CASS:  The MDP has a complaint resolution process, does it?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  How does that work?


MR. LUYMES:  It works on the basis of a home owner who has engaged one of our members and has a complaint.  It's kind of identified on the website.  Again, they can download the form.  They have to submit a complaint in writing for it to be considered.


We have a series of, I think, six or seven steps that we follow.  The first step is really just to advise the contractor that an issue has been raised.  In terms of what we do about the ‑‑ we ‑‑ I don't think we have ever actually intervened between the customer and the contractor.  


Our approach is that we advise the contractor that there is an issue and they should take care of it.


The contractor obviously has an opportunity to submit in writing to us what their version of the story is.


MR. CASS:  Can I just interrupt you?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  What is the time period for that?


MR. LUYMES:  I would have to check on that.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I believe that somewhere in this evidence, if someone could help me, that there is a section.  I know that when I read through this prior to the hearing, that there was a section that gave that information.


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.  It was a response to an interrogatory.  I think that we did file -- now that I think of it, we did file the complaints process.


I don't know.  The overall period is probably several months, and the ultimate ‑‑ I'm sorry, if you could maybe find the interrogatory.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reference is Exhibit I, tab 30, schedule 19, so HVAC's response to Enbridge's IR 19.


MR. LUYMES:  What's the number, Jay?  There it is, yes, that's it.


MR. CASS:  All right.  So I think that speaks for itself.


In the event that a complaint needs to be resolved, does it end up being contractors resolving a dispute with another contractor?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure what you mean.  You mean who makes the decision on the ultimate disposition of the thing?


MR. CASS:  Yes, in the ultimate step of the process.


MR. LUYMES:  Okay.  If it gets to the point where it has to be referred to our executive committee, then, yes, it is a group of contractors who are making the decision about that contractor, and the ultimate decision that could be made is that that contractor is expelled from membership.  Of course, we have no other stick to apply other than revoking their membership.


When and if a contractor who sits on our executive committee feels that they have a conflict of interest because they know the contractor in question, they remove themselves from that process, and/or, if the contractor in question has a concern about the objectivity of the executive committee, they can ask for a group of their peers to be formed to review the complaint.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  If I could take a small exception to your word "resolve", I believe that you will see, through our complaint process, that the word ‑‑ I don't believe the word "resolve" comes up everywhere.


Our association, if you read the disclaimer, et cetera, does not claim, if you would, to be a mediator to solve problems or resolve problems where there, I say -- I guess is a legitimate complaint, and to encourage our member to solve the problem without having interference from us.


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  We place the onus fully on the contractor to resolve the problem, and if it appears to our executive committee that they have not done a sufficient job of resolving the complaint with their customer, then that could be the grounds for being removed from membership.


MR. KAISER:  Have you ever done that?


MR. LUYMES:  We have -- I think on two or three occasions, it's come to that point, and in each case I guess the problem for us was resolved before it became a problem, because the contractors chose not to renew their membership. 


We have an annual renewal, and at the time that their renewal went out, they just chose not to renew, I guess because they were offended by the outcome.


MR. KAISER:  You have never actually had to take the step of kicking somebody out of the association?


MR. LUYMES:  No, no, we haven't.


MR. KAISER:  Terminating their membership?


MR. LUYMES:  No.


MR. CASS:  There are quite a number of other locator services for HVAC contractors; right?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure I would say quite a number.  I would say there are a couple of commercial programs that I am aware of.  I'm not sure how successful they are.  Then, of course, there is manufacturer locators, yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, what were the commercial ones you were referring to?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, I heard of others.  In fact, every now and then we get approached by one or another commercial operations that says -- gopro.com I think was one - I don't even know if they exist anymore - who wanted to bring on all of our members onto their program, but we discovered they don't have any kind of qualifying criteria.  It was simply a commercial service, like a Yellow Pages-type arrangement.  So that wasn't acceptable for our purposes.  


I don't know if any of those organizations have any success, to be honest.


MR. CASS:  Coleman Heating & Air‑Conditioning has a locator service?


MR. LUYMES:  There are, as I said, a number of manufacturers that would have locator services.


MR. CASS:  Rheem Home Comfort Solutions; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  Goodman Air Conditioning and Heating; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  I suppose, yes.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  A lot of those, if ‑‑ just to clarify, there are a number of manufacturers who are what we call dealer networks.  And in my experience, it would be a dealer network manufacturer who would be more likely to have a locator than one who sells to a wholesaler.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Comfortmaker Air Conditioning & Heating has one?


MR. LUYMES:  I think, subject to check, yes.


MR. LATREILLE:  I think Comfortmaker is Carrier?


MR. CASS:  You would have to tell me, sir.


MR. LUYMES:  Comfortmaker is a line of products ‑‑


MS. McKERAGHAN:  It's a wholesale brand.


MR. LUYMES:  -- produced by Carrier, yes.


MR. CASS:  Armstrong Air has one?


MR. LUYMES:  Also the same, yes.


MR. CASS:  OPA has one in conjunction with HRAI?


MR. LUYMES:  That's correct, yes.


MR. CASS:  The Hearth, Patio and Barbeque Association has one?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  York Products and Services?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Bryant Heating and Cooling?


MR. LATREILLE:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Miles Fireplaces or Valor Flame?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Lennox Home Comfort Systems, it has one and it has some people who are premier dealers and some who are not; is that right?


MR. LATREILLE:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Heat & Glo Fireplaces has one; right?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  It ranks contractors by platinum dealer of distinction, gold dealer of distinction and silver dealer of distinction; right?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  And Carrier has one that has special categories for dealer of distinction; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  And I assume those of you representing companies, you would be on a number of these locator services?


MR. LATREILLE:  Correct.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Correct.


MR. CASS:  Mrs. McKeraghan, I think Canco is on Coleman, it's on York, it's on Miles Fireplaces or Valor Flame?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  It's on Heat & Glo Fireplaces?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.  It is on Equal Air.  We've got a variety of products.  It's on the Amaircare site.


MR. CASS:  It's on something called Gold Book?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes.  That is a purchase.  That's like a Yellow Pages.  It is through Metroland Publishing.  It is a new site, so when you purchase your "yellow page" advertising in the gold book, you get a listing on the, on their comparable website.  


MR. CASS:  And what these locator services do or have the potential to do is generate leads; right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Potentially. 


MR. LUYMES:  That's their purpose, yes.  


MR. CASS:  Once the contractor gets the lead, the contractor has the opportunity to build the customer relationship; right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  No.  I will beg to differ.  


On all of those sites that you listed, we have no idea; in other words, we are not given a lead.  


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.  I said once you get the lead.  If you get a lead --


MS. McKERAGHAN:  What I am trying to explain to you is that all of those sites you just quoted that our company is on, there is no connection, in other words, we are not notified as a company that we got a lead.  We're not notified that someone is contacting us.  It’s the customer's option, after getting the referrals, if you would, whether or not they wish to contact our company.  


MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  I was using the lead, the word “lead” in the sense of a customer contacting you, I'm sorry for the terminology. 


Once the customer contacts Canco, you then have the opportunity to build the customer relationship.  Right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  We certainly hope so. 


MR. CASS:  Right.  And contractors could choose to advertise in the Yellow Pages or not as they wish?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes. 


MR. LUYMES:  And they do, yes. 


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I would take it that at least in certain areas, contractors may well decide that for business reasons, they need to be in the Yellow Pages.  Right?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  Most do.  


MR. CASS:  And that doesn't mean they're being coerced, does it? 


MR. LUYMES:  No. 


MR. CASS:  It's just they need to be there; right?


MR. LUYMES:  They need to be there?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I think you will find that is a matter of interpretation.  Certainly I know of a number of contractors who have absolutely stopped that type of advertising and concentrated on building a relationship with their existing customers rather than trying to go out and get new ones.  


MR. LUYMES:  There's a value proposition around the Yellow Pages, in particular, their contractors have been debating for some time, the requirement to be listed for any heating and air-conditioning contractor probably in six or seven different categories means it is pretty hefty bill for the amount of business that might come their way.  


So I would suggest that most contractors look at that on an annual basis as, you know, on the value proposition for what they're getting for their dollar. 


MR. CASS:  That's fine.  But for those who decide they need to be there for business reasons, that doesn't mean they're being coerced, does it? 


MR. LUYMES:  No.  


MR. CASS:  Now, a number of the witnesses have referred to something that was called the Authorized Dealer Network at one time.  


I don't know who can help with these questions, but you would appreciate that at the time Consumers Gas had an Authorized Dealer Network, it was actually in the business of renting water heaters.  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, it was. 


MR. CASS:  And it needed to have installers and service people for the rental-water-heater business.  Right?  


MR. LEIS:  Hmm-hmm. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Yes. 


MR. CASS:  Similarly, it sold natural-gas appliances.  


MR. LATREILLE:  Yes, it did.  


MR. LATREILLE:  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  And it needed to have installers for natural-gas appliances?  


MR. LEIS:  They would, yes. 


MR. CASS:  It had something called the HIP program that provided a program for service on natural-gas equipment.  Right?  


MR. LEIS:  Yes, it did, and that still exists with Direct Energy. 


MR. LATREILLE:  Only with selected contractor, Mr. Cass.  It was not available to all contractors in the region. 


MR. CASS:  But again, people would be needed to provide the service under the HIP program. 


MR. LATREILLE:  Correct. 


MR. CASS:  And that was the context that existed at the time of the Authorized Dealer Network?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Again, I would take exception with that.  I was an authorized dealer.  However, as an authorized dealer, I was not one of the companies that was chosen, in other words you -- there was a process whereupon you applied to be an installing company.  


So all authorized dealers were not available or could not do the service work, could not do the HIP program, could not do those types of things.  They were what we call prime contractors who were chosen out of the Authorized Dealer Network, if you would, to perform certain tasks.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well, I didn't -- that wasn't the intent of my question.  My question was just to confirm that the situation we've just agreed upon, I think with the witnesses about the businesses that Consumers Gas was in at the time, that was the context of the Authorized Dealer Network.  Right?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Subject to my clarification.  Yes.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  And Enbridge Gas Distribution is no longer in those businesses; right?  


MR. LUYMES:  Not today, no.  


MR. LEIS:  No.  


MR. CASS:  And I take it the reason that a number of witnesses on this panel have brought forward these comments about the Authorized Dealer Network is that your attitude to EnergyLink is being affected by your views of the Authorized Dealer Network; is that right?  


MR. LATREILLE:  No.  I would have to disagree with that, Mr. Cass.  


Holmes Heating was part of the organization Authorized Dealer Network.  We were also a prime service contractor for years and years and years.  What we did is we looked at the EnergyLink program as a stand-alone program and said, Is there a benefit to a company like Holmes Heating to participates in this?  


And based on the limited amount of information that we were given when we first had our first referral system with Enbridge, it turned out that we just felt there was not enough information for us to sign any kind of an agreement or intent until we had more information.  


So, no, I would say from Holmes Heating perspective, not everything that we did under the authorized program was bad.  There was some very good things came out of the program.  So, no I am not – personally, from Holmes Heating perspective, I am not prejudiced because of the old Authorized Dealer Network.  I am looking at EnergyLink as I a stand-alone program, as to what's being put into place today.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  What about the other witnesses, is there any, any witness on the panel whose views of EnergyLink are affected by their views of what happened with the Authorized Dealer Network?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  I could say that to some extent mine are.  


The biggest one is -- and I go back to one of the things you did not mention in your preamble was the availability of on-bill financing, for example.  


So we provided financing.  We also installed rental water heaters and turned those customers over to the gas company.  


They subsequently sold their business to Direct Energy for I would assume a relatively handsome profit, for which the dealers get no compensation for.  We turned over the business.  


All of these -- the HIP program started very innocently many years ago.  And became a huge program.  And so when you look at the history, is this the thin edge of the wedge?  Is this, Enbridge now -- because Enbridge doesn't tell us all of the things that we need to know, as Mr. Latreille said with respect to Holmes Heating.  We don't know all of the plans of the company.  We just know what we see in front of us and that may not be the whole story that we're being asked to evaluate on.  So all that we do know is looking back.  Our past.  


And we use that to gauge some of the future.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  Well -- 


MR. LUYMES:  Can I just add one comment, just a very quick one I think it is also worth noting from our survey and anecdotally too.  A number of contractors have responded positively to the EnergyLink program because they had a positive experience with the dealer network.  So there were those companies who, in some cases, may have even struggled in the intervening years to generate business for themselves who heartily welcome back the utility into the business because they see an opportunity to have business generated for them by a third party.  


So we've seen some of that, we have seen some of the comments in the survey and certainly, as I said, anecdotally some positive reaction to this, because people in the past have had a positive experience with the dealer network.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  I apologize for putting this so crassly but I just want to, if I can, come right to the point.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Can I comment on --


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I didn't have an opportunity to respond to your question.  


I take a look at what I see to date with the EnergyLink program and I see the customer, and I see the contractor, and I see the utility in the middle.  


In my mind, that goes back to the Consumers Gas Authorized Dealer Network.  Currently how it works is:  Here's the utility.  Here is the customer, and the contractor is the conduit between those two services.  I believe that that is the better way.  I think that the utility's job is to fill the pipe and to have programs to assist people in terms of making a wise energy choice.  


And I think it is up to the contractor community to link the customer with the appropriate product that's going to get that achieved achievement.  


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Well, again, I apologize for putting this so crassly, but so that we can come right to the point.  


Is this panel really not just the coalition of people with grievances against Enbridge Gas Distribution?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I would say absolutely not.  I think, I have a wonderful relationship with a lot of the Enbridge employees, for sure.  I work on a number of committees with them.  


They're in and out of our office for a variety of it things. We have dealt very well with a lot of the programs and incentives, as I indicated before.  We have attended many workshops.  Absolutely not.  


MR. CASS:  All right.  


MR. LEIS:  I concur actually.  Right now we're a big proponent of Energy Star, and Enbridge has been very supportive.  We even have meetings at Enbridge facilities, so we do have a good working relationship with Enbridge.


MR. LUYMES:  I think if you looked at our chapters, Mr. Latreille is involved in the national capital chapter and Ms. McKeraghan is formerly a president of the Toronto chapter; have worked very, very cooperatively with the utility.


I gave the example yesterday of the industry council.  We lent our full support to that group and have had a great deal of success working hand in hand with the utility, particularly in the last five years, so much so that, you know, we assisted in developing marketing plans.  We have been involved in DSM initiatives.  


We have -- you know, the utility, conversely, has provided support for the MDP program.  So think it is not right to characterize ‑‑ and a number of us at this table have been involved in all of those discussions, so I don't think it is fair to say there are any grievances here.  


I think what we are seeing is perhaps some people who have had the opportunity to look at the bigger picture and maybe consider some of the implications, and maybe just spend more time thinking through some of the details, at least in the case of Ms. McKeraghan and myself, having had the conversation with the program designers of EnergyLink, taking a good hard look at the program; come to the conclusion that we need to be very cautious about proceeding with a program like this.  


So that is, I think, a more fair characterization of why we're here.


MR. CASS:  Well, your evidence does say that there are contractors who are strongly positive about EnergyLink.


MR. LUYMES:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  Now, given that there are these other contractors that are strongly positive, can anyone on this panel come up with anything positive to say about EnergyLink?


MR. LUYMES:  We said clearly, I think, that we have no problem with the utility spending millions of dollars of ratepayer dollars.  That's up to the ratepayer groups to consider whether it is a wise use of ratepayer dollars more than our issue.


We think it is a good idea that the utility spends money promoting natural gas in the marketplace.  We have never opposed that.  We welcome these programs when they come.


What we have a problem with is the methodology in this case.  It would appear to us that the utility is going far beyond simply promoting the virtues of natural gas.  They're saying, We need to insert ourselves into the relationship between customers and contractors, and that is where our members are taking issue.


MR. CASS:  I wasn't asking about promoting natural gas.  In light of the fact that there are contractors who are out there who are strongly positive, I was inviting the members of this panel whether they can come up with anything positive to say about EnergyLink.


MR. LATREILLE:  I thought we just answered part of that.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I thought that was just asked and answered.


MR. LUYMES:  Let's just say maybe the marketing aspect, if you want to talk about marketing aspect.  Should the utility be spending money on radio ads and billboards and television?  I don't know what else is in the pipeline, but I think most of our members would say that is fantastic.  That helps us.


But it's the operational details of the program I think that people have an issue with.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Luymes, yesterday at transcript pages 174 to 175, you said it would be fair to say that there might be some room for consideration of how the program might be improved --


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. CASS:  -- in connection with EnergyLink.  So if you were looking as to how it might be improved, what are the elements that you would accept and build on in order to improve it?


MR. LUYMES:  I don't think we're in a position here today to talk about all of that.


I can say that we made an effort, on behalf of the people who asked us to do this on behalf of HRAC, to sit down with the utility and spend a great deal of time with the program designers and try to think of some ways that we could work together and take out some of the -- what we consider to be offensive elements.


And as I think I also testified yesterday, that discussion didn't yield anything positive from our standpoint.  There was no -- no change in the design of the program to accommodate the sorts of things we were raising.


MR. CASS:  Right.  But as of yesterday, you did say that there might be some room for consideration of how the program might be improved.  So can you take that away and get back to us on --


MR. LUYMES:  Sure.  Oh, no ‑‑


MR. CASS:  -- the program, how to improve it?


MR. LUYMES:  You mean in time for the close of this hearing?


MR. CASS:  Yes.


MR. LUYMES:  I think that would require a process that we may not be able to start and end in that kind of a time frame.  Are we willing to work with the utility to many improve the program?  Absolutely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, why doesn't the witness see what he can do in terms of helping Mr. Cass, and if the undertaking can't be a full answer, it can be at least what he is capable of providing in a reasonable time.


MR. LUYMES:  We can undertake to do that.


MR. CASS:  Just for clarity as to what I was asking for, again, I would like to see the elements of the program that you would build on to create these improvements that you would like to see, and then describe the improvements.


MR. LUYMES:  All right.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Just on that point, maybe one of the issues, but I think I heard this this afternoon and I am looking at this survey at page 10.  The largest concern that your members had with this program, 47 percent of them said the utility may use this program as a stepping stone for other HVAC activities.  


I think heard you, sir, make remarks similar to that.  I don't know what the other HVAC activities are that you are concerned about, but when you are giving this some thought, maybe you could consider what assurances, if that is an issue - and it would appear to be an issue on the part of your members - what assurances you need from the utility that that is not their intent.  Maybe it is their intent.  I don't know.


But if that is one of the issues, presumably you could turn your mind to it?


MR. LUYMES:  I think we can consider that and be a little bit more specific about that.  I think the experience not just of this group, but with the industry in general, is that sometimes what happens is what the intention is in year 1 may not be what the intention is in year 5, and there is another business plan behind it that we're really not aware of.


So, yes, I think there is some suspicion on the part of some members of our industry that there may be more afoot than what is currently on the table.  I think the experience of the industry gives them good reason to be suspicious in that way. 


If you look at the history of the utilities' involvement in the industry, it started off in a very modest way, but eventually grew to a pretty substantial business, without ever declaring that that is where the company was going.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, would this be a convenient time to take the afternoon break?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  I am just about finished.


MR. KAISER:  Do you want to finish first?  


MR. CASS:  I just wonder if we could get the undertaking number.


MR. BATTISTA:  Mr. Chair, the undertaking number.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I don't know whether we want to get an undertaking to -- well, it is really to help you, Mr. Shepherd.  I guess we can do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're happy to give an undertaking.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J12.3.  Mr. Shepherd, could you summarize that for --


UNDERTAKING NO. J12.3:  PROVIDE AREAS OF IMPROVEMENTS 


WITNESS PANEL WOULD LIKE TO SEE TO ENERGYLINK PROGRAM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps Mr. Cass can summarize.


MR. CASS:  My request was for the panel to consider improvements that they would like to see to the EnergyLink program, and specifically my request was that they endeavour to start with the elements of the program that they would build on, and then describe the improvements.


I think that there was an addition to that undertaking from the Board Chair, asking the panel what sort of assurances they might want to see about the plans of Enbridge in the HVAC ‑‑ future plans in the HVAC business.


So I was just moving to my final area, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. CASS:  And I am hoping this will be quick.


I am just looking to get the reaction of the panel to some propositions, and I hope this won't be too contentious.


Can I take the example of a Bell Canada customer who, in their home, is looking to have some more phone jacks installed and they don't know who to call?  Would you agree with me that it is logical to think that that person might call Bell Canada first to find out what to do?


MR. LUYMES:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  Just to take a couple of other examples, take another fuel, propane.  A person has a propane fireplace in their home and they're having difficulty with it and they don't know who to call.  Would you agree it's logical to think that they might start with the propane supplier?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  One more example, then, not to beat a dead horse, but a person looking to put in a tankless propane heater at their cottage and they don't know who to call.  They would probably call the propane supplier, wouldn't they?


MR. LUYMES:  They probably would, yes.


MR. CASS:  Those are my questions.


MR. LUYMES:  Can we qualify those responses, though?  Could I just make one comment?


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.


MR. LUYMES:  At least a couple of those examples, those are not exclusive suppliers in the marketplace, so there may not be one propane supplier that they would be compelled to call.  There might be several that they might choose to call.


Of course, the issue isn't that they would call that company.  It is what the company does with that call that we would have a concern about.


MR. CASS:  Oh, I agree with that.  It was just a proposition to you about people's natural inclination to call who they know when they don't know who else to call, right, and you agree with that?


MR. LUYMES:  Sure, yes.


MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  We will take the afternoon break now.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:58 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 3:18 p.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


MR. MILLAR:  Now, Mr. Chair, I believe -- Mr. Cass is finished.  As far as I am aware there is only one party left that wishes to cross-examine this witness panel and that is Direct Energy.  First, is there anyone else who is cross-examining?  


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, I thought Direct Energy did cross-examine, but this panel earlier?  


MR. MILLAR:  No.  


MR. VLAHOS:  No. 


MR. MILLAR:  I might have slept through portions of the day, but I don't think I slept through whole segments. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks a lot.  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Vlahos, my recollection is before I started we had a discussion about who else would cross-examine.  I expressed my wish to go last.  


Mr. Matthews spoke up and said Direct Energy would have some questions but not on EnergyLink.  So on that basis, I said I would go ahead own EnergyLink and he's going to follow with questions not on EnergyLink.  I think on bill inserts. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Bill inserts of this panel?  


MR. CASS:  That is my belief. 


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, they are in the building.  They were here.  Perhaps Mr. Battista could go -- 


MR. KAISER:  We don't need them right now.  We will finish up -- 


MR. MILLAR:  I think they have questions of this panel, if I'm not mistaken. 


MR. KAISER:  But on bill inserts, that's round two, isn't it?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think for this panel is it "round now", because when Mr. Matthews is finished, this panel is done.  


MR. MILLAR:  We're recalling the Enbridge panel, you will recall, Mr. Chair, on bill inserts. 


MR. KAISER:  Of course.  Sorry.  So Mr. Battista -- they are here, so he has just gone to grab them and...


MR. KAISER:  We will go ahead while we're rounding up Mr. Matthews.  


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair -- sorry, go ahead.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. VLAHOS:  Panel, I have questions in two areas.  


Mr. Leis, I am going to ask you this question.  You were there at I guess Consumers Gas. 


MR. LEIS:  Yes, I was.  


MR. VLAHOS:  That's when the Authorized Dealer Network program was wound down.  


MR. LEIS:  Yes, I was. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Can you just remind me what the reason of that was?


MR. LEIS:  Why it was wound down?  


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes. 


MR. LEIS:  Well, I can tell you the end result.  Basically all of the business activity associated with the -– I guess it was around 1.2 million water-heater customers and 350,000 protection-plan customers was basically brought in-house to a network of owned dealers and franchise dealers.  


MR. VLAHOS:  It was brought in-house?  So before that, there was an Authorized Dealer Network and I guess your company or somebody would be associated with that program.  And then it was brought in-house.  Help me with that.  What do you mean, in-house?  


MR. LEIS:  Well, I think Ms. McKeraghan described it earlier.  Basically, certain companies were delisted and basically the, all of the activity associated with those programs, those ancillary programs were consolidated.  And the end result of that was, the Enbridge Home Services company, which was subsequently sold to Direct Energy.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So would the company actually hire its own staff?  Or is this what happened?  


MR. LEIS:  Yes, it did.  


MR. VLAHOS:  It hired its own employees. 


MR. LATREILLE:  Yes, it did. 


MR. VLAHOS:  You did not have those employees before?  


MR. LEIS:  I'm not sure of the net addition of employees or not.  I believe they did recruit technicians.  


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  But it continued to rely on the, I guess, on the industry or on sub-contractors or not at all?  


MR. LEIS:  It did.  However it was a very broad contractor network involving perhaps hundreds of contractors.  And it, basically they brought it down to a number of franchisees which I think were about ten, ten franchisees.  So certain dealers benefitted greatly, the ones that were selected to remain as part of the program, and the others were simply delisted. 


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  And this has -- this happened how long before the company had actually exited the merchandise and other ancillary activities?  How long?  


MR. LEIS:  Unbundling took place in September or October of 1999.  And then the company was sold to Centrica or Direct Energy now, I believe it was April of 2003.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So -- 


MR. LEIS:  Or was it April of 2001. 


MR. LUYMES:  I thought it was 2001. 


MR. LEIS:  So they consolidated operations then sold the company at a profit.  


MR. LUYMES:  We think.  


MR. LEIS:  We think, yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  You're not suggesting that this activity, consolidation, had the same in mind; are you suggesting that, sir?  


MR. LEIS:  They're aimed to bring the operations in-house. 


MR. VLAHOS:  And sell it?  


MR. LEIS:  I wasn't privy to the strategic discussions.  


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm just not sure what I am getting from your comments so I thought I would clarify.  Okay.  


Now, Mr. Luymes, if I could turn to you for a minute.  You were here when you heard a discussion about perhaps another home for this EnergyLink program and there was some discussion about, well, what would happen if it wasn't part of the utility.  Were you here for that, sir?  


MR. LUYMES:  I don't think I was, no.  


MR. VLAHOS:  You were not?  Okay.  


MR. LUYMES:  Was that during the Enbridge witness panel?  


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry?  


MR. LUYMES:  That came from the Enbridge witness panel?  


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, it was a discussion that I guess it was probably some of the questions perhaps from the Board itself.  


MR. LUYMES:  I don't recall it.  


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Okay.  Well, let me ask you this.  


There was some discussion earlier today about how the ratepayers are burdened with this cost and there was some suggestion the other day that, perhaps, why shouldn't there be a fee charged to the contractor, to the industry for services. 


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  


MR. VLAHOS:  And there was some discussion about perhaps this activity should not be part of the utility, but should there be such an activity it should be outside the utility and, therefore, leave the ratepayers out of it, okay.  


So I just want to follow that scenario with you for a minute and maybe I can get your thoughts on it.  


So your concern is, with the program itself, that and the offensive elements of it, that it takes you away from, it takes you out of the customer-contractor association; right?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes, that's a key problem, yes. 


MR. VLAHOS:  So if the program were done outside the utility and think of the wider Enbridge corporate family, okay, outside of the utility, so if it was done there, it doesn't take your concern away, does it?  


MR. LUYMES:  Not in terms of how the program would operate.  If the program was designed the same way, we would have the same concern.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So the same concern -- 


MR. LUYMES:  It would eliminate another concern we have which is the funding from ratepayers and the -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  Why is that a concern of yours?  


MR. LUYMES:  Well, because it is potentially a substantial amount of money and it is underwriting a program that has the impression, in the minds of consumers, of a form of regulated, kind of almost like a regulated service.  


So you know, if I can give you an anecdote to kind of illustrate the problem.  


I spoke with one contractor who came into our office who said -- we were just casually talking about the EnergyLink program.  He said, You know what, I really don't have that big a problem with it because, after all, Enbridge is a public company, and you know, they're accountable so they are going to look after my best interests.  His understanding of Enbridge in the marketplace was that they're a government body.  


I said, Well, you know, they're not a government body.  They're regulated by the Ontario Energy Board, but they're not a regulator.  So he already had the perception in this program that this is a public-interest program that really wouldn't hurt contractors.  


So this is a contractor who even had a perception that the utility is in some way a regulator.  So our concern is that there may create -- that the company, because of its high level of recognition and high level of trust among consumers, that it might kind of obliterate all other brands that might be created by individual contractors and have the connotation -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  So it would eliminate, reduce or mitigate or whatever that concern.  But the corporate, the head office can't set up a subsidiary to do exactly what the utility is doing, can’t it? 


MR. LUYMES:  They could do that, but they just couldn't, I assume, access ratepayer funds to do it. 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But they can do that. 


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. VLAHOS:  So now if you have a beef with that organization, where would you go to?  


MR. GROCHMAL:  I think -- 


MR. LUYMES:  If Enbridge Inc. were to develop, through a subsidiary, a similar program how would we -- 


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  You are here now, and we hear you. 


MR. LUYMES:  Well, I suppose we might have you know we might have to consider whether or not that would be something that the Competition Bureau would be interested in.  It would depend on how the program was set up and a number of variables.  I can't answer that for sure.


MR. GROCHMAL:  I just have one comment, Martin.  I think it would be the extent to which the Enbridge brand, being the swirl, and all of that would be linked, because if that is identical with that of Enbridge Gas Distribution, it leads to confusion.


If they could create a subsidiary that was identified separately and competing in the marketplace and did not have that visual branding link, then it might take on a whole different kind of a picture.


MR. LUYMES:  I would suggest, in addition to that, if that were the case, if Enbridge Inc. were to create a completely ‑‑ the same program, but under a different guise, that it didn't have the Enbridge name on it, we might consider it acceptable, given the other concerns about the mechanics of the program.  But I would suggest Enbridge probably wouldn't do it.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But if the name Enbridge still ‑‑ if that new company did bear the name Enbridge, then, in your view, do you have any recourse to this Board?


MR. LUYMES:  I think ‑‑ I think we probably would try to get the attention of this Board, yes, that maybe the use of the name and the transfer of the goodwill that is inherent in the Enbridge Gas Distribution name might be transferred to another entity.  That would be, I would think, something that we might want to consider through the Affiliate Relationships Code.


MR. VLAHOS:  I was going to ask you under what authority would you ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  I would assume the ARC would apply.


MR. VLAHOS:  You're thinking that the ARC would apply in this.  It would not be a rate-making thing.  It would be a compliance thing?  There is some echo here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Vlahos, I haven't had a chance to give my witnesses legal advice on this and I am not sure they have the legal knowledge of the ins and outs of the Board's rules.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  I will take that, Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you.


I'm not going to the legal part of it.  I am going more to the operational side as to some of the concerns that may or may not exist out there should there be a different model of operating this program.  


Okay, that is all I have.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Mr. Vlahos, I apologize for interrupting and I apologize to the panel for getting back late, but I didn't know if this was going to create an unfair advantage having the panel ask questions.  


Direct Energy did intend to ask some questions of this panel, so my apologies again.  Our counsel has had to leave.  He was called away on an emergency call to deal with a personal matter, so I would ‑‑ I would beg your forgiveness for being late and getting back.


I just wanted to know if you want Mr. Vlahos to continue his questioning, or should I go first?


MR. VLAHOS:  Actually, I was done, but I do reserve the right to ask more questions depending on what the answers are.


MR. MATTHEWS:  I hope my questions won't generate questions from you, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. KAISER:  We were just filling in.


MR. VLAHOS:  Filling time.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thanks.  Good afternoon, panel --


MR. WARREN:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair, just before Mr. Matthews begins, I wonder if I can get some direction from you and also, through you, from Mr. Cass.  I have been here today because I had initially questions on the bill insert matter, and when undertaking response, which is now Exhibit J10.9, was delivered this morning, I have some questions on that, which is an undertaking which deals with the EnergyLink matter.  


I am just wondering if -- it seems unlikely that we're going to get to bill inserts today.  If we do, my friend Mr. Buonaguro has a number of questions he can proceed with.  


I'm just wondering if, since Ms. Lakatos‑Hayward is going to have to be back next week, I presume, for the finish of bill inserts, if I could reserve my questions for her on this undertaking response until then?


I would be mixing the record on EnergyLink and bill inserts, but because -- if the answer to the question is, yes, I can do that, then I can leave.


MR. KAISER:  I don't see any problem with that, do you, Mr. Cass?  The record will not be any more mixed than it is now.  Does that help you?


MR. WARREN:  It does.  Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead, Mr. Matthews.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MATTHEWS:

MR. MATTHEWS:  Good afternoon, panel.  My time is Dave Matthews.  I will be asking you some questions with respect to billing inserts, and I will direct my questions to specific members of your witness panel as best I can.  


First of all, what I would like to start off with is some general questions with respect to the issue on how it was handled by your organization, and I would expect that these questions would be directed to Mr. Luymes.


Can you give us an indication of how many HRAI or HRAC or HVAC members are interested or plan to use the bill and plan to use ‑‑ that plan to use inserts in the envelope?


MR. LUYMES:  I can't give you a number on that.  We haven't polled our members on that question.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Do you know of any of your members that are currently using the envelope?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm having trouble hearing you.  I'm not sure if your mike is on.


MR. MATTHEWS:  I think it's on.  It's green.  We'll try this one over here.  How is that?  Is that better?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Do you have any knowledge of members using the envelope currently?


MR. LUYMES:  Using the envelope currently?


MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes, in the billing pilot.


MR. LUYMES:  Oh, well, I know of two members that have used it on a pilot basis this past fall -- three members, I think, maybe.  I think Aire One was the third.  Carrier did an insert in November.  Lennox did one in December.  


Maybe I got the months wrong.  I think Aire One did one in maybe ‑‑ sorry, it was September through December.


Anyway, three companies I could think of that used the service on a pilot basis.


MR. MATTHEWS:  You are aware that Union Energy, of course, has signed the partial settlement agreement on inserts?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So there is probably a good assumption that they intend to use the inserts, as well?


MR. LUYMES:  I would assume that, yes.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So I guess what I am having problems with is understanding the concern that HVAC has for the use of inserts.


MR. LUYMES:  I guess we have a concern with this program, again, about the mechanics of it, in that it appears that the final kind of proposition that was put forward by the company was one that continued to present a bias or a favourable position to the largest companies that cover the entire or a large part of the Enbridge franchise area.  


The bidding mechanism was one we felt that was quite readily available to those large companies and where they could compete without a whole lot of problem, if they had an interest in this, but small contractors couldn't do so.  


And although we recognize that there was, you know, the two opportunities per bill, per envelope, on a monthly basis, that there would be two that might be reserved for smaller contractors, we felt that was not sufficient considering the thousands of operators that operated in the Enbridge franchise area.  We felt it was really like a two‑tiered system, a two‑tiered offer.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So the partial proposal that was discussed as part of the ADR, was that presented to your members as a ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  It was presented to the HVAC Coalition board of directors.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And the board of directors consists of people on this panel?


MR. LUYMES:  It consists of two people on this panel.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  And they made a decision that that wasn't sufficient?


MR. LUYMES:  They made a decision that that was not something they could recommend to the members as being a fair solution for the vast majority of our members.


MR. MATTHEWS:  On the expectation that smaller contractors who wanted to bid in to use the insert capability would not be able to use it?


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And so your definition ‑‑ the issue before the Board is that the company was -- the applicant, Enbridge Gas Distribution, was to come forward with an application proposal, comprehensive proposal for open bill access that was appropriate and followed the direction from the Board in the previous rates case.


How is this ‑‑ so that meant that the envelope had to be open and non‑discriminatory.


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So how is the current envelope, which is already open to some of your members and being used by some of your members -- how is that not open now?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, it's open, but it is not non‑discriminatory.  We had no trouble settling ‑‑ well, maybe we had some initial trouble.  We eventually settled on the open billing services issue because, in the end, we felt that that was a solution that was available to any and all contractors.


We don't feel that the bill insert offer is something that's available to contractors widely in a non‑discriminatory way.  It really is a two‑tiered system where first call comes to the largest contractors, because it's just the mechanics of it.  The aggregating of the bid per bill multiplied by the number of bills means it's going to create a bias for the largest companies.


MR. MATTHEWS:  That's a presumption on your part, isn't it?


MR. LUYMES:  Pardon me?


MR. MATTHEWS:  That's a presumption on your part, the bias?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, I think it's pretty straightforward that a small contractor with -- serving only a fraction of the territory of Enbridge isn't in a position to bid the kind of dollars that a company like Direct Energy would do, to reach customers, 80 or 90 percent of whom aren't within their service area. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  So this it is not a viable channel for them, just like putting an ad in the Globe and Mail would not be a viable channel for them.  


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  It's not economic for them to do that.  But the bill is, the envelope is still open to parties that wanted to access that channel and pay to use it.  And there are ratepayer benefits associated with that sharing of that.  


MR. LUYMES:  I would suggest that a small company, even if they had an interest in bidding in that upper tier, if I can use that term of the initial sort of the bid offer, would never successfully win that bid.  They would never, I mean it would -- potentially might bankrupt small companies to try even to have access at that level.  So I would suggest that that really does eliminate them from consideration of that offer. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  Unless they bid an aggregate.  Unless they, HRAI, for instance -- 


MR. LUYMES:  Sure that's a possibility. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  -- said, Phone our number, and you can get a contractor anywhere in Ontario.  So they could, the small contractor -- 


MR. LUYMES:  There are ways to aggregate that would make it available, but again only through an indirect method.  Not in a direct offer.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Right, okay.  


So we have this process that should work.  I notice that on your website announcing to your members the settlement on the open bill, that you mentioned the consultative process.  And the fact that it wasn't able to address this concern that you have expressed just now.  


But there were discussions, and the only reason I am asking this, Mr. Shepherd, is that it's been referred to in the information that is publicly, otherwise I wouldn't talk about it because it is part of the ADR, but there was an offer to fix that bidding capability, we just didn't have enough time to get at it.  Were you aware of that?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I fail to see how it is appropriate to discuss what happened in an ADR process.  


MR. KAISER:  I think that is right, Mr. Matthews. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  Well, the only reason I am referring to it, Mr. Chair, is that it is in this document that I understand has been put on their website and talks about the consultative process and talks about issues like heavily favoured, larger players in the marketplace.  So there is concern the contractors who serve a market area smaller than one-half the size of a utility would be effectively priced out.  


So it refers to the -- this issue.  I'm just asking a question on that.  


Let me ask it a different way then. 


MR. KAISER:  You can ask it without referring to the settlement process.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Are there ways that this can be addressed, that this bidding problem could be addressed?  


MR. LUYMES:  I wouldn't rule it out, but I haven't seen an offer yet that has come from the utility that's been put on the table that would satisfy those concerns. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  Right.  That's why I assume your membership wasn't willing to sign on. 


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.  That is why in is an issue in the hearing. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  Right, okay.  So what we have in the settlement agreement, as I understand it, is a opportunity to fix things that are broken, and we would determine, if they are broken, by going forward with the billing inserts.  Then seeing if there are problems with respect to bidding, if there are problems with respect to customer confusion.  


So there is the ability to go forward with the insert and try it out, if there are problems that relate to your membership or to the consumers at large, that they could be addressed.  Are you familiar with that?  


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure what you're suggesting.  You're suggesting that this be, continue to be run on a pilot basis for some period of time and see how it goes? 


MR. MATTHEWS:  I wouldn't use the term “pilot”, but on a trial basis or on a going-concern basis. 


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure that we could accept that. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  And why is that, when some of your members want to use this and there are ratepayer benefits? 


MR. LUYMES:  Well, the operative it is some of our members, I guess.  If we felt it was available on a wide basis and it really was a matter of contractors could say yes or no, and they considered it a fair offer and it didn't have a damaging impact in the marketplace, then we might recommend it.  But I don't think that is what the proposal looks like today. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  That's fair enough.  Now, you had some discussion with Mr. Cass about the number of members that responded to your survey.  I think there was -- the numbers were 93 out of 300, something like a third.  Of the 93 that responded, did any of them have concerns about inserts?  


MR. LUYMES:  We didn't ask that question on that survey. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  You didn't ask that.  So you didn't ask the, in your original survey, anything about inserts?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  And so the decision on inserts came from your board then, I guess?  


MR. LUYMES:  That's right. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  And your board was the group that looked at the partial settlement?  


MR. LUYMES:  That's right.  I should add, we did some consultation with, through phone calls and meetings.  We had some meetings with members beyond the HVAC Coalition board and we did that, as you know, within a very compressed time frame.  During that, proposals were being tossed around, you know, several versions per day, we had very limited time frame.  So we did some checking with members on whether or not they considered this to be a fair proposal, and bear in mind -- I would suggest you should bear in mind the HVAC Coalition board, in making a decision like that, knows they have to answer to their wider membership.  So if they feel they're out of line with what the will of the membership is, then they will have to account for that. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  Fair enough.  Fair enough.  It is a difficult job, I'm sure.  


As you mentioned yesterday at page 115, you don't have to turn it up, you were talking about a diversity of opinions in the contracting community.  I would imagine you would have a diversity of opinion on inserts; some want to use and some don't want to use.  Is that a fair statement?  


MR. LUYMES:  I think that is fair to say, yes.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  Now, at page 188 you talk about the chair of the HVAC Coalition -- who is that?  


MR. LUYMES:  Rob Jutras. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  What is his position in the contractor world?  Is he the VP marketing for Union Energy? 


MR. LUYMES:  I believe that is right, yes.  That's his title. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  He has a fair degree of involvement and very actively involved in your board and in your organization. 


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Yet his company has signed on to the partial agreement. 


MR. LUYMES:  Right. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  How do you explain that?  


MR. LUYMES:  Well, as a participant on the board of directors of the HVAC Coalition, he has one vote.  And he can't obviously dictate the votes of the other members of the Board.  


I guess the decision of Union Energy to sign on to that was, it came from an evaluation on the part of that company that the service suited their purposes satisfactorily.  


I think Rob would accept, Mr. Jutras would accept that the -- for the rest of the industry perhaps this is not necessarily a desirable outcome.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  Now, you mentioned earlier initiating discussions with Direct Energy about ownership 

-- sorry, membership in your association.  


Is that contingent on inserts?  


MR. LUYMES:  I can't speak for the board of directors of the HRAC.  They haven't met recently to discuss this matter.  


I wanted to, you know, we'll have some discussions with Direct Energy about what the possibilities are and just kind of make the offer and have some preliminary discussions.  A decision about accepting them into membership will be the HRAC board of directors.  So I can't tell you now that they will have considered this matter to have been cleared up completely.  You know, there are issues that linger from our board's standpoint in Alberta that they may have some concerns about.  


But you know, I think what I've heard so far from the HRAC board is that they seem to think, based on the settlement around billing, that the big concern they had with Direct Energy in Ontario at least has been resolved.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  So again, from your statement on your web page, they consider the bill to be open?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  Based on the settlement agreement, yes.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  But the envelope is not?  


MR. LUYMES:  Correct.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Okay.  So there may be a problem there?  


MR. LUYMES:  There may be a problem there, yes.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  All right.  I think I have a few questions for Mr. Leis.  


In your evidence, you referred to -- I think in your evidence yesterday you referred to being a major competitor of Direct Energy.  


MR. LEIS:  Yes.  In the water heater market, that's true.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  And also in your evidence, you indicated that you were willing to give up the use of inserts even though that would benefit your company for the good of the industry?  


MR. LEIS:  Yes.  That's true.  That's in the evidence.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  And what would you say would be the -- more harm would reside in the extinguishing of inserts?  Would that be a bigger impact on Direct Energy or on Ozz Corporation?  


MR. LEIS:  Well, I would like to bring the consumer into this as well, but I think from Direct Energy's perspective, it basically cuts a tether between Direct Energy and the utility and sorts of clarifies Direct Energy as a separate company from Enbridge.


From an Ozz perspective, we have done fine without it and I don't really plan on using it.  And also from a consumer's perspective, I also like to think that the bill has a lot of clutter.  There's a lot of inserts, and often the utility needs to put out a safety message and when that safety message is buried within a series of bills offering furnaces, protection plans, I think plumbing occasionally, even, that message might be lost.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Well, that is very helpful and you are reiterating the position of the HVAC group, but the question I asked you was:  Which company would have more harm in losing inserts, Direct Energy or Ozz Corporation?


MR. LEIS:  In losing inserts?  I think I answered that.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Well, let's put it this way --


MR. LUYMES:  Ozz isn't currently using inserts.


MR. LATREILLE:  We're not using inserts.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Right.  You indicated you would not use them, so isn't the answer to my question that Direct Energy would be harmed a lot more than Ozz energy?


MR. LEIS:  If the association between Direct Energy and Enbridge is that important to Direct, yes, it would be.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So the ability to inform the customers about rate changes and about product contract changes, that would harm Direct Energy?


MR. LEIS:  Sorry, you're using the bill to inform them of rate changes?


MR. MATTHEWS:  If Direct Energy did not have access to the envelope and could not advise its customers of rate changes and service contract notifications, can that harm Direct Energy?


MR. LEIS:  Well, I don't see how it would, because you can use the mail like every other company.


MR. MATTHEWS:  But wouldn't that be a lot more cost‑effective to use the envelope?


MR. LEIS:  Well, given the amount of clutter in there, wouldn't your message be clearer if it was in its own separate envelope, if the message is important?


MR. MATTHEWS:  Well, it might be, but it is easier for us to use that envelope, is it not?


MR. LEIS:  If it is for your operations, yes, I suppose so.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So you used to work for Direct Energy, did you not?


MR. LEIS:  Yes, I did.


MR. MATTHEWS:  You're familiar with that program, the rentals program?


MR. LEIS:  Yes.  I used to run the program.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes.  When you were in that capacity, did you not use inserts?


MR. LEIS:  Yes, we did.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And did they not benefit you as a very good channel of keeping in touch with your customers?


MR. LEIS:  Yes, they did.  In fact, at one point we did a rate increase which amounted to about 45 percent, and my opinion is that the clutter of the envelope made sure that that message in fact didn't get through to the customer.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And what do you base that on?


MR. LEIS:  Because the customer feedback was very low.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So you have no intention of using the envelope at all?


MR. LEIS:  No intention.


MR. MATTHEWS:  What is HVAC's position on ‑‑ I mean, you're making a submission, I assume, to this Board that inserts should not be allowed.


If that was to occur, that would leave the industry in the position that it would not be able to use the envelope, while EnergyLink and other utility services could use the envelope.  Has HVAC thought about that?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure.  Has that been determined that that would be the case, that EnergyLink would have access and no other ‑‑


MR. MATTHEWS:  What we are talking about here, I believe, is marketing and third-party access to that envelope, not utility access to that envelope.


MR. LUYMES:  You're right.  It could be a problem.  It has been expressed that if EnergyLink goes through, there may be -- by ruling out bill inserts for small contractors, we may limit their opportunity to compete or brand themselves in distinction from EnergyLink.  But I think we have already heard that the utility would have some issue if a company, such as any one of the companies at the table here, were to develop some inserts that said, Choose my company because I'm better than EnergyLink.  


I think the utility probably wouldn't allow that insert in the first place.  So I'm not sure that that offer would really go very far towards, you know, helping the contractors who aren't part of EnergyLink.


I guess our view is, you know, the principle of bill inserts isn't something the Coalition is necessarily opposed to; otherwise, we wouldn't have spent all of that time in the consultative process.


I think what we're saying is that the final proposal that was put forward by the utility is not one that we considered to have satisfied the direction provided by the Board in its last decision.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So is it fair to say, then, that the main concern here is not with EnergyLink inserts; it is with the bidding process?  Is that the main concern? 


MR. LUYMES:  In terms of the bill insert proposal, yes.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And if that bidding process could be fixed, you might have a different opinion of the ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  Well, like I said, we were at the table for a good many meetings - I was, anyway, and our counsel was - and I think we were committed at that time to continue to work towards a solution.


In our opinion, we didn't come up with one on that area that satisfied the needs of our members and the ‑‑ and I should say the majority of our members, nor the requirements of the Board's directive from the last hearing.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So rather than let the insert continue and provide ratepayer benefits and access to better information to the industry, and try to work out any problems with respect to the bidding, HVAC's position is that the inserts should stop immediately?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  I mean, it is important to note that -- I think Mr. Grochmal said it earlier in the context of financing, but we heard from a lot of our members over the last five or six years their great concern about the connection between Direct Energy and the utility.


And more often than not, their complaint was not about the charges that were on the bill, but about the marketing materials that were allowed to be in the envelope.  And their concern was that whether or not people took Direct Energy up on any of the offers that were made, whether it was HIP or whether it was, you know, financing -- sorry, you know, furnace program or whatever the case may be, was that those inserts reinforced the impression in the minds of consumers that there was some special connection between Direct Energy and the utility.


The inserts did that more effectively than the charges on the bill.  And so I think for some of our members - and we had to listen to some of these members - the only acceptable solution with respect to bill inserts was disallow them entirely, because no company should be given the opportunity ‑‑ particularly, you know ‑‑ well, the solution that was arrived at, in our view, creates the potential that still maybe it is not one company, maybe it is no longer Direct Energy, but we might have traded that off in favour of maybe it's a handful of companies that would be given, you know, by way of this bidding process, virtually exclusive access to the envelope.


MR. MATTHEWS:  So exclusive to at least ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  I don't mean exclusive in terms of, Can anyone bid in on it?  Yes, anyone can bid in on it.  But will they succeed in being awarded one of the hoppers that is available in any given month?  Not likely, unless they're a large company and can cover the entire service area, just based on the economics of the offer.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Sure.  That remains to be seen, because we haven't seen how that bidding process would work yet.  Couldn't someone like Carrier get in there and ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  They can and they have, yes.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And don't they reference other numbers and contacts?  Don't they generate leads for you when 

they ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  They generate leads for their dealers, yes.


MR. MATTHEWS:  And the dealers are your members?


MR. LUYMES:  Some of them are, yes.  Most of them are.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Mr. Leis's comments about the clutter in the envelope, that surely breaks the link with the utility.  I mean, it is not clear -- you would say that there's so many folks in ‑‑ Mr. Leis said there were so many folks in that envelope that you couldn't really align it with the utility any longer.


MR. LUYMES:  Potentially, yes.


MR. MATTHEWS:  That concern is maybe addressed.


I guess I'm having trouble understanding why we're going to eliminate this program which has potential to provide ratepayer benefit and has potential to benefit your members, at least some of your members, on the presumption that the bidding won't be fair and the smaller ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  We're not making a presumption.  We're doing an evaluation of the proposal that was brought forward.


I mean, that's the best we can do.  We don't know exactly how it will pan out, but the mechanics that have been described to us of the bidding process and the availability of a certain number of offers basically to the large contractors or the large companies that can service the entire franchise area, and reserving a couple of them to make them available to the thousands of other contractors, in our view doesn't satisfy the test.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Right.  That presumption is based on the fact that the envelope would be full and there wouldn't be room for the smaller contractors to get in; is that correct?


MR. LUYMES:  I'm not sure what you mean.


MR. MATTHEWS:  Well, there were seven hoppers or seven inserts available, and two were being set aside for the smaller contractors to bid on, and that left five.  Now, if those five didn't fill up with large users or users that could provide insert coverage across the province, then there would be room, additional room, for ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  I guess you're right.  I'm presuming Direct Energy has an interest on being in the inserts, and I'm presuming that Union Energy has an interest.  They have expressed that, as you have indicated.  So there is at least two, if not four, hoppers claimed.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Right.  But not every month. 


MR. LUYMES:  Perhaps not. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  If Mr. Leis is correct, maybe not at all. 


MR. LUYMES:  If Mr. Leis is correct?  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Well, his company doesn't intend to use it. 


MR. LUYMES:  That is one but you already indicated that you thought Union Energy would be interested and you have more or less suggested that Direct Energy is interested. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes.  But not five slots every month.  That may not happen is my point. 


MR. LUYMES:  That's true.  But I would suggest that probably, based on the coverage of the territory, the months that every contractor would like to have, the key months when it is really important to market that target audience to attract new customers would probably be claimed by the largest companies who have a similar interest. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  You would get higher bids on those months where you had -- 


MR. LUYMES:  Right. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  -- everyone wanting to be on the envelope. 


MR. LUYMES:  Yes. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  That would provide additional ratepayer benefit when that occurred?  


MR. LUYMES:  I think that is a matter that has to be reviewed.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes, okay.  That's fair enough.  


The one part of the proposal that -- I referred to it as the dispute resolution term, indicated that if there were problems that were identified within – well, three consecutive months presented problems where small contractors weren't getting into the bill, that that could be revisited.  And if that issue could not be resolved, that the inserts could be removed or the bidding would stop on that basis.  


Are you aware of that part of the proposal?  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  And that wouldn't address your concerns, then, not sufficiently?  


MR. LUYMES:  Not sufficiently, no.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Are there other ways of addressing, that dispute resolution process be amended to shorten the time frame or...


MR. LUYMES:  I guess I am not enough of an expert in how these arrangements can be devised.  We submitted ourselves to that process and I think we made a pretty good effort to come up collectively with some ideas, and as I said, what we -- what's been agreed upon to date or agreed upon by other parties is not, to our view, satisfactory.  


So, I can't come up with a solution now, Mr. Matthews, to fix that problem.  


All I can see right now, and in the view of our board, is that there is a problem in trying to serve the needs of the majority of contractors out there who may feel shut out of this process.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  Right.  I think it sounds to me that is the main contention -- 


MR. LUYMES:  It is. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  -- is that everyone should have equal access and because it's cemented and there is competitive bidding, it can't work.  Is that what I'm hearing?  


MR. LUYMES:  Well, that may be the conclusion in the end, yes.  


MR. MATTHEWS:  I think those are all of my questions, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Matthews. 


MR. MATTHEWS:  Thank you, panel.  


FURTHER QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Leis, a couple of days ago you said that Ozz had joined the EnergyLink program under duress.  What was the duress?  


MR. LEIS:  Well, the duress is that as was mentioned Direct Energy is our major competitor.  In the rental water-heater market in Ontario, you basically have three big players:  Union, Direct and ourselves.  We're a small bit player relative to them.  Once I heard they had joined, I felt compelled to join myself.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Luymes, as I look at this issue, there seem to be three aspects of the program.  First, there is referrals.  


MR. LUYMES:  You're talking about EnergyLink?  


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  Secondly, there is the certification or approval process?  And thirdly, there is the financing.  


With respect to the referral aspect, if I look at your survey, 79 percent of your members said that's great.  I take it that you really don't have any objection to getting these referrals?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  As I indicated earlier, the -- you know, we have -- there was no surprise that contractors would say, you know, Are we interested in free leads?  It's one of those things you call a no-brainer.  It is free leads.  


So our contractors are definitely interested in receiving free leads from the utility.  Our concern is about the mechanics of how those leads are dispensed.



MR. KAISER:  Well, let me see if I can break it down.  Then we have the certification and there seems to be some concern there.  


If this program was just the referrals and Enbridge said, you know, it's a waste just to waste these referrals, they're falling on the floor.   We're telling the Yellow Pages we're not doing anything with them.  We're going to create this software system which, by the way, they have already gone out and spent $3 million on anyway, but we don't need to get into the certification business.  I take it in that event you would have little objection with 

the -- 


MR. LUYMES:  No.  That is not the issue.  It's not the fact they would choose to check the contractors' credentials at the door.  Of course we wouldn't support -- we would probably criticize the program if they didn't do that.  


The issue isn't that they are checking contractors' credentials.  It is that there is a connotation in the marketplace now that Enbridge, because of the name, the trust in the name and the reliability and all of the rest, and access to millions and millions of ratepayer dollars, that they will become de facto the perceived regulator in the marketplace.    


MR. KAISER:  Let's stay with that.  Let's suppose, even though -- let's suppose for a moment that this continues to get funded by ratepayers which in itself is an issue, but they refer this all to the EnergyLink system and there is no Enbridge logo with the Enbridge orange and Enbridge yellow and all of that stuff.  It just gets known as the EnergyLink referral system, or contracting system.  Does the problem go away?  


MR. LUYMES:  That goes a long way to addressing the problem.  In fact, that's along the lines of some of the discussion that we had with the utility personnel going back eight or nine months ago or whatever it was when we first sat down, we said:  Maybe there is a way to work out something that can kind of distances it from the utility.  Even talked about how it might be married up to the Marketplace Distinction Program, which already serves a lot of the purpose that we're getting at here.  


So, yes, we had some discussions about how a model more like that might actually work.  


MR. KAISER:  Because one thought that would come to somebody's mind is that your objection, because you're a trade association and you have on the panel directors from your trade association, is that your objection is that these guys are sort of stomping on your turf.  You've already set up a system and it does essentially what they're proposing to do.  


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  


MR. KAISER:  And one might question either from your side or even the regulator's side, do we need two?  Do we need a second one funded by the ratepayer?  


MR. LUYMES:  Right.  


MR. KAISER:  As and I understand.  Your objection -- is your objection that these guys get to do it without charging a fee and you have to charge a fee to survive?  And unfair competition and the certification business?  


MR. LUYMES:  No.  I think we need to be very clear, and I said this right off the bat when we sat down with Enbridge, that it may appear and we have to be careful, of course, that we're not just offending a program that already exists although we can make the point -- and we did make the point that we thought EnergyLink was redundant, that there is a service that is adequately and perhaps, if we had sufficient funding, if we could have even utility assistance in bolstering that program financially, we could probably do some of the -- achieve some of the same kind of results they're looking to achieve driven by billboards and, you know, magazine ads and radio ads and so on, we might be able to derive huge volumes of business through the marketplace distinction program.  


But that wasn't our point.  That wouldn't our reason for objecting to it.  We thought that the program, as designed by Enbridge, was inappropriate.  Because it's a utility program.  And because the other reasons that we mentioned.  The interference with the customer-contractor relationship, the intrusion, if I could call it that, between the customer and the contractor, and the building on that huge credibility, I guess, that resides in the Enbridge name.  


MR. KAISER:  I understand your concern about the name.  But you keep referring about this intrusion in the customer relationship.  How is that any different than what you're doing? 


MR. LUYMES:  Once a homeowner visits our site and they select, they can select anyone from one to five to 20 contractors, it's entirely at their discretion, the act of calling.  Following through with the contractor is entirely their decision.  We don't track.  We don't expect them.  We don't pull them through the system.  We just say, we just assume – well, we don't assume anything.  They either act on the offer or they don't.  


What we suggest to our member contractors is, if they have a good website and they can draw and make it clear what the benefits are of dealing with their company, all the better.  They're going to more likely get more business coming their way.  So really we put the onus on the contractor to distinguish themselves from the rest of our members.  The Enbridge system, the EnergyLink system, provides three names and obliges those contractors to follow up within 24 hours with that contractor – sorry, with that homeowner, customer.  Then it holds them accountable to the utility for the -- for what happened with that lead.  We feel that that is a step that is completely unnecessary.  We don't think the marketplace needs intervention like that by the utility.  It holds -- it makes the contractor then accountable to the third party, the utility, as opposed to accountable to their customer.


MR. KAISER:  Well, but, you know, you both exercise some disciplinary role on your contractors.


MR. LUYMES:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  Yours might be a little looser than that proposed by Enbridge.  You have a code of ethics.  They have a code of ethics.  We don't know how theirs is going to apply.  We don't know how yours is applied.  You have standards.  They have standards, more or less the same. 


The only difference is they monitor whether the contractors that the customer selects ‑‑ in both cases, the customer selects the contractor; right?  It goes to your website.  It goes to their website.  Up pops three on his.  Up pops ten on yours.  I pick one in each case.  


The only difference is they follow up to make sure ‑‑ and I did this the other day, and the guy did call, by the way.


[Laughter]


MR. KAISER:  I don't know whether they monitored it, but ‑‑ and I can't remember his name, but he did phone.  So they take an extra step to make sure that there is a 

more -- an acceptable level of customer service.  So it is a little tighter regulation, if you will.  But they're not interfering in the customer relationship any more than you are, are they, or am I missing something?


MR. LUYMES:  I think they are, yes.


MR. KAISER:  In the sense that they're more tightly following up to make sure that the contractor responded?


MR. LUYMES:  Let's just say there are terms in the contract that the contractor participant in EnergyLink has to live up to that include reporting on the kind of ‑‑ what equipment was installed.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, is there?  Is that your concern?


MR. LUYMES:  That's our concern, yes.  They talk about, you know, performance ‑- I don't have the contract in front of me.


MR. LATREILLE:  I have it here, Mr. Chair.  There is two parts to it, and it is L26‑4, attachment 2.  It's the HVAC referral program, item B, which is page 7 of 7:

"Provide information to Enbridge on natural-gas equipment and DSM measures installed, including all natural gas upsell opportunities closed and providing such other information as requested by EnergyLink referral system."


So that could be virtually any information that they need, they have the right to request it:

"Participant acknowledges that Enbridge will be using the information entered into the EnergyLink referral system to track and report on EnergyLink program participant performance ..."


And what does "performance" mean?  That is another level of regulation:

"... including close ratios, upsell opportunities, customer satisfaction levels, dispute resolutions."


In addition to that, if I go down to item 8, Mr. Chair.  The dispute resolution says the participant, even in the process of the dispute resolution, the contractor still says, I did everything I could to resolve this issue.  I was out there five times and adjusted and the customer cannot be satisfied.  


Enbridge in their sole discretion agrees that any such determination by Enbridge will be final and binding upon the participant.


So even if I am right and Enbridge says, Holmes Heating, go out and fix it, I have absolutely no choice but to do it or I would be terminated from the contract.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  But just on the customer information, I didn't understand this until now and I appreciate that answer.  One difference between their program and your program is that under their program, they require a great deal of information about your customer, the contractor's customer?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  His name, what he put in, the equipment that is there, the whole ten yards.  And I notice, and I think it was Mr. Grochmal and it's in your survey, you have this concern, this fear, that this information is being collected as part of another agenda, a stepping stone, as you say, as to what Enbridge will do next.


MR. LUYMES:  That sentiment was certainly expressed in the survey, yes.


MR. KAISER:  I saw that.  Is that a concern that they will just basically become a contractor as they were in the days of old?  What's the stepping stone?


MR. LUYMES:  Well, that is certainly something that I guess might be on some contractors' minds.  I mean, Mr. Leis ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  What might they be ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  They might develop a program through an affiliate, for example, who might offer -- you know, who might have an interest in selling HVAC products directly or indirectly, and, you know, at some point or another it might be of interest to the utility to feed some of that customer data over to their affiliate.


MR. LEIS:  For example, if five years from now you have a record of every five-year-old furnace, that's a very valuable list for maintenance plans.


MR. LATREILLE:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I appreciate that.  That is a very helpful answer.  I was trying to understand what the concern was.  Thank you, panel.  Mr. Shepherd, do you have any re‑examination?


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have a short re-direct, a couple of quick things.


You were asked some questions yesterday, witnesses, with respect to the ‑‑ to whether it was HVAC or HRAC that was opposing EnergyLink.


Who wrote the letters to the Ontario Energy Board expressing concern about EnergyLink?  Was it HVAC or HRAC?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  HRAC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You were asked about the response rate of 93 out of 269 to your survey.  How does that compare to your normal response rates for surveys of the industry?


MR. LUYMES:  We have -- I actually checked that this morning.  We do ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you confirm that I didn't tell you that I was going to ask you that?


MR. LUYMES:  No.  I can confirm that.  I was actually looking up the ‑‑ I have an answer to the question that was raised yesterday about what happened to section 1.  Section 1 is in fact the introductory section, and I will produce, to help complete the record, the copy of the survey as it is presented to the contractors filling in the survey.  Section 1 is the introduction, and so we will provide that entire survey.


But I was checking a number of other survey -- monkey surveys that we have done, and the typical response rate is in the order of 60 to 70 contractors.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a question ‑‑


MR. LUYMES:  Sorry, to be clear, that would be across our entire membership.  I would suggest that our normal response rate is in the order of 10 to 15 percent of the entire membership.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a question for the contractors on the panel.


You have had some discussions during cross‑examination about licences, and I think the Board asked some questions as well.  What licences do your staff have?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  They ‑‑


MR. GROCHMAL:  Go ahead.


MS. McKERAGHAN:  They have gas tickets, in our case G2 and G1.  We have an electrician who has a C of Q.  We have refrigeration mechanics with a C of Q.  We have sheet metal mechanics with C of Qs, certificates of qualification, earned through apprenticeships.  


MR. GROCHMAL:  In addition to that, you have, through the minister of environment, the ODP certificates for handling refrigerants, and also through HRAI there are certificates for ventilation installation and design capability.  So those things also exist.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have anything to add to that, Mr. Latreille?


MR. LATREILLE:  I think the certification courses through SkillTech.  SkillTech is a group that is affiliated with the HRAI.  It is one of its operating divisions, if you like - it could be considered that - with an international reputation, which provides quality training courses, and many of the municipalities require -- for instance, in the case of a heat-recovery ventilator, most municipalities will require a ventilation design summary report to be done, and it has to be signed off by an accredited HRAI certified designer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the reason I ask that question is, of those various qualifications you are talking about for the three of you, which of those are required by the EnergyLink program?


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I don't know whether, per se, any of them are, per se -- from what I gather - and I obviously haven't applied to the EnergyLink program - is that they require a contractor licence from TSSA.  That's not a technician licence.


MR. LUYMES:  There is a distinction between registration with TSSA as a company versus licensing or certification as a technician.  We ask for both.  We ask for the certification for the company, and also proof that their employees are appropriately certified both as gas technicians, if that's what they do, as indicated earlier, or the various trade licences, depending on the province and the type of work involved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Cass asked you earlier today if customers might reasonably call Bell Canada if they wanted jacks installed in their house.  You said yes.


Let me ask the follow-on question.  Would you also agree that Bell should advertise, Call Bell Canada if you want jacks installed in your house?


MR. LUYMES:  No.  I wouldn't agree to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, last, you were just asked some questions by the Chair about the program and how it relates to MDP and whether they were competitive.


I will just ask you this question.  Would your members approve a program if HRAC put forward a program in which you spent a lot of money to advertise the MDP brand in the marketplace?  


MR. LUYMES:  We -- I think the answer is probably "no".  To date, we take the guidance from our board, as I said, at some point, I think yesterday, this is an evolving thing.  We regularly will get approval of a budget for our Marketplace Distinction Program.  And to date, our members have said, We're quite satisfied with the program as it stands.  


I was thinking about that in terms of you know what our company's willing to pay for leads.  The reason they're interested in EnergyLink is because it's free.  And it's being funded by somebody else.  If they had to pay for it themselves, they might look at it differently.  In the case of the MDP, yes, they would have to pay for it all themselves, it is an industry-funded program except for that part of the program that is supported by utilities and I guess by manufacturers, to some degree.  


So I can't answer Mr. Shepherd, whether or not our members, if we offered a kind of a parallel program, if we said, There is a $5 million budget attached to this and you have to pay for it, I can tell you now the answer would be "no."  


MR. SHEPHERD:  What if somebody else paid for it?  Would they approve it?


MR. LUYMES:  Yes.  Maybe.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  If I -- can I just ask you to go back and reword your question or to repeat your question.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Let's say Enbridge comes to you, says, Here is $5 million.  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  What's the -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Go do a program basically like EnergyLink but not connected with the utility, and advertise the MDP brand out in the marketplace as the place to call for a contractor.  Would your members say, Yes, go ahead and do it?  


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I would say no, because the purpose of EnergyLink is to fill the pipe.  


MR. LUYMES:  You're saying Enbridge wouldn't do it. 


MS. McKERAGHAN:  I'm saying Enbridge wouldn't do it, but I'm saying if the purpose of EnergyLink is to sell gas, referring -- you know, referring to a contractor, is it necessarily going to fill the pipe, in my mind.  


If you are just going to tell people that there are contractors without telling them why they're going to want a contractor, then it seems to me as if it isn't good use of money.  Does that make any sense?  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you, panel.  


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, when are we back?  


MR. MILLAR:  We are back next Thursday, which I think is March 1st, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  


MR. MILLAR:  I think we might as well discuss it now.  I think the -- do we have a date certain then?  Or will we have the bill inserts panel from Enbridge?  I assume it is the Enbridge bill insert panel.  


MR. CASS:  Mr. Millar, we do have to get pack to the bill inserts panel.  I think we have indicated for both Union Energy and Direct Energy, that they can count on going a head on March 1st.  


MR. MILLAR:  Yes you're absolutely right, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Battista will send out his usual e-mail.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We are adjourned until March 1st, 9:30.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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